
 
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE  Contact: Sandra Bertschin 

Committee Secretary 
Monday, 7 November 2011 at 6.00 pm  Direct: 020-8379-4091 

 Tel: 020-8379-1000 
 Ext: 4091 
 Fax: 020-8379-3177 
 Textphone: 020 8379 4419 
 E-mail: sandra.bertschin@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Silver Street, 
Enfield, Middlesex, EN1 3XA 

 Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

 
 
Councillors: Derek Levy (Chairman), Alan Barker, Chris Bond, Yusuf Cicek, 
Andreas Constantinides, Chris Deacon, Don Delman, Elaine Hayward, Anne-
Marie Pearce, Michael Rye OBE, George Savva MBE, Toby Simon, Glynis Vince, 
Christine Hamilton and Henry Lamprecht 
 
Also attending:  Dr Elliot Finer (independent member of the Standards Committee) 
 
 

AGENDA – PART 1 
 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
 Members of the Council are invited to identify any personal or prejudicial 

interests relevant to items on the agenda. Please refer to the guidance note 
attached to the agenda. 
 

3. DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN THE LICENSING REGIME  (Pages 3 - 144) 
 
 To consider developments in relation to: 

 
1. Regulated Entertainment. 
 
2. Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
 
3. Licensing Consultation 2011 
 

4. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 If necessary, to consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the 

Local Government Act 1972 excluding the press and public from the meeting 
for any items of business moved to part 2 of the agenda on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in those 
paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006).  

 

Public Document Pack



 
 



 
 
 
Note: If in any doubt about a potential interest, members are asked to seek advice from Democratic Services in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

YES 

NO 

NO 

YES 

NO 

DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART - QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 
 

What matters are being 
discussed at the meeting? 

Do any relate to my interests whether 
already registered or not? 

Is a particular matter close to me? 
Does it affect: 
� me or my partner; 
� my relatives or their partners; 
� my friends or close associates; 
� either me, my family or close associates: 

• job and business; 

• employers, firms you or they are a partner of and companies 
you or they are a Director of 

• or them to any position; 

• corporate bodies in which you or they have a shareholding of 
more than £25,000 (nominal value); 

� my entries in the register of interests 
more than it would affect the majority of people in the ward affected by the 
decision, or in the authority’s area or constituency? 

P
e

rs
o

n
a

l 
in

te
re

s
t 

You can participate 
in the meeting and 
vote 

Does the matter affect your financial position or the 
financial position of any person or body through 
whom you have a personal interest? 
Does the matter relate to an approval, consent, 
license, permission or registration that affects you or 
any person or body with which you have a personal 
interest? 
Would a member of the public (knowing the relevant 
facts) reasonably think that your personal interest 
was so significant that it would prejudice your 
judgement of public interest? 

P
re

ju
d

ic
ia

l 
in

te
re

s
t 

NO 

YES 

YES 

You may have a 
personal interest 

Do the public have speaking rights at the meeting?  
 

You should declare the interest and 
withdraw from the meeting by leaving 
the room.  You cannot speak or vote 
on the matter and must not seek to 
improperly influence the decision. 

You should declare the interest but can remain 
in the meeting to speak.  Once you have 
finished speaking (or the meeting decides you 
have finished - if earlier) you must withdraw from 
the meeting by leaving the room.   

YES 

You may have a 
prejudicial interest 

Declare your personal interest in the matter.  You can 
remain in meeting, speak and vote unless the interest is 
also prejudicial; or 
If your interest arises solely from your membership of, 
or position of control or management on any other 
public body or body to which you were nominated by 
the authority e.g. Governing Body, ALMO, you only 
need declare your personal interest if and when you 
speak on the matter, again providing it is not prejudicial. 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



MUNICIPAL YEAR 2011/2012 REPORT NO. 126 

MEETING TITLE AND DATE:  
Licensing Committee 
7 November 2011 

REPORT OF:
Director of Environment  

CONTACT OFFICER: 
Mark Galvayne 
Tel: ext. 4743 
mark.galvayne@enfield.gov.uk   

3. REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT 

3.1 Currently, the Licensing Act 2003 provides that the following types of 
regulated entertainment require a licence or authorisation under the Act : 

3.1.1 Plays. 
3.1.2 Films. 

Subject:  

Developments within the licensing regime 

Wards: All 

Agenda – Part:  1 Item: 3 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 Regulated Entertainment. 

1.2 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

1.3 Licensing Consultation 2011. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 To consider and make any suggestions as to the amendment of the Council’s 
response to the Government’s consultation in respect of Regulated 
Entertainment. 

2.2 To note the amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 contained within the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

2.3 To note the Council’s consultation in respect of 3 licensing proposals. 

Agenda Item 3Page 3



3.1.3 Indoor sports. 
3.1.4 Boxing/wrestling. 
3.1.5 Live music. 
3.1.6 Recorded music. 
3.1.7 Performance of dance. 
3.1.8 Facilities for making music. 
3.1.9 Facilities for dancing. 

3.2 Before the introduction of the Licensing Act 2003, each of the above types of 
entertainment was licensed under separate legislation. 

3.3 The Department of Culture, Media & Sport (‘DCMS’) proposed to deregulate 
each of the above types of entertainment, with the exception of 
boxing/wrestling, sexual entertainment and audiences of 5,000 and over. 

3.4 The DCMS’s proposals would, in effect, allow any promoter to provide any 
type of regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience 
(other than boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people) without 
ever requiring a licence. 

3.5 The Home Office has just legislated (under the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011, please see Section 4 below) to rebalance alcohol 
licensing to give more power to local communities, local authorities and the 
Police. 

3.6 We believe that the DCMS’s proposals, if enacted, will rebalance 
entertainment licensing in favour of promoters and to the detriment of local 
communities, local authorities and the Police and will cause a measurable 
reduction in the quality of life of local communities. 

3.7 The DCMS proposals are currently subject to public consultation, the closing 
date for responses is 3

rd
 December 2011. 

3.8 Attached as Annex 1 is the DCMS consultation proposal. 

3.9 Attached as Annex 2 is the DCMS impact assessment. 

3.10 Attached as Annex 3 is our draft response to the DCMS consultation. 

4. POLICE REFORM AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ACT 2011

4.1 On 15 September 2011 the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
(‘the Act’) received Royal Assent. 

4.2 The Act amends the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003. The Home Office 
confirms that these amendments are designed to rebalance alcohol licensing 
to give more power to local communities, local authorities and the Police. 

Page 4



4.3 None of the amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 have yet taken effect. It is 
expected that they will take effect between April and October 2012.  

4.4 The amendments are : 

4.4.1 To require licence applicants top consider their local area. The applicant 
would be required to demonstrate an awareness of the local environment and 
to contextualise the application. 

4.4.2 To make the licensing authority a responsible authority. The licensing 
enforcement team would be able to make representations as ‘the licensing 
authority’ rather than as ‘trading standards’. 

4.4.3 To make the local health body a responsible authority. The local health body 
will be able to make representations in addition to the Police and Fire Brigade.  

4.4.4 To reduce the burden of proof on the Licensing Sub-Committee. The Sub-
Committee will decide what is ‘appropriate’ for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives rather than what is ‘necessary’. 

4.4.5 To increase the weight that the Licensing Sub-Committee will give to Police 
evidence. The Sub-Committee will adopt all Police recommendations unless 
there is evidence that the recommendations aren’t relevant. 

4.4.6 To increase the opportunities for local residents and businesses to oppose 
applications. The ‘in the vicinity’ test is removed so representations can be 
made by any person. 

4.4.7 To reduce the evidential hurdle for Cumulative Impact Policies. The Council, in 
deciding to adopt any such policies, may give weight to the view of local 
people rather than solely rely on empirical evidence. 

4.4.8 To give more autonomy regarding closing times. The Council may decide to 
introduce staggered closing times, zoning and fixed closing times. 

4.4.9 To introduce early morning restriction orders. The Council may decide to 
introduce orders preventing the sale of alcohol between midnight and 6am in 
any area of the borough. 

4.4.10 To allow licence fees to be set locally. The licence fees were set by the DCMS 
in 2005 and have not increased since then. The Council may set fees (subject 
to a national cap) to ensure cost recovery. 

4.4.11 To introduce a late night levy. The Council may charge late-night licensed 
businesses for the extra enforcement costs that such business generate. 

4.4.12 To double the maximum fine for under-age alcohol sales, from £10,000 to 
£20,000. 

4.4.13 To enable the Council to suspend licences due to the non-payment of fees. 

Page 5



4.4.14 To amend the Temporary Event Notice regime. 

4.5 Attached as Annex 4 are Home Office fact Sheets addressing each of the 14 
amendments above. 

5. LICENSING CONSULTATION 2011 

5.1 On 12 October 2011 we commenced a borough-wide public consultation in 
respect of 3 licensing proposals, as follows : 

5.1.1 Cumulative Impact Policy. We propose to introduce a Cumulative Impact 
Policy in the areas of Edmonton, Enfield Highway, Enfield Town and 
Southgate. In these areas, applications for new licences or for variations of 
existing licences, for alcohol and/or entertainment and/or hot food take-aways 
will be granted up to a closing time of 11pm. Licences for closing times after 
11pm will usually be refused. Existing licences will not be affected by this 
policy. 

5.1.2 Attached as Annex 5 is the proposal in detail. 

5.1.3 Sexual Entertainment Venues. We propose to refuse to adopt legislation in 
respect of Sexual Entertainment Venues. By not adopting this legislation we 
will prevent businesses from being granted an automatic right to provide ‘live 
displays or performances involving nudity’ on up to 11 separate occasions a 
year without a licence. 

5.1.4 Attached as Annex 6 is the proposal in detail. 

5.1.5 Olympics & Paralympics. We propose to introduce a policy to cover licensable 
events that may take place during the Olympic and Paralympic Games 
between June and September 2012. 

5.1.6 Attached as Annex 7 is the proposal in detail. 

5.2 The results of the public consultation will be reported to the Licensing 
Committee after the closing date for responses of 13 January 2012. 

6. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not applicable 

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Not applicable 

8. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE 
RESOURCES AND OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

Page 6



8.1 Financial Implications 

Not applicable 

8.2 Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

8.3 Property Implications  

 Not applicable 

9. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Not applicable 

10. PUTTING ENFIELD FIRST 

Not applicable 

Background Papers 

Not applicable 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Regulated Entertainment   

A Consultation proposal to examine the deregulation of 
Schedule One of the Licensing Act 2003   

September 2011   

Page 9



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

Our aim is to improve the quality of life for all      
through cultural and sporting activities, support the 
pursuit of excellence, and champion the tourism, 
creative and leisure industries.

Page 10



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

3

Contents

Foreword .............................................................................................................4

Chapter 1:  Regulated Entertainment - a proposal to deregulate..........................5

Chapter 2:  The Current situation, and our detailed proposal ...............................7

Chapter 3: The role of licensing controls ............................................................13

Chapter 4:  Performance of Live Music ..............................................................20

Chapter 5: Performance of plays........................................................................22

Chapter 6: Performance of dance ......................................................................24

Chapter 7: Exhibition of film ...............................................................................25

Chapter 8: Indoor sport ......................................................................................27

Chapter 9:  Boxing and Wrestling.......................................................................29

Chapter 10: Recorded Music and Entertainment Facilities .................................30

Chapter 11: Clearing up unintended consequences: clear laws and clear 
guidance............................................................................................................32

Annex A: Summary list of questions...................................................................34

Annex B: How to Respond.................................................................................39

Annex C: List of Consultees...............................................................................40

Page 11



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

4

Foreword

At the moment, the law and regulations which require some (but not all) types of 
entertainment to be licensed are a mess. For example, you will need a licence if you want to 
put on an opera but not if you want to organise a stock car race. A folk duo performing in the 
corner of a village pub needs permission, but the big screen broadcast of an England football 
match to a packed barn-like city centre pub does not. An athletics meeting needs licensing if 
it is an indoor event, but not if it’s held outdoors. A free school concert to parents doesn’t 
need a licence, but would if there is a small charge to raise money for PTA funds or if there 
are members of the wider public present. A travelling circus generally needs a permit 
whereas a travelling funfair does not. A carol concert in a Church doesn’t need a licence, but 
does if it is moved to the Church Hall. There are many other examples where types of 
entertainment are treated differently for no good reason – the distinctions are inconsistent, 
illogical and capricious. 

But they cause other problems too. Whenever we force local community groups to obtain a 
licence to put on entertainment such as a fundraising disco, an amateur play or a film night, 
the bureaucratic burden soaks up their energy and time and the application fees cost them 
money too. Effectively we’re imposing a deadweight cost which holds back the work of the 
voluntary and community sector, and hobbles the big society as well. 

Equally importantly, the various musicians’ and other performers’ unions are extremely 
concerned that all these obstacles reduce the scope for new talent to get started, because 
small-scale venues find it harder to stay open with all the extra red tape.   There is also 
evidence that pubs which diversified their offer to include activities other than drinking were 
better able to survive the recession.  Making it easier for them to put on entertainment may 
therefore provide an important source of new income to struggling businesses such as pubs, 
restaurants and hotels. 

Last but not least, laws which require Government approval for such a large range of public 
events put a small but significant dent in our community creativity and expression. If there’s 
no good reason for preventing them, our presumption should be that they should be allowed. 

So this is a golden opportunity to deregulate, reduce bureaucratic burdens, cut costs, give 
the big society a boost and give free speech a helping hand as well. Our proposals are, 
simply, to remove the need for a licence from as many types of entertainment as possible. I 
urge you to participate in this consultation so that we can restore the balance.

John Penrose
Minister for Tourism and Heritage

Page 12



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

5

Chapter 1:  Regulated Entertainment - a proposal to 
deregulate 

Introduction

1.1. The consultation seeks views on a proposal to remove licensing requirements in 
England and Wales for most activities currently defined as “regulated entertainment” in 
Schedule One to the Licensing Act 2003. 

1.2. The Licensing Act 2003 brought together nine separate licensing related regimes 
covering alcohol supply and sale, late night refreshment, and “regulated entertainment”.  
In doing so the Act modernised many out-dated laws that had been left behind by 
changes in technology and modern lifestyle.

1.3. The Licensing Act 2003 changed the way that licensing procedures worked.  Having a 
single licence for permissions for multiple licensable activities was undoubtedly a great 
step forward for many, who had previously needed to make separate costly and time 
consuming licence applications.  In this respect, the 2003 Act has been a success.  In 
other respects, it has been less successful. The Government is currently legislating via 
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill to rebalance alcohol licensing in favour
of local communities, for example.

1.4. In addition, despite a radical approach to alcohol licensing, the 2003 Act failed to match 
its ambition.  The regime for “regulated entertainment” missed a real opportunity to 
enable entertainment activities and either simply aped old licensing regimes or instead 
took a new, overcautious line.  This was particularly apparent with the removal of the 
“two in a bar” rule, which allowed previously two musicians to perform in a pub without 
needing to obtain a specific entertainment licence.  But instead of modernising an old 
law that had simply gone past its sell by date, the 2003 Act ended up potentially 
criminalising a harmless cultural pastime.

1.5. Indeed tidying up the administrative processes created new problems for many others.  
The Government has received countless representations about the difficulties that the 
2003 Act has brought to a wide range of cultural and voluntary sector and commercial 
organisations.  New licensing requirements, under the 2003 Act were, for many, a step 
backwards, bringing costly and bureaucratic processes for low risk, or no risk, events, 
including:

Private events where a charge is made to raise money for charity; 

School plays and productions; 

Punch and Judy performances; 

Travelling circuses; 

Page 13



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

6

Children’s films shown to toddler groups; 

Music performances to hospital patients; 

Brass bands playing in the local park; 

School discos where children are charged a ticket price to support the PTA;

Exhibitions of dancing by pupils at school fetes; 

Costumed storytellers; 

Folk duos in pubs; 

Pianists in restaurants; 

Magician’s shows; 

Performances by street artists; 

And even performances by a quayside barber shop quartet.

1.6. Before the General Election both Coalition parties recognised the need for reform, and 
in the Coalition Programme for Government we made a firm commitment to remove red 
tape affecting live music in small venues.  Then, as part of the Growth Review which 
was published alongside the Budget this year, we announced an examination of 
“regulated entertainment”, with the aim of removing licensing regulation that 
unnecessarily restricts creativity or participation in cultural and sporting events.  This 
consultation is the result of that work.

1.7. In the chapters to come we will explore each of the entertainment activities regulated 
by the Licensing Act 2003 and ask for views on the key question: “what would happen if 
this activity were no longer licensable?”

1.8. In many areas, early discussions with stakeholders have indicated that deregulation 
would be welcome and straightforward.  With other forms of licensable activity though, 
we recognise that there may be some inherent difficulties. In such circumstances, this 
consultation outlines where we feel particular protections will be needed, and indeed 
where full deregulation may not be possible at all.  

1.9. This consultation is predicated on the fact that we think there is ample scope to 
sensibly deregulate most, but not all, of Schedule One to the 2003 Act.  Removing the 
need for proactive licensing for regulated entertainment could provide a great boost for 
community organisations, charities, cultural and sporting organisations, for artists and 
performers, for entertainment venues, and for those local institutions that are at the 
heart of every community, such as parent/teacher organisations, schools and hospitals.

1.10. We do, though, need to request and examine evidence from this consultation in order 
to fully evaluate the proposals and to ensure we have a complete picture with regard to 
any potential benefits or impacts to ensure there are no unintended consequences.

Page 14



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

7

Chapter 2:  The Current situation, and our detailed 
proposal

The current situation - background

2. The Licensing Act 2003 classifies the following activities as “regulated entertainment”,
and therefore licensable:

2.1. In addition, there is a licence requirement relating to the provision for entertainment 
facilities (which generally means the provision of facilities which enable members of the 
public to make music or dance).

2.2. Licensable activities can only be carried out under the permission of a licence1 or a 
Temporary Event Notice (TEN) from a local licensing authority.  Licences (or TENs) are 
required for any of the activities above (subject to limited exemptions set out in part 2 of 
Schedule 1) whether they are free events to which the general public is admitted, or 
public or private events where a charge is made with the intention of making a profit -
even when raising money for charity. 

2.3. Applications for licences to host regulated entertainment can often occur as part of an 
application for an alcohol licence, particularly in venues such as pubs, clubs, and 
hotels, but there are also many venues that are primarily “entertainment venues” that 
operate a bar, such as theatres, which still require alcohol licence permissions to do so.

1
In this consultation “licence” refers to a Premises Licence or a Club Premises Certificate 

for ease of reading.

a performance of a play, 

an exhibition of a film, 

an indoor sporting event, 

a boxing or wrestling entertainment (both indoors and 

outdoors), 

a performance of live music, 

any playing of recorded music, and

a performance of dance 

Page 15



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

8

Licensing powers and national scale

2.4. The Licensing Act 2003 has four underlying licensing objectives: Prevention of Crime 
and Disorder; Prevention of Public Nuisance; Protection of Children from Harm; and 
Public Safety.  Licensing authorities must exercise their functions and make their 
decisions with a view to promoting those objectives .   

2.5. In support of these four objectives, licences can be subject to extensive conditions.
These conditions can be placed on a licence at time of grant - either volunteered by the 
applicant or imposed by the licensing authority, as part of an application to vary a 
licence, or imposed as part of a licence Review.  Conditions play an important part role 
in ensuring a “contract” between a licensing authority and licensee, and play an 
important role in setting the context in which the licensed premise can operate.         

2.6. Similarly, licence Reviews play an important role in the controls process.  Reviews 
provide relevant authorities with powers to address problems, and they ensure 
appropriate local representation in the decision making processes.   Reviews can be 
triggered by complaints from local residents or businesses, or by representations by 
relevant authorities such as the police. For a licensee, a licence review is a very 
serious issue, and failure to comply with the law could lead to closure of a premises, a 
very heavy fine, and even a potential prison sentence.

2.7. In terms of scale, there are currently around 133,000 premises in England and Wales 
licensed for regulated entertainment, with almost all of these premises licensed to sell 
alcohol.  Additionally, over 120,000 TENs are authorised each year.  TENs can be used 
as an alternative to a fuller licence, as a “one-off” permission for a licensable event, at a 
cost of £21 per application.   

2.8. An event organiser is permitted up to five TENs per year, unless they also hold a 
personal licence for alcohol sale or supply, in which case the limit is extended to 12 
TENs per year at the same premises or up to 50 events at different places.  

This proposal

2.9. The starting point for this consultation is to examine the need for a licensing regime for 
each of the activities classed as “regulated entertainment”.  Where there is no such 
need, we propose to remove the licensing requirement, subject to the views and 
evidence generated through this consultation. 

2.10. Where there is a genuine need to licence a type of entertainment, then this consultation 
proposes that the licensing requirement would remain, either in full, or in part if more 
appropriate.  In such cases this consultation seeks to identify the precise nature of the 
potential harm, and seek evidence to identify effective and proportionate solutions. 

2.11. Chapter 3 of this consultation will address the generic issues that are relevant to more 
than one type of regulated entertainment.   For example, we are interested to hear 
views on the handling of health and safety protections and noise nuisance prevention, 
as well as views from a public safety and crime and disorder perspective. The 
consultation will pose a number of questions related to these aspects, and will ask a 
final question where any further comments can be added on any issues of note. 

Page 16



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

9

2.12. Chapters 4-11 will then examine each activity in Schedule One to the Licensing Act 
2003 and investigate specific issues particular to that activity. 

2.13. Although both Chapter 3, and Chapters 4-11 will ask questions relating to deregulation 
principles, this consultation would like to make clear at the outset that in any
instance, Government intends to retain the licensing requirements for:

Any performance of live music, theatre, dance, recorded music, indoor sport or 
exhibition of film where the audience is of 5,000 people or more.

Boxing and wrestling.

Any performance of dance that may be classed as sexual entertainment, but is 
exempt from separate sexual entertainment venue regulations.

More details of how we would ensure these protections are in place can be found in 
Chapters 4-11.

Next steps and methodology

2.14. We will collate and review comments from this consultation and then publish a 
Government response. Where we have a clear view that deregulation for an activity is 
supported, we will look to remove or replace the Schedule One definition relating to that 
activity as soon as possible, using existing powers in the 2003 Act to do so where this 
is possible.

2.15. Where changes would require either new exemptions or new provisions in the 
Licensing Act 2003, or an amendment to any other legislation, we will assess needs 
and legislative options following the consultation analysis and set out the forward plan 
in the consultation response.

Who will be interested in this proposal?

2.16. Each aspect of regulated entertainment has a wide range of interested parties.  In 
some cases there are groups of stakeholders who will have interest in more than one of 
the regulated entertainment activities.  Some of these will include:

Existing small and medium professional and amateur cultural groups, such as arts 
centres, theatre groups, dance groups. 

Mainstream and independent cinemas, film clubs

Musicians – amateur and professional 

Actors, performers

Local cultural providers and practitioners, and event organisers

Charities, PTAs, Schools 

Community audiences for all of the art forms regulated by the 2003 Act

Residents and community representatives

Licensed premises, such as clubs and pubs, hotels and bed and breakfasts

Page 17



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

10

Unlicensed premises such as coffee shops, scout huts, church halls, record shops, 
schools and hospitals, amongst others

The music industry

Larger cultural institutions, and cultural development stakeholders

Those involved in local regeneration  

Other cultural and creative institutions, such as dance and theatre companies, 
sports bodies who could gain increased exposure in their sport from greater 
opportunities, potentially leading to an uptake in participation 

Cultural and sporting development organisations

Licensing authorities, noise officers, health and safety officers

The police, fire service and trading standards officers and others with an interest in 
public safety and crime and disorder.

Impacts and benefits

2.17. An initial Impact Assessment has been produced for these proposals.  This 
Assessment details, wherever possible, the benefits and impacts of these proposals 
and has been examined by the independent Regulatory Policy Committee.  The initial 
Impact Assessment can be viewed online at www.culture.gov.uk and is available in 
hard copy from DCMS from the address provided in annex A.

2.18. The initial Impact Assessment has a provisional status and will be informed by the 
responses to this consultation. We will undertake further work to quantify the 
consequential costs, benefits and burdens on the police, licensing authorities and 
others on the central proposal to deregulate entertainment events involving 4999 
people or less. Many of the activities classed as regulated entertainment are small local 
events and, because of this, national data collection is currently disproportionately 
expensive.

2.19. In these circumstances assumptions have been made by Government analysts, 
following various extrapolations of the available data but in this consultation we would 
be very grateful for any new data that may be helpful to our overall understanding of 
the local nuance or the national statistical picture. 

2.20. It is not possible, for instance, to predict precisely the additional activities that we 
expect to arise if there were currently no licensing requirements in respect of regulated 
entertainment, and so we are grateful for views through the questions in this 
consultation. It has also not been possible to cost every possible benefit (such as the 
effect of the Culture and Sport Evidence Programme led by DCMS, Arts Council 
England, English Heritage and Sport England) or possible impact (for example data on 
costs of the noise complaint processes under the Noise or Environmental Protection 
Acts) - so again we will use evidence from the consultation responses to update the 
Impact Assessment to ensure costs and benefits of these proposals are reflected as 
accurately as possible before any final considerations.

2.21. The headline detail from the Impact Assessment is that we would expect to see a huge 
range of benefits, with a total economic benefit of best estimate of £43.2m per year. 
Besides the direct economic benefit, and the costs and labour saving, there are 
expected to be substantial benefits to individual and collective wellbeing due to extra 
provision of entertainment and participation, as well as additional social interaction 

Page 18



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

11

benefits.

2.22. This proposal would also bring clarity to existing laws, ending uncertainty about 
whether and in what circumstances activities, such as street artists, buskers, poets, 
and carol singers would require a licence under the Licensing Act 2003.

Effect on the current licensing regime

2.23. Over 133,000 premises have some form of regulated entertainment provision granted 
on their licence.  The benefits of removing licensing requirements will vary, depending 
on individual circumstances.  

2.24. Premises that currently hold a licence only for the activities that were formerly classed 
as regulated entertainment (for example, some church halls) would no longer need a 
licence.  In these cases all licensing requirements would cease, and fees and licence 
conditions would end when a licence is surrendered.  Venues would be able to host 
activities formerly classed as regulated entertainment without the need for any licence.

2.25. Premises that continue to hold a licence after the reforms (for example, for alcohol, late 
night refreshment, or remaining forms of regulated entertainment) would be able to host 
entertainment activities that were formerly regulated without the need to go through a 
Minor or Full Variation process.  We propose that all existing conditions on such 
licences would continue to apply unless the premises decided to apply for a variation to 
remove or amend them - a situation that should prevent the need for a wholescale 
reissue of licences by licensing authorities.  Conditions are an integral part of a licence 
authorisation, so this consultation seeks evidence with regard to any potential 
transitional issues, to ensure sufficient certainty for both licensee and those monitoring 
compliance to ensure all parties are aware of what is required of a premises. Taking 
account of any such issues, full guidance would be issued to licensing authorities and 
other interested parties before any changes would be made.

2.26. Finally, on a very practical local level, there are also at least 900 areas listed on the
DCMS licensed public land register2 which represent areas licensed by local authorities 
solely for regulated entertainment purposes - such as town centres, promenades, high 
streets, parks, gardens and recreation grounds.  Licensing authorities would also no 
longer have to process and oversee over 12,500 licences per annum for which they do 
not receive a fee, such as village halls and for certain performances held in schools.  
Together this is at least 13,400 community and non-commercial premises per annum 
that would no longer be subject to a licensing regime. 

2
http://www.culture.gov.uk/what_we_do/regulated_entertainment/3196.aspx

Page 19



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

12

Proposal Impacts: Questions

You may wish to read the full document before commenting - a composite 
list of questions is provided at the end of the document 

Q1: Do you agree that the proposals outlined in this consultation will lead to 
more performances, and would benefit community and voluntary organisations?   
If yes, please can you estimate the amount of extra events that you or your 
organisation or that you think others would put on?

Q2: If you are replying as an individual, do you think this proposal would help 
you participate in, or attend, extra community or voluntary performance?

Q3: Do you agree with our estimates of savings to businesses, charitable and
voluntary organisations as outlined in the impact assessment? If you do not, 
please outline the areas of difference and any figures that you think need to be 
taken into account (see paragraph 57 of the Impact Assessment).

Q4: Do you agree with our estimates of potential savings and costs to local 
authorities, police and others as outlined in the impact assessment?  If you do 
not, please outline the areas of difference and any figures you think need to be 
taken into account.

Q5: Would you expect any change in the number of noise complaints as a result 
of these proposals?  If you do, please provide a rationale and evidence, taking 
into account the continuation of licensing authority controls on alcohol licensed 
premises and for late night refreshment

Q6:The Impact Assessment for these proposals makes a number of assumptions 
around the number of extra events, and likely attendance that would arise, if the 
deregulation proposals are implemented. If you disagree with the assumptions, 
as per paragraphs 79 and 80 of the Impact Assessment, please provide estimates 
of what you think the correct ranges should be and explain how those figures 
have been estimated.

Q7: Can you provide any additional evidence to inform the Impact Assessment, 
in particular in respect of the impacts that have not been monetised? 

Q8: Are there any impacts that have not been identified in the Impact 
Assessment?

Q9: Would any of the different options explored in this consultation have 
noticeable implications for costs, burdens and savings set out in the impact 
assessment?  If so, please give figures and details of evidence behind your 
assumptions.

Q10: Do you agree that premises that continue to hold a licence after the reforms 
would be able to host entertainment activities that were formerly regulated 
without the need to go through a Minor or Full Variation process?

Page 20



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

13

Chapter 3: The role of licensing controls

Introduction

3. In this section we will explain the general background to regulatory protections in the 
Licensing Act 2003 and ask for views that apply across the “regulated entertainment” 
regime.  Chapters 4-11 will cover individual items included in Schedule One, so you may 
choose to apply your comments in questions posed in those sections if more appropriate.  

The four licensing objectives

3.1. As set out in paragraph 2.4, the Licensing Act 2003 has four licensing objectives and 
licensing authorities must exercise their functions with a view to promoting those 
objectives. They are:

Prevention of Crime and Disorder; 

Prevention of Public Nuisance; 

Protection of Children from Harm; 

Public Safety.

These four objectives are important protections, particularly in respect of alcohol sale 
and supply, which is the principal component of the Licensing Act 2003.  

3.2. In taking stock of the efficacy and proportionality of the licensing regime, this proposal 
seeks to examine the need for licensing in the context of the other legislative 
protections that are already in place.  This chapter will do this by examining each of the 
four licensing objectives and seek views regarding necessary controls.  

3.3. This consultation proposal suggests that regulated entertainment itself in general poses 
little risk to the licensing objectives.  There are though considerations concerning noise 
nuisance from music and where audiences of up to 4,999 people could attend events 
where no licensing authority licence was present, as well as related public safety 
issues. 

Crime and disorder

3.4. Where problems do occur, it is often because of the presence of alcohol sales and 
consumption.   

3.5. Most existing venues offering regulated entertainment are already licensed for alcohol 
and existing controls will continue to apply under these proposals.  The existing 
alcohol safeguards provide a powerful incentive to ensure that licensing objectives are 
safeguarded, and as outlined earlier, failure to comply can result in a licence review, 

Page 21



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

14

which can lead to closure of the premises, a very heavy fine, and a potential prison 
sentence for the licensee. However, under our proposals, there would be no 
requirement to notify the licensing authority or the police of an event of up to 4999 
people that did not involve the sale of alcohol.  

3.6. The Government is also legislating via the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill 
to rebalance the regulation around alcohol licensing. These measures include, for 
example giving licensing authorities and the police more powers to remove licences 
from problem premises and increasing the involvement of health bodies and 
environmental health authorities in licensing decisions, including Temporary Event 
Notices.

3.7. In addition, the Government is giving local communities additional powers  to shape 
their night-time economies and tackle alcohol-fuelled crime and disorder, by allowing 
licensing authorities to collect a contribution or levy from late opening alcohol retailers 
towards the cost of late night policing and extending powers to restrict the sale of 
alcohol in problem areas. The Government will also take steps to dismantle 
unnecessary legislation but will continue to regulate in a targeted way where this is 
needed. The new measures on alcohol, taken together with a sensible deregulation of 
the no risk or low risk entertainment activities, should lead to a more effective and 
focussed controls regime. 

3.8. So while there would no longer be a requirement for a specific permission for activities 
currently classed as regulated entertainment, there would still be generic controls in 
place related to the alcohol licence (or, where relevant, permission for late night 
refreshment).  For example, under the current arrangements, a pub does not need a 
specific permission to show a big screen football international.  However, if it is 
necessary to address identifiable risk of disorder related to the event, a responsible 
authority such as the police can seek a review to apply measures such as limits on 
opening hours before the screening, or the use of plastic glasses, or the employment of 
extra door staff - even though the television broadcast itself is not a licensable activity.

3.9. Events in non-licensed premises that are currently held under a TEN will usually be 
held in non-commercial premises that are overseen and controlled by a management 
committee or governing body (for example, a community hall, school or club) or 
otherwise run by the local authority.  While this may not singularly remove every risk of 
crime and disorder, it does suggest that a blanket requirement for all those providing 
music and other entertainment to secure a licence is disproportionate and 
unnecessary.

3.10. However, we should also pay regard to the fact that the removal of licensing 
regulations will remove the requirement to automatically notify the Licensing Authority 
and the police that an entertainment event is taking place. We would be grateful for 
views on potential public safety and crime and disorder considerations in the questions 
in this consultation.

Page 22



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

15

Public Nuisance (noise)

3.11. Premises selling alcohol will still require a licence as outlined above. Alcohol 
licences can already be used to address noise and other areas of concern, and the 
Licensing Act 2003 gives the police powers to close licensed premises at short notice 
as a result of disorder or on the grounds of public nuisance, which includes noise.  This 
process can result in conditions being stipulated which must be met before the 
premises can reopen. Such Closure Orders under the Licensing Act 2003 lead 
automatically to a review of the licence where, again, conditions can be attached to the 
licence.  Local Authorities also maintain the right to impose a full range of conditions on 
alcohol licenses after a licence Review.  Again, failure to comply can result in a very 
heavy fine, and a potential prison sentence up to six months for the licensee.

3.12. All premises, whether licensed for alcohol or not, will also continue be subject to 
existing noise nuisance and abatement powers in the Environmental Protection Act 
1990.  These powers require local authorities to take reasonable steps to investigate a 
complaint about a potential nuisance and to serve an abatement notice when they are 
satisfied that a nuisance exists or is likely to occur or recur. 

3.13. Additionally, there are also powers in the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 which allow 
the police to close licensed premises to prevent a public nuisance caused by noise 
from those premises. Earlier this year, the Government set out proposals to radically 
simplify and improve the powers the police and others have to deal with anti-social 
behaviour. 

3.14. There is also the Noise Act 1996 which allows the local authority to take action (issuing 
a warning notice, or fixed penalty notice, or seizing equipment) in respect of licensed 
premises where noise between 11pm and 7am exceeds permitted levels.  

3.15. Finally, under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, the police currently have 
powers to remove people attending or preparing for night-time raves on land in the 
open air - refusal to leave or returning to such land following a police direction is a 
criminal offence.  

3.16. Premises which do not sell alcohol (such as non-licensed restaurants and cafes, as 
well as non-commercial premises such as community halls, schools and hospitals) 
would be covered by noise nuisance legislation such as the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.   As referenced above, non-commercial premises such as village halls tend 
to be run by a local management board or committee to represent the interests of the 
local community and exercise necessary control should problems occur.  In such 
circumstances though the existing licence controls would no longer be in place, and so 
in the questions in this consultation we would be grateful for views on any potential 
concerns.

Public Safety

3.17. The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 together with disability legislation, offers 
protection in relation to the safety of the public at an event, placing a clear duty to take 
reasonable steps to protect the public from risks to their health and safety.  In addition, 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (SI 2005/1541) imposes fire safety 

Page 23



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

16

duties in respect of most non-domestic premises.   

3.18. Potential problems at events should be prevented through the risk assessments and 
compliance with other duties imposed by this legislation, rather than the additional layer 
of bureaucracy imposed by requirements of the Licensing Act 2003. 

3.19. Although some licensing authorities rely on the Licensing Act 2003 rather than other 
legislation, many types of existing mass entertainment activity already take place 
successfully outside the licensing regime.  Large numbers of people gather in one 
place without an entertainment licence for events such as fun fairs, country shows, 
political rallies and demonstrations, religious events, stock car racing, or outdoor sport 
such as the Ryder Cup, or three-day eventing.  There is no directly justifiable reason 
why events such as ballet, classical concerts or circuses should be considered any 
more of a risk to public safety than these activities.

Protection of Children

3.20. There are two main areas of relevance in relation to regulated entertainment where it is 
important we protect children from harm.  

3.21. The first of these is the prevention of access to unsuitable content (for example by film 
classification restrictions, and by restrictions on sexual entertainment).  The second 
aspect is with the physical protection of children in relation to participation in indoor 
sport and other activities.  

3.22. Issues specific to unsuitable content in the context of dance and film are addressed 
directly in chapters 6 and 7 respectively in this consultation.  Some content protection 
themes do though cut across several forms of regulated entertainment, and we seek 
your views on these at the end of this chapter.   

3.23. Adult entertainment is not a separate or distinct licensable activity under the 2003 Act, 
but is generally dealt with under other legislation (see paragraph 11.4).  Some forms of 
adult entertainment (such as “blue” comedians) are not currently licensable at all.  In 
most cases, such activities take place in premises that are licensed for the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on the premises, and restrictions automatically apply on the 
admission of unaccompanied children.  The proposals in this consultation would not 
affect the status quo.

3.24. In the second area of child protection (physical protection for children taking part in 
indoor sports, and similar activities) there are already robust existing child protection 
policies in place across all Government funded sports. Recognised sports are required 
to have a governing body in place that controls the sport and ensures that coaches and 
officials are properly trained.

3.25. Most importantly, the Children Act 1989 places a duty on Local Authorities to 
investigate if there are concerns that a child may be suffering or may be at risk of 
suffering significant harm.  Additionally, the employment of children is covered by other 
legislation, such as the Children and Young Persons Act 1963 which, among other 
things, places restrictions on children taking part in public performances.

Page 24



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

17

Size of events

3.26. The Government recognises that, once an event reaches a certain size, it can be 
difficult to control the events using alcohol licences alone, and there may also be large 
entertainment events that do not – either currently or in the future – choose to sell 
alcohol.  Sports ground safety legislation, which applies to outdoor sport, applies a limit 
of 5,000 spectators for football, and 10,000 for other sports before specific safety 
requirements apply.    

3.27. The Licensing 2003 Act already recognises the additional burden that large events can 
cause for local authorities by applying an additional licence fee for events where more 
than 4,999 people are present.  

3.28. This consultation therefore proposes that only events with an audience of fewer 
than 5,000 people are deregulated from the 2003 Act.  

3.29. We would welcome views on this figure in the questions at the end of this chapter.  The 
Association of Chief Police Officers has, for example, suggested that the 500 audience 
limit which applies to Temporary Event Notices may be a more appropriate starting 
point.

3.30. Similarly, we would welcome views on whether there should be different limits for 
different types of entertainment – for example whether unamplified music performances 
should have no audience limit applied at all (as they are self-limiting, due to acoustic 
reach), and whether outdoor events should be treated differently to those held in a 
building.  Again, questions relating generically to these issues are posed at the end of 
this chapter.

Time of events

3.31. Noise nuisance can be a particular issue of concern for those living near venues. It has 
been argued that particular controls need to be applied to events held after 11pm.  The 
background to this issue is that 11pm is stipulated in existing noise legislation as the 
beginning of “night hours” (defined by the World Health Organisation as the period 
beginning with 11pm and ending with the following 7am) in the Noise Act 1996 and the 
point at which the control powers of the Noise Act begin to apply.

3.32. This consultation does not propose applying an 11pm cut off for the deregulation 
of regulated entertainment. This is because existing legal powers in the Noise Act 
1996 already make special provision to deal with problems occurring after 11pm for 
alcohol licensed premises, which will cover the vast majority of venues for 
entertainment. Noise Act powers work in tandem with the Licensing Act 2003 so that 
any premises that is not abiding by its licence conditions can be immediately tackled by 
Local Authority officers, but it should be noted that most Local Authorities do not 
operate a full nuisance complaints service outside normal working hours.

3.33. The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 provides Local Authorities with powers to 
immediately close noisy premises for up to 24 hours, with consequences of up to three 
months in prison, a fine up to £20,000, or both. Whilst this is a substantial deterrent we 
would be grateful for views relating to any potential problems or enforcement or 

Page 25



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

18

resourcing issues, including where there may be other issues, such as “out of hours” 
resourcing. 

3.34. Additional measures under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 cover 
outdoor night time music events that are not licensed under the 2003 Act.   Most 
currently regulated entertainment does not go beyond 11pm, but to impose a cut off 
would introduce inflexibility and in effect make it illegal for an unlicensed performance 
to run 10 minutes over time.  This would simply reintroduce the kind of unintended 
consequences the deregulation seeks to remove whereby illegality has no bearing on 
the impact of the actual individual activity.

3.35. In the recent debate during the Committee stage of the Live Music Bill in the House of 
Lords, several speakers, expressed their support for a cut off time of midnight for 
exemptions for small music events.3

3.36. The Government is therefore not proposing any time related cut off for entertainment 
which is to be deregulated from the 2003 Act.  However, we welcome views on this 
issue at the end of this chapter.  This includes seeking views on whether any time 
restrictions should apply and, if so, whether this should be the same for all 
entertainment activities or just those which are believed to pose a particular risk.  It
would also be helpful to have views on whether there should be a distinction between 
indoor and outdoor events.  

3.37. One alternative option to the current licensing arrangement could be to develop a Code 
of Practice for entertainment venues.  This could help to ensure preventative best 
practice without the need for regulation. While this would have no statutory sanctions, 
it would encourage good practice. Would such an approach mitigate risks?  Again, we 
would welcome views.

3
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201011/ldhansrd/text/110715-0001.htm#11071554000685

Page 26



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

19

The Role of Licensing Controls: Questions

Q11: Do you agree that events for under 5,000 people should be deregulated 
across all of the activities listed in Schedule One of the Licensing Act 2003?

Q12: If you believe there should be a different limit – either under or over 5,000, 
what do you think the limit should be? Please explain why you feel a different 
limit should apply and what evidence supports your view.

Q13: Do you think there should there be different audience limits for different 
activities listed in Schedule One? If so, please could you outline why you think 
this is the case. Please could you also suggest the limits you feel should apply to 
the specific activity in question.

Q14: Do you believe that premises that would no longer have a licence, due to the 
entertainment deregulation, would pose a significant risk to any of the four 
original licensing objectives?  If so please provide details of the scenario in 
question.

Q15: Do you think that outdoor events should be treated differently to those held 
indoors with regard to audience sizes? If so, please could you explain why, and 
what would this mean in practice.

Q16: Do you think that events held after a certain time should not be 
deregulated? If so, please could you explain what time you think would be an 
appropriate cut-off point, and why this should apply.

Q17: Should there be a different cut off time for different types of entertainment 
and/or for outdoor and indoor events?  If so please explain why.

Q18: Are there alternative approaches to a licensing regime that could help tackle 
any potential risks around the timing of events?

Q19: Do you think that a code of practice would be a good way to mitigate 
potential risks from noise?  If so, what do think such a code should contain and 
how should it operate?

Q20: Do you agree that laws covering issues such as noise, public safety, fire 
safety and disorder, can deal with potential risks at deregulated entertainment 
events?  If not, how can those risks be managed in the absence of a licensing 
regime?

Q21: How do you think the timing / duration of events might change as a result of 
these proposals? Please provide reasoning and evidence for any your view.

Q22: Are there any other aspects that need to be taken into account when 
considering the deregulation of Schedule One in respect of the four licensing 

objectives of the Licensing Act 2003?

Page 27



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

20

Chapter 4:  Performance of Live Music 

Introduction

4. The Coalition Agreement committed to cutting red tape to encourage the performance of 
more live music. 

4.1. We intend to honour this agreement in two ways.  The first is to honour our public 
commitment to support the Live Music Bill, a Private Member’s Bill tabled in 2010 in the 
House of Lords by Lord Clement Jones, which followed a recommendation for live 
music deregulation by the Culture, Media and Sport Select Committee in 2009 and a 
full public consultation on the subject in 2010.   Because of this, the Live Music Bill is 
not the subject of this consultation.4

4.2. The second is to examine, through this consultation, whether our proposed 
deregulation is ambitious enough for the vast quantity of talent in England and Wales 
that would benefit from a wider deregulation than the Live Music Bill will, alone, permit.  
In examining live music we would be grateful for responses to the generic questions 
posed in chapter 3, and also to the live music questions based on the consultation 
proposal below.

4.3. Live music is at the heart of our national and local cultural traditions, and continues to 
play a very important part in our national and local identity.  As well as being 
exhilarating and inclusive, music can change the way we view ourselves and how 
others perceive us.  Our musical heritage is strongly felt across England and Wales, 
with a live line of performance from folk and traditional song through many hundreds of 
years to our present day with internationally famous local music scenes across so 
many towns and cities. 

4.4. In recent years though, whilst music in large venues is thriving, music in small venues 
has been gradually dwindling.  Many pubs – the traditional venue of much live music -
have closed, and there has been a downward trend in music provision in secondary 
venues5.

4
Lord Clement Jones’ Bill was tabled last year, and can be read in full at:  

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2010-11/livemusichl/documents.html

5
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/%2B/http://www.culture.gov.uk/reference_library/research_and_statistics/4854.a

spx

Page 28



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

21

Our proposal

4.5. This proposal is to deregulate public performance of live music (both amplified 
and unamplified) for audiences of fewer than 5,000 people.

4.6. As outlined in Chapter 3, other legislative protections already exist in respect of each of 
the four licensing objectives, and it is those measures that should be used as controls 
for music events, rather than an inflexible and burdensome licensing system.

Audience size

4.7. The issues around size and time of events are often raised in relation to events such as 
large music festivals, which would continue to require a licence under Government 
proposals if they have capacities of 5,000 people or greater. As explained in chapter 3, 
the 5,000 limit is already recognised as an audience threshold for larger events in the 
sporting and entertainment sectors. This limit features also as a capacity boundary for 
fees in the Licensing Act 2003, recognising intrinsic issues associated with controls for 
events above that size of audience.

4.8. With regard to unamplified music, there is a potential argument that no audience limit is 
necessary due to the self- limiting possibilities from the event’s acoustic reach.  So we 
would thus welcome views on whether unamplified music should simply be deregulated 
with no restrictions on numbers or on the time of day.

Performance of Live Music: Questions

Q23:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of live music that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, 
how could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q24: Do you think that unamplified music should be fully deregulated with no limits on 
numbers and time of day/night?  If not, please explain why and any evidence of harm. 

Q25:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 

proposal to deregulate live music?

Page 29



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

22

Chapter 5: Performance of plays

Introduction

5. The regulation of plays has a long and famous history.  The Licensing Act 2003 
provided the first amendments to theatre licensing since the Theatres Act 1968, which 
released playwrights from the strict censorship of the Lord Chamberlain that had been 
in place since the introduction of the Licensing Act 1737.

5.1 It made clear that licensing authorities could not generally refuse a theatre licence on 
content grounds.  The 1968 Act updated other aspects of law which still stand on the 
statute book – around obscenity, defamation and provocation of a breach of peace. 

Venue sizes

5.2. Each year, there are an estimated 92,000 performances of plays by voluntary or 
amateur groups alone, with the vast majority held in small venues or by touring 
productions.  For many of these venues existence is hand to mouth, and individual 
productions are in constant jeopardy due to the need to recoup staging costs. We 
believe that deregulation of some of the requirements where alcohol is not sold or 
supplied offers a real opportunity to help make the staging of plays and performances 
in smaller venues much easier, as well as enabling greater opportunity for “site 
specific” theatre (for example, productions set in factories or forests) to flourish.

Regeneration and renewal

5.3. The British theatre ecology is wide and varied, with amateur groups and fringe 
productions playing an important role in feeding into larger venues. The importance of 
theatre to the UK economy is well documented, with studies such as the Shellard 
Report (2004) showing a positive annual economic impact of £2.6bn.

5.4. We have seen the impact of theatre on small and large scale cultural festivals across 
the regions –the Edinburgh Festivals are thought to contribute £245m  to the local 
economy.  Cultural festivals have a huge regenerative effect and provide a highly 
positive community self-image. 

Educative value

5.5. Plays offer an almost unique opportunity to engage children, enhancing self-value, 
attendance within education, and participatory skills.  At present it is not necessary for 
a school to apply for a licence where parents are admitted for free, but if the school 
wishes to perform for the wider public or charge a small entry fee to benefit the
Parent-Teacher Association (PTA), a licence is required. As with dance and live 
music, this is one example of how removing the regulatory burden will free up schools 

Page 30



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

23

(and similarly community and volunteer groups) to put on low risk productions in the 
community.  

5.6. But the educational effect of theatre does not stop at schools.  The effects of prison 
theatre for example have a major role in rehabilitation, and public performance can 
have a similarly beneficial effect on self-value as seen in other educational forums.   

Our proposal

5.7. This consultation proposes that we remove theatre from the list of regulated 
entertainment in Schedule One to the Licensing Act 2003 for audiences of fewer than 
5,000 people.

5.8. Existing controls from the 1968 Theatres Act on obscenity, defamation and 
provocation of a breach of peace remain on the statue book, and separate rules on 
health and safety and children’s protection are set out in Chapter 3.

Performance of Plays: Questions

Q26:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of plays that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, how 
could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q27:  Are there any health and safety considerations that are unique to outdoor or site 
specific theatre that are different to indoor theatre that need to be taken into account?

Q28: Licensing authorities often include conditions regarding pyrotechnics and similar 
HAZMAT handling conditions in their licences.  Can this type of restriction only be 
handled through the licensing regime? 

Q29:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 
proposal to deregulate theatre?

Page 31



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

24

Chapter 6: Performance of dance 

Introduction

6. The main reasons for licensing performance of dance have historically centred around 
ensuring audience protection from unsuitable content, health and safety issues related to 
venues and performers, and generic noise control issues as outlined in Chapter 3.

6.1. At present dance in England and Wales is undergoing an explosion of interest across a 
very wide socio-demographic, with heightened interest in various forms of dance from 
street dance to ballroom as typified by television shows like Britain’s Got Talent, Strictly 
Come Dancing and So You Think You Can Dance?. 

6.2. There are multiple benefits from participation in this type of activity.  As well as 
healthier lifestyles, there are social bond benefits in participation and performance.  In 
addition the performance aspect of dance leads to awareness of teamwork and self 
esteem.  As with plays, there is an empowering Big Society effect where local public 
place and local performance meet.

6.3. On many occasions, dance performance will be licensable, creating burdens on 
amateur dance groups and schools across England and Wales.  At present schools are 
exempt from licensing requirements where parents are admitted for free, but if a school 
wished to admit the public or charge a small entry fee to benefit the Parent-Teacher 
Association (PTA), a licence or TEN would be required.  This is one simple example of 
how removing the regulatory burden will free up schools (and similarly community and 
volunteer groups) to put on low risk productions in the community.  

Our proposal 

6.4. This consultation proposal is to remove dance from the definition of “regulated 
entertainment” in Schedule One to the Licensing Act 2003 for events for 
audiences of fewer than 5,000 people.

6.5. Please note that Chapter 10 outlines that the Government is not proposing any 
relaxation of adult entertainment that could be classified as a performance of dance. 

Performance of Dance: Questions

Q30:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of dance that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, 
how could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q31:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated the proposal to deregulate 
the performance of dance?

Page 32



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

25

Chapter 7: Exhibition of film

Introduction

7. The exhibition of a film (defined as “any exhibition of moving pictures”) for public 
performance in England and Wales requires a licence. 

7.1. Aside from any venue-specific operating conditions, as outlined in Chapter 3, the 
Licensing Act 2003 stipulates that licences to exhibit film must include as a mandatory 
condition that exhibitors comply with age classification restrictions on film content.

7.2. Section 20 of the Licensing Act 2003 sets out that that the licensing authority may itself 
provide the age restriction classification, or may defer to a qualified body under the 
Video Recordings Act 2004 (currently this is  a role designated to the British Board of 
Film Classification “BBFC”).

7.3. Although licensing authorities use the BBFC ratings almost without exception, 
occasionally some licensing authorities have chosen to impose their own film 
classification to reflect local concerns.  

7.4. In addition, licensing authorities are able to classify films that have not been given a 
BBFC rating.  This can be because the film is not intended for national distribution -
perhaps it is a local film or documentary intended mainly for streaming over the internet 
- or because a national classification will follow at a later point, as is the case with some 
film festivals, where a film is previewed before the final cut is made for distribution.

Current situation - discrepancies

7.5. The existing BBFC and local licensing authority classification situation is, in our view, 
an effective mechanism to ensure child protection from unsuitable content and the 
Government has no intention of deregulating the exhibition of film unless it is able to 
continue the classification system which is well understood and is working effectively. 
However, the Government believes the licensing of film under the 2003 Act is largely 
unnecessary and disproportionate.  

7.6. Examples have been where pre-school nurseries have required a licence to show 
children’s DVDs.  There have been cases where pubs or clubs have wished to host a 
“tribute night” showing, for example, a recording of the 1966 World Cup final, but have 
been prevented from doing so by not having a licence.  The list could extend to many 
other low risk activities, such as a members clubs wanting to show reruns of Virginia 
Wade’s Wimbledon victory during Wimbledon fortnight.  Similarly if a venue without a 
licence permission for the exhibition of film wanted to run a film theme night, showing 
foreign film, or seasonal showing such as “It’s a Wonderful Life” at Christmas time –

Page 33



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

26

they would require a licence or a TEN.

7.7. Additionally, where a venue wants to show a live broadcast of a football match there 
would not be a problem, but showing a broadcast that had been pre-recorded – even 
by a few minutes – would be classed as a licensable activity.

7.8. Besides these practical problems with the legislation as it stands, we have considered 
the potential benefits to film societies and community based film projects by removing 
the need for a licence – removing costs and bureaucracy.   We would be grateful for 
your views on this aspect in the questions below.

Our proposal

7.9. This consultation proposal is to remove “exhibition of film” from the definition of 
“regulated entertainment” in Schedule One to the Licensing Act 2003 for events 
with audiences of fewer than 5,000 people.   But before doing so we would 
ensure that the age classification safeguards could be retained.

7.10. To do this we would use primary legislation to amend existing legislation before 
removing the activity from the Licensing Act 2003, so that there are no gaps in child 
protection. We see no reason to disrupt the arrangement where local licensing 
authorities are able to make local decisions on classifications, and we see the practical 
advantages in doing so.

Cinema advertising

7.11. A separate consultation will be launched in the near future examining whether there is 
an ongoing need for both BBFC regulation and industry co-regulation of cinema 
advertising shown in auditoriums.  This is not the subject of this consultation. 

Exhibition of Film: Questions

Q32: Do you agree with the Government’s position that it should only remove film 
exhibition from the list of regulated activities if an appropriate age classification 
system remains in place?

Q33: Do you have any views on how a classification system might work in the 
absence of a mandatory licence condition?

Q34:  If the Government were unable to create the situation outlined in the proposal 
and above (for example, due to the availability of Parliamentary time) are there any 
changes to the definition of film that could be helpful to remove unintended 
consequences, as outlined earlier in this document - such as showing children’s 
DVDs to pre-school nurseries, or to ensure more parity with live broadcasts?

Q35:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to 
deregulating the exhibition of film from licensing requirements?

Page 34



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

27

Chapter 8: Indoor sport

Introduction

8. Indoor sport held before a public audience is also regulated by the Licensing Act 2003, 
unlike outdoor sport (excluding Boxing and Wrestling). It is unclear why indoor sport 
should be subject to this additional level of regulation. Sport in outdoor venues, including 
those with moveable roofs, is regulated by a different regime and does not require a 
licence under the 2003 Act.

8.1. Indoor sport is defined as: a sporting event which takes place wholly inside a building in 
front of spectators. Sport includes any game in which physical skill is the predominant 
factor, and any form of physical recreation which is also engaged in for purposes of 
competition or display. This includes activities such as gymnastics, netball, ice hockey 
and swimming as well as acrobatic displays at a circus or, where there is an audience, 
darts and snooker.

Outdoor sport

8.2. Football is obviously one of the key spectator sports in England and Wales, and in the 
past has a history of crowd management problems. Football is regulated by the Safety 
of Sports Grounds Act 1975, modified by the Safety of Sports Grounds 
(Accommodation of Spectators) Order 1996, which makes use of a capacity spectator 
threshold of 5,000 before the specific designations need to be put in place for 
Premiership or Football League grounds.  A higher limit, of 10,000, applies to other 
sports grounds.

Indoor sport

8.3. The Government believes that the different approaches to outdoor and indoor sports 
are not justified and that indoor sport should be brought more in line with the 
arrangements for outdoor events.  

8.4. This consultation therefore seeks views on the removal of indoor sport, for venues with 
under 5,000 spectators. Deregulating indoor sports with a capacity of below 5,000 
spectators would put sports such as snooker, gymnastics and swimming on a par with 
football, which is often seen as a greater risk due to incidents of public disorder.  

Page 35



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

28

Indoor Sport: Questions

Q36: Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the indoor 
sport that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If yes, please outline the 
specific nature of the sport and the risk involved and the extent to which other 
interventions can address those risks.

Q37:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to deregulating 
the indoor sport from licensing requirements?

Page 36



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

29

Boxing and Wrestling, and Events of a Similar Nature: Questions

Q38: Do you agree with our proposal that boxing and wrestling should continue to 
be regarded as “regulated entertainment”, requiring a licence from a local licensing 
authority, as now?

Q39: Do you think there is a case for deregulating boxing matches or wrestling 
entertainments that are governed by a recognised sport governing body? If so 
please list the instances that you suggest should be considered.

Q40. Do you think that licensing requirements should be specifically extended to 
ensure that it covers public performance or exhibition of any other events of a 
similar nature, such as martial arts and cage fighting?  If so, please outline the risks 
that are associated with these events, and explain why these cannot be dealt with 

via other interventions

Chapter 9:  Boxing and Wrestling 

Introduction

9. Public exhibition of boxing and wrestling and events of a similar nature are classed as 
regulated entertainment under Schedule One of the Licensing Act 2003.

9.1. Boxing and wrestling have historically been subject to licensing controls to ensure there 
is a safe environment for spectators with regard to crowd control and certain health and 
safety aspects connected with the physical activity on display.  In addition, the licence 
requirement has provided additional safeguards for participants.  

9.2. This consultation proposes that boxing exhibitions, and events of a similar 
nature, should in general continue to be licensed. However, we would welcome 
views as to whether boxing and wrestling events that are organised by the governing 
bodies of the sport recognised by the Sports Councils should continue to require 
licences under the 2003 Act.  In addition, we would welcome views on whether the 
definition of boxing and wrestling should be refined to ensure it includes, for example, 
martial arts and cage fighting.

Page 37



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

30

Chapter 10: Recorded Music and Entertainment 
Facilities

Background: recorded music

10. The playing of recorded music to an audience is licensable under the Licensing Act 
2003, where music is more than merely incidental to another activity that is not, in itself, 
regulated entertainment. For example, recorded music playing in a hotel lobby or a shop 
is not likely to be thought to be the primary reason for attendance at that location and 
does not require a licence – but a performance of a set by a famous DJ is likely to be 
currently licensable in pursuance of the four licensing objectives of the Licensing Act 
2003 

10.1. We see no reason why recorded music needs to be licensed.  If live music should be 
deregulated, as is our proposal, then we feel that the same principles should apply to 
recorded music, with the same controls and sanctions available to ensure that good 
practice is followed.

10.2. Please note that his is not the same issue as a requirement to pay the Performing 
Rights Society or similar organisation for use of their artists’ intellectual copyright – the 
proposal is simply to deregulate from a licensing regime in pursuance of the four 
licensing objectives of the Licensing Act 2003.

Our proposal

10.3. We propose to remove the need for a special licence for the playing of recorded 
music to audiences of fewer than 5,000 people.  In the case of premises licensed to 
sell alcohol, we feel that this proposal is very sound.  The possibility of a licence review, 
which can lead to the removal of an alcohol licence, a heavy fine, or even a sentence of 
up to six months imprisonment for the licence holder, provides a compelling reason for 
licensed premises to comply.

10.4. Where recorded music is played in other situations (such as a disco in a village hall 
with no alcohol licence) local management arrangements are likely to provide a 
common sense solution to any potential problems, coupled with the protections 
available in the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  Nonetheless we welcome views on 
the subject below.

10.5. We have also received representations on the subject of “raves” and whether this 
proposal would open up any loopholes in the law with regard to illegal raves, and again, 
we pose questions below to ensure that this proposals does not open up any gaps in 
the law.  

Page 38



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

31

Entertainment facilities 

10.6. The definition of “entertainment facilities” in the Licensing Act 2003 has proved to be a 
thorny issue.  

10.7. Entertainment facilities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 in the following manner: 

“entertainment facilities” means facilities for enabling persons to take part in entertainment of 
a description falling within sub-paragraph (2) for the purpose, or for purposes which include 
the purpose, of being entertained.

(2)The descriptions of entertainment are—

(a) making music,

(b) dancing,

(c) entertainment of a similar description to that falling within paragraph (a) or (b).

10.8. The intention of the principle of “entertainment facilities” in the Licensing Act 2003 was 
to ensure that as well as ensuring that the activities classified as “regulated 
entertainment” were properly considered by licensing authorities, any key equipment 
and its effects were similarly reviewed. 

10.9. This consultation proposes to remove the need for consideration of entertainment 
facilities in any eventuality.  This would cover, karaoke, musical instruments, dance 
floors and other equipment needed in support of making music or dancing.   We would 
be grateful for views on this proposal.

Recorded Music and Entertainment Facilities: Questions

Q41: Do you think that, using the protections outlined in Chapter 3, recorded 
music should be deregulated for audiences of fewer than 5,000 people? If not, 
please state reasons and evidence of harm.

Q42: If you feel that a different audience limit should apply, please state the limit 
that you think suitable and the reasons why this limit is the right one.

Q43: Are there circumstances where you think recorded music should continue to 
require a licence? If so, please could you give specific details and the harm that 
could be caused by removing the requirement?

Q44: Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 
proposal to deregulate recorded music?

Q45: Are there any specific instances where Entertainment Facilities need to be 
regulated by the Licensing Act, as in the current licensing regime? If so, please 
provide details.

Page 39



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

32

Chapter 11: Clearing up unintended consequences: 
clear laws and clear guidance

Introduction

11. There is a great deal of evidence that licensing authorities and event’s organisers find 
parts of the Licensing Act 2003 very difficult to interpret.  The 2003 Act is a voluminous 
and highly complex piece of legislation, and this has led to different interpretations across 
licensing authorities.  In this chapter we would be grateful for views on this issue, and on 
how best to ensure greater clarity around entertainment licensing, notwithstanding the 
proposals to remove most regulated entertainment set out earlier in this document.

Clear laws and clear guidance

11.1. Where it is possible to clear up any problematic issues with regard to regulated 
entertainment we would like to take the opportunity to do so via this consultation.

Adult entertainment

11.2. We see no reason to deregulate adult entertainment and this consultation is not 
seeking views on this issue.  

11.3. Although adult entertainment is not specified in Schedule One to the Licensing Act 
2003 as a licensable activity, the Act does play a part in the current controls process.

11.4. The Policing and Crime Act 2009 amended the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 to make provision for the regulation of “sexual entertainment 
venues”.  As a result, venues that hold regular performance of adult entertainment, 

Unintended consequences: Questions

Q46: Are there any definitions within Schedule One to the Act that are particularly 
difficult to interpret, or that are otherwise unclear, that you would like to see changed 
or clarified?

Q47: Paragraph 1.5 outlines some of the representations that DCMS has received 
over problems with the regulated entertainment aspects of the Licensing Act 

2003. Are you aware of any other issues that we need to take into account?

Page 40



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

33

such as lap dance, table dancing or striptease require a separate permission from the 
local authority. 

11.5. The Licensing Act 2003 does though play a part in controlling performance of this 
nature that is held infrequently.  Specifically, a venue is a sexual entertainment venue 
where live performance or live display of nudity is of such a nature that, ignoring 
financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the 
purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or 
other means).  

11.6. However, this does not apply when the venues has not been used on more than eleven 
occasions for such activities in the previous 12 months.  In those instances, the activity 
is regulated under the 2003 Act as a performance of dance.  In deregulating dance, the 
Government would ensure that there was no change in how sex entertainment is 
regulated. 

Adult Entertainment: Question

Q48: Do you agree with our proposal that deregulation of dance should not extend to 
sex entertainment? Please provide details.

Page 41



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

34

Annex A: Summary list of questions

Proposal Impacts: Questions

Q1: Do you agree that the proposals outlined in this consultation will lead to more 
performances, and would benefit community and voluntary organisations?   If yes, 
please can you estimate the amount of extra events that you or your organisation or 
that you think others would put on?

Q2: If you are replying as an individual, do you think this proposal would help you 
participate in, or attend, extra community or voluntary performance?

Q3: Do you agree with our estimates of savings to businesses, charitable and 
voluntary organisations as outlined in the impact assessment? If you do not, please 
outline the areas of difference and any figures that you think need to be taken into 
account (see paragraph 57 of the Impact Assessment).

Q4: Do you agree with our estimates of potential savings and costs to local 
authorities, police and others as outlined in the impact assessment?  If you do not, 
please outline the areas of difference and any figures you think need to be taken into 
account.  

Q5: Would you expect any change in the number of noise complaints as a result of 
these proposals?  If you do, please provide a rationale and evidence, taking into 
account the continuation of licensing authority controls on alcohol licensed premises 
and for late night refreshment

Q6: The Impact Assessment for these proposals makes a number of assumptions 
around the number of extra events, and likely attendance that would arise, if the 
deregulation proposals are implemented. If you disagree with the assumptions, as 
per paragraphs 79 and 80 of the Impact Assessment, please provide estimates of what 
you think the correct ranges should be and explain how those figures have been 
estimated.

Q7: Can you provide any additional evidence to inform the Impact Assessment, in 
particular in respect of the impacts that have not been monetised? 

Q8: Are there any impacts that have not been identified in the Impact Assessment?

Q9: Would any of the different options explored in this consultation have noticeable 
implications for costs, burdens and savings set out in the impact assessment?  If so, 
please give figures and details of evidence behind your assumptions.

Page 42



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

35

Q10: Do you agree that premises that continue to hold a licence after the reforms 
would be able to host entertainment activities that were formerly regulated without the 
need to go through a Minor or Full Variation process?

The Role of Licensing Controls: Questions

Q11: Do you agree that events for under 5,000 people should be deregulated across 
all of the activities listed in Schedule One of the Licensing Act 2003?

Q12: If you believe there should be a different limit – either under or over 5,000, what 
do you think the limit should be? Please explain why you feel a different limit should 
apply and what evidence supports your view.

Q13: Do you think there should there be different audience limits for different 
activities listed in Schedule One? If so, please could you outline why you think this is 
the case. Please could you also suggest the limits you feel should apply to the 
specific activity in question.

Q14: Do you believe that premises that would no longer have a licence, due to the 
entertainment deregulation, would pose a significant risk to any of the four original 
licensing objectives?  If so please provide details of the scenario in question.

Q15: Do you think that outdoor events should be treated differently to those held 
indoors with regard to audience sizes? If so, please could you explain why, and what 
would this mean in practice.

Q16: Do you think that events held after a certain time should not be deregulated? If 
so, please could you explain what time you think would be an appropriate cut-off 
point, and why this should apply.

Q17: Should there be a different cut off time for different types of entertainment and/or 
for outdoor and indoor events?  If so please explain why.

Q18: Are there alternative approaches to a licensing regime that could help tackle any 
potential risks around the timing of events?

Q19: Do you think that a code of practice would be a good way to mitigate potential 
risks from noise?  If so, what do think such a code should contain and how should it 
operate?

Q20: Do you agree that laws covering issues such as noise, public safety, fire safety 
and disorder, can deal with potential risks at deregulated entertainment events?  If 
not, how can those risks be managed in the absence of a licensing regime?

Q21: How do you think the timing / duration of events might change as a result of 
these proposals? Please provide reasoning and evidence for any your view.

Page 43



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

36

Q22: Are there any other aspects that need to be taken into account when considering 
the deregulation of Schedule One in respect of the four licensing objectives of the 
Licensing Act 2003?

Performance of Live Music: Questions

Q23:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of live music that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If 
so, how could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q24: Do you think that unamplified music should be fully deregulated with no limits 
on numbers and time of day/night?  If not, please explain why and any evidence of 
harm. 

Q25:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 
proposal to deregulate live music?

Performance of Plays: Questions

Q26:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of plays that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, 
how could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q27:  Are there any health and safety considerations that are unique to outdoor or site 
specific theatre that are different to indoor theatre that need to be taken into account?

Q28: Licensing authorities often include conditions regarding pyrotechnics and 
similar HAZMAT handling conditions in their licences.  Can this type of restriction 
only be handled through the licensing regime? 

Q29:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 
proposal to deregulate theatre?

Performance of Dance: Questions

Q30:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of dance that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, 
how could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way?

Q31:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated the proposal to deregulate 
the performance of dance?

Page 44



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

37

Exhibition of Film: Questions

Q32: Do you agree with the Government’s position that it should only remove film 
exhibition from the list of regulated activities if an appropriate age classification 
system remains in place?

Q33: Do you have any views on how a classification system might work in the 
absence of a mandatory licence condition?

Q34:  If the Government were unable to create the situation outlined in the proposal 
and above (for example, due to the availability of Parliamentary time) are there any 
changes to the definition of film that could be helpful to remove unintended 
consequences, as outlined earlier in this document - such as showing children’s 
DVDs to pre-school nurseries, or to ensure more parity with live broadcasts?

Q35:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to deregulating 
the exhibition of film from licensing requirements?

Indoor Sport: Questions

Q36: Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the indoor 
sport that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If yes, please outline the 
specific nature of the sport and the risk involved and the extent to which other 
interventions can address those risks.

Q37:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to deregulating 
the indoor sport from licensing requirements?

Boxing and Wrestling, and Events of a Similar Nature: Questions

Q38: Do you agree with our proposal that boxing and wrestling should continue to be 
regarded as “regulated entertainment”, requiring a licence from a local licensing 
authority, as now?

Q39: Do you think there is a case for deregulating boxing matches or wrestling 
entertainments that are governed by a recognised sport governing body? If so please 
list the instances that you suggest should be considered.

Q40. Do you think that licensing requirements should be specifically extended to 
ensure that it covers public performance or exhibition of any other events of a similar 
nature, such as martial arts and cage fighting?  If so, please outline the risks that are 
associated with these events, and explain why these cannot be dealt with via other 
interventions.

Page 45



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

38

Recorded Music and Entertainment Facilities: Questions

Q41: Do you think that, using the protections outlined in Chapter 3, recorded music 
should be deregulated for audiences of fewer than 5,000 people? If not, please state 
reasons and evidence of harm.

Q42: If you feel that a different audience limit should apply, please state the limit that
you think suitable and the reasons why this limit is the right one.

Q43: Are there circumstances where you think recorded music should continue to 
require a licence? If so, please could you give specific details and the harm that 
could be caused by removing the requirement?

Q44: Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the 
proposal to deregulate recorded music?

Q45: Are there any specific instances where Entertainment Facilities need to be 
regulated by the Licensing Act, as in the current licensing regime? If so, please 
provide details.

Unintended consequences: Questions

Q46: Are there any definitions within Schedule One to the Act that are particularly 
difficult to interpret, or that are otherwise unclear, that you would like to see changed 
or clarified?

Q47: Paragraph 1.5 outlines some of the representations that DCMS has received 
over problems with the regulated entertainment aspects of the Licensing Act 
2003. Are you aware of any other issues that we need to take into account?

Adult Entertainment: Question

Q48: Do you agree with our proposal that deregulation of dance should not extend to 
sex entertainment? Please provide details.

Page 46



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

39

Annex B: How to Respond

You can respond to the consultation in the following ways:

Online
Regulated_entertainment_consultation@culture.gsi.gov.uk

By post
You can print out the summary list of questions above and fill in responses by hand.  Please 
send these to:
Nigel Wakelin
Regulated Entertainment Consultation Co-ordinator
Department for Culture, Media and Sport
2-4 Cockspur Street
London
SW1Y 5DH 

Closing date
The closing date for responses is 3 December, 2011.

After the consultation
We will post a summary of answers on the DCMS website (www.culture,gov.uk) after the 
end of the consultation together with an analysis of responses. We will publish the 
Government’s response in due course.

Freedom of Information
We are required to release information to comply with the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 and Freedom of Information Act 2000. We will not allow any unwarranted 
breach of confidentiality, nor will we contravene our obligations under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, but please note that we will not treat any confidentiality disclaimer generated by 
your IT system in e-mail responses as a request not to release information.

Compliance with the Code of Practice on Consultation
This consultation complies with the Code.

Complaints
If you have any comments or complaints about the consultation process (as opposed to 
comments on these issues that are part of the consultation) please send them to: 

Complaints Department (Consultations)
Department for Culture, Media and Sport
2-4 Cockspur Street
London
SW1Y 5DH

Page 47



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

40

Annex C: List of Consultees

Anyone can respond to this consultation. This list of consultees indicates those organisations 
that we will contact to suggest that they may wish to respond.

Agents' Association
Action with Communities in Rural England
Alcohol Concern
Amateur Boxing Association
Arts Council England
Arts Council of Wales
Association of British Insurers
Association of Chief Police Officers
Association of Circus Proprietors of Great Britain
Association of Festival Organisers (AFO)
Association of Independent Festivals
Association of Independent Music (AIM)
Association of Inland Navigation Authorities
Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers
Association of School and College Leaders
Association of Show and Agricultural Organisations
BII (British Institute of Innkeeping)
BPI (The British Recorded Music Industry)
British Arts Festivals Association
British Association of Concert Halls
British Beer and Pub Association
British Board of Film Classification (BBFC)
British Boxing Board of Control
British Film Institute (BFI)
British Holiday and Home Parks Association
British Hospitality and Restaurant Association
British Marine Federation
British Retail Consortium
British Wrestling Association
Business in Sport and Leisure
Cadw
Campaign for Real Ale
Carnival Village
Charity Commission
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health
Chief Fire Officers' Association
Children's Society
Cinema Advertising Association
Cinema Exhibition Association
Circus Arts Forum

Page 48



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

41

Commission for Rural Communities
Committee of Registered Clubs Associations
Community Matters
Dance UK
English Folk Dance and Song Society
English Heritage
Equity
Federation of Licensed Victuallers
Federation of Licensed Victuallers (Wales)
Federation of Private Residents’ Association
Federation of Small Businesses
Film Distributors' Association
Fire Officers Association
Football Licensing Authority (FLA)
Foundation for Community Dance
Guild of Master Victuallers
Health and Safety Executive (HSE)
Historic Houses Association
Independent Street Arts Network
Independent Theatre Council (ITC)
Institute of Licensing
International Live Music Conference
Jazz Services
Justices Clerk Society
Lap Dancing Association
Licensing Act Active Residents Network
Local Government Regulation (LGR)
Local Government Association (LGA)
Magistrates Association
Making Music (the National Federation of Music Societies)
Maritime and Coastguard Agency
Metropolitan Police
Musicians Union
National Arenas Association
National Association of Head Teachers
National Association of Local Councils
National Association of Local Government Arts Officers
National Campaign for the Arts
National Confederation of Parent Teacher Associations
National Farmers' Retail & Markets Association
National Governors' Association
National Neighbourhood Watch Association
National Operatic and Dramatic Association
National Organisation of Residents Associations 
National Rural Touring Forum
National Village Halls Forum
Noctis
Noise Abatement Society
Open all Hours
Parliamentary Performers Alliance
Passenger Boat Association

Page 49



Department for Culture, Media and Sport
Regulated Entertainment

42

Paterson’s Licensing Acts
Police Federation
Police Superintendents' Association
Production Services Association
Rotary International in GB and Ireland
Society of Local Council Clerks
Society of London Theatres/ Theatrical Management Association (SLT/TMA)
Sports Council for Wales
Sport England
Sports and Recreation Alliance
The Theatres Trust
Tourism for All
Trading Standards Institute
UK Centre for Carnival Arts
UK Live Music Group
UK Music
UK Sport
Voluntary Arts Network
Welsh Local Government Association
Welsh Music Foundation
Welsh Council for Voluntary Action

Page 50



Page 51



2-4 Cockspur Street

London SW1Y 5DH

www.culture.gov.uk

Page 52



1 URN 10/1268 Ver. 2.0 12/10

Title: Impact Assessment for the proposal to exempt regulated 
entertainment from the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003

Lead department or agency: Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport

Other departments or agencies:

Impact Assessment (IA)

IA No: DCMS033

Date: 22/06/2011

Stage: Consultation

Source of intervention: Domestic

Type of measure: Primary legislation

Contact for enquiries:

Stuart Roberts 020 7211 6099

Summary: Intervention and Options

What is the problem under consideration? Why is government intervention necessary?

The regulatory burdens imposed by the Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) were intended to prevent 
potential adverse impacts on the four licensing objectives: preventing crime and disorder; public safety; 
preventing public nuisance; and protecting children from harm. However, the Government agrees with a 
number of stakeholders who believe the requirements of the 2003 Act are unduly restrictive and 
burdensome for many forms of regulated entertainment and there is some evidence of negative impact in 
deterring the staging of entertainment events. 

What are the policy objectives and the intended effects?

We want to remove unnecessary regulatory burdens  and reduce the costs that deter venues from staging 
certain forms of entertainment. We also want to stimulate activity by community groups and other parts of 
the Big Society by removing barriers which dissuade them from laying on local entertainment.

We want to ensure that performers, participants and the audiences that wish to attend entertainment 
events, including theatre, live music and indoor sport do not have their opportunities unnecessarily limited.

We want to simplify the existing complex and highly inconsistent treatment of different kinds of 
entertainment, where some are regulated and other, similar events, are not.

What policy options have been considered, including any alternatives to regulation? Please justify preferred 
option (further details in Evidence Base)

1. Do nothing
2. Remove all regulated entertainment, as defined in Schedule 1 of the 2003 Act.
3. (Preferred Option) Retain regulated entertainment in Schedule 1 of the 2003 Act where audiences are
5,000 or greater and for a small number of  higher-risk forms of entertainment. Those activities are set out in 
paragraph 23 onwards.

Will the policy be reviewed?   It will be reviewed. If applicable, set review date:  01/2014

What is the basis for this review?   PIR. If applicable, set sunset clause date:  N/A

Are there arrangements in place that will allow a systematic collection of monitoring 
information for future policy review?

Yes

Sign-off For final proposal stage Impact Assessments:

I have read the Impact Assessment and I am satisfied that (a) it represents a fair and reasonable 
view of the expected costs, benefits and impact of the policy, and (b) the benefits justify the costs.

Signed by the responsible Date: 30 June 2011

Page 53



2

Summary: Analysis and Evidence Policy Option 3
Description: Exempt regulated entertainment to audiences of fewer than 5,000 (with exceptions)

Price Base 

Year  2009
PV Base 

Year  2011
Time Period 

Years  10
Net Benefit (Present Value (PV)) (£m)

Low: £32.8m High: £43.2m Best Estimate: £38m

COSTS (£m) Total Transition 
(Constant Price) Years

Average Annual
(excl. Transition) (Constant Price)

Total Cost
(Present Value)

Low 0 £417k £3.59m

High 0 £787k £6.77m

Best Estimate 0 £600k £5.17m

Description and scale of key monetised costs by ‘main affected groups’ 

Some local authorities have suggested that the proposals to remove most forms of regulated entertainment 
from licensing requirements could potentially lead to an increase in noise related complaints made to local 
authorities. For indicative purposes, using figures from the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health and 
DEFRA, we have estimated the potential burden on Environmental Health Officers. An increase in noise 
complaints could also lead to an increase in alcohol licence reviews, the cost of these to licensing 
authorities has also been estimated.

Other key non-monetised costs by ‘main affected groups’ 

It is likely that the majority of any additional noise related complaints will be dealt with informally by the 
licensing authorities, and the threat of either a licence review or revocation will act as a sufficient deterrent to 
a majority of licence holders. These informal instances have not been costed.

There is also a potential cost to the general public through wellbeing lost due to noise nuisance, although 
we expect the number of incidents to be small.

BENEFITS (£m) Total Transition 
(Constant Price) Years

Average Annual
(excl. Transition) (Constant Price)

Total Benefit
(Present Value)

Low 0 £4.23m £36.39m

High 0 £5.81m £50.00m

Best Estimate 0 £5.02m £43.20m

Description and scale of key monetised benefits by ‘main affected groups’ 

The proposal will deliver direct benefits to pubs and entertainment venues by removing fees and the 
administrative burden of applying for licences or variations to stage entertainment. In addition schools, the 
third sector, and other secondary venues that currently have to apply for Temporary Event Notices (TENs)
to stage entertainment will find it significantly simpler, easier, cheaper and less off-putting to organise and 
arrange events . There are likely to be further benefits to local authorities, such as the removal of burdens 
for events held in public buildings / spaces, where the local authority is both applicant to the process and the 
relevant licensing body, as well as the cost of processing applications for venues which do not attract a fee. 

Other key non-monetised benefits by ‘main affected groups’ 

Businesses and venues that are currently dissuaded from staging entertainment by the existing licensing 
regime will benefit from diversifying their business and attracting new audiences. Entertainers and athletes, 
whether professional, amateur or merely aspiring, will benefit from more opportunities to practice and hone
their live performance skills, and should create extra opportunities for them to get noticed too. The 
remaining controls and regulations will be more consistent and intuitively understandable by those they 
affect, and by the general public too, which will make the significantly more legitimate than at present. Third 
sector and “Big Society” organisations in local communities should be energised and encouraged to do 
more by this tangible evidence of  Government action to help their work. The general public will benefit from
an increase in entertainment consumption, particularly at a local level. small venues. Any additional activity 
by community groups and other parts of the Big Society as a result of deregulation will also have positive 
benefits for local people and community wellbeing.

Key assumptions/sensitivities/risks Discount rate (%) 3.5

Page 54



3

Given the lack of licensing data that relates solely to licences granted to regulated entertainment, we have 
made a number of assumptions to derive the savings to businesses. Given the safeguards already in place, 
we have also assumed a comparatively small increase in noise related incidents, although this may not lead 
to any noticeable additional costs. We have, for illustrative purposes, estimated that incidents to be 
investigated will increase by 5%-10%. We also expect further savings will be realised by businesses that no 
longer have to apply for TENS, however, we have excluded TENs from the OIOO, as explained in para. 57.
Further detail pertaining to these assumptions and calculations is set out in the evidence base. 

Direct impact on business (Equivalent Annual) £m): In scope of OIOO? Measure qualifies as

Costs: £0m Benefits: £3.06m Net: £3.06m Yes OUT

Enforcement, Implementation and Wider Impacts

What is the geographic coverage of the policy/option? England and Wales

From what date will the policy be implemented? April 2012

Which organisation(s) will enforce the policy? Licensing Authorities

What is the annual change in enforcement cost (£m)? £0.6m

Does enforcement comply with Hampton principles? Yes

Does implementation go beyond minimum EU requirements? No

What is the CO2 equivalent change in greenhouse gas emissions?
(Million tonnes CO2 equivalent)  

Traded:   

N/A
Non-traded:

N/A

Does the proposal have an impact on competition? Yes

What proportion (%) of Total PV costs/benefits is directly attributable to 
primary legislation, if applicable?

Costs:

N/A
Benefits:

N/A

Distribution of annual cost (%) by organisation size
(excl. Transition) (Constant Price)

Micro

N/A
< 20

N/A
Small

N/A
Medium

N/A
Large

N/A

Are any of these organisations exempt? No No No No No

Specific Impact Tests: Checklist
Set out in the table below where information on any SITs undertaken as part of the analysis of the policy 
options can be found in the evidence base. For guidance on how to complete each test, double-click on 
the link for the guidance provided by the relevant department. 

Please note this checklist is not intended to list each and every statutory consideration that departments 
should take into account when deciding which policy option to follow. It is the responsibility of 
departments to make sure that their duties are complied with.

Does your policy option/proposal have an impact on…? Impact Page ref 
within IA

Statutory equality duties1

Statutory Equality Duties Impact Test guidance

No

Economic impacts 

Competition  Competition Assessment Impact Test guidance Yes 26

Small firms  Small Firms Impact Test guidance Yes 26

Environmental impacts

Greenhouse gas assessment  Greenhouse Gas Assessment Impact Test guidance No

Wider environmental issues  Wider Environmental Issues Impact Test guidance No

Social impacts

1
Public bodies including Whitehall departments are required to consider the impact of their policies and measures on race, disability and 

gender. It is intended to extend this consideration requirement under the Equality Act 2010 to cover age, sexual orientation, religion or belief and 
gender reassignment from April 2011 (to Great Britain only). The Toolkit provides advice on statutory equality duties for public authorities with a 
remit in Northern Ireland.

Page 55



4

Health and well-being  Health and Well-being Impact Test guidance Yes 27

Human rights  Human Rights Impact Test guidance No

Justice system  Justice Impact Test guidance Yes 27

Rural proofing  Rural Proofing Impact Test guidance Yes 27

Sustainable development

Sustainable Development Impact Test guidance

No

Evidence Base (for summary sheets) – Notes

References

Include the links to relevant legislation and publications, such as public impact assessments of earlier 
stages (e.g. Consultation, Final, Enactment) and those of the matching IN or OUTs measures.

Evidence Base

Ensure that the information in this section provides clear evidence of the information provided in the 
summary pages of this form (recommended maximum of 30 pages). Complete the Annual profile of 
monetised costs and benefits (transition and recurring) below over the life of the preferred policy (use 
the spreadsheet attached if the period is longer than 10 years).

The spreadsheet also contains an emission changes table that you will need to fill in if your measure has 
an impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

Annual profile of monetised costs and benefits* - (£m) constant prices 

Y0 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 Y6 Y7 Y8 Y9

Transition costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Annual recurring cost 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6

Total annual costs 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6

Transition benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Annual recurring benefits 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02

Total annual benefits 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02

* For non-monetised benefits please see summary pages and main evidence base section

No. Legislation or publication

1 Licensing Act 2003

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents

2 Report of the Culture, Media and Sport Select Committee – The Licensing Act 2003

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200809/cmselect/cmcumeds/492/49202.htm

3 Impact Assessment for the proposal to exempt live music from the provisions of the Licensing Act 
2003, RPC opinion 17/06/11, reference RPC11-DCMS-790(2)

4 Impact Assessment of a proposal to exempt small live music events (<100) from the Licensing Act

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consult
ations/IA_exemptsmall_livemusicevents.pdf

5 Consultation on a proposal to exempt small live music events (<100) from the Licensing Act

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consult
ations/condoc_exemptsmall_livemusicevents.pdf

6 Consultation on a proposal to introduce a simplified process for minor variations to premises licences 
and club premises certificates

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consult
ations/LicensingconsultationJuly2008minorvar.pdf

+ Add another row 

Page 56



5

Microsoft Office 

Excel Worksheet

Page 57



6

Evidence Base (for summary sheets)

Background

Existing Legislation
1. The Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) came into force in November 2005 in England and 

Wales. It replaced eight separate licensing regimes in order to streamline the process to 
regulate the sale and supply of alcohol, the sale of late night refreshments, and the provision 
of regulated entertainment.

2. The Licensing Act 2003 devolves responsibility for the administration of the 2003 Act to local 
licensing authorities, which are mainly local authorities. They must carry out their functions 
with a view to promoting the following licensing objectives:

the prevention of crime and disorder;

public safety;

the prevention of public nuisance; and

the protection of children from harm

3. Subject to some exemptions (such as incidental music), the provision of the following 
constitutes regulated entertainment if it is put on for the public or for profit:

a performance of a play;

an exhibition of a film;

an indoor sporting event;

a boxing or wrestling entertainment;

a performance of live music (or of facilities for making music or dancing);

any playing of recorded music; and

a performance of dance

Detail of Existing Legislation
4. Section 2 of the 2003 Act requires anyone who wishes to carry on a licensable activity to 

obtain an appropriate authorisation in the form of one licence covering all permissions i.e. a 
premises licence, a club premises certificate, or a temporary event notice (TEN). Venues are 
limited to 12 TENs per year (of which a maximum of five can be granted to and individual 
applicant). Any changes to a licence or club premises certificate, such as the addition of 
regulated entertainment, must be authorised through the full or minor variation process. 

5. Regulations made under section 17(5) of the 2003 Act stipulate that an application for a 
premises licence or a full variation must be advertised in a local newspaper and outside the 
premises for a certain period to give local residents and responsible authorities (the police, 
environmental health, etc.) the opportunity to make representations against, or in favour of, 
the application to the licensing authority. 

6. The Minor Variations Impact Assessment1 estimated that the administrative cost of making  
new applications, full and minor variation as between £385 and £950 plus a fee payable to 
the licensing authority which can vary typically from between £100 - £635 depending on the 
rateable value of the premises. If representations are made, section 18 of the 2003 Act
requires the licensing authority to hold a hearing to consider the evidence and, if necessary, 
impose conditions on the licence to remove or mitigate any risks to the licensing objectives, 

1
Consultation on proposals to introduce a new minor variations process, and remove certain requirements at community premises, February 2008 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/LicensingconsultationJuly2008minorvar.pdf

Page 58



7

refuse authorisation for a specific licensable activity or, in extreme cases, reject the 
application outright.  

7. In many cases, licence conditions typically include; sound proofing measures when music is 
being performed, restrictions on capacities, opening hours and restriction on performance 
times, as well as health and safety measures. The licence holder may incur a cost in 
meeting some of these conditions; for example, at the top end, a noise limiter can cost 
around £3000. The minor variation process is intended only for changes that will not impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives, such as the addition of low risk entertainment
provision. The process is quicker and cheaper than the full variation process, but there is still 
an estimated administrative cost to applicants of £35 and a flat rate fee of £89. People who 
wish to hold regulated entertainment on an occasional basis can do so by sending a 
Temporary Event Notice to the licensing authority at a flat rate fee of £21 and an admin 
burden estimated at £16 to the applicant.

8. There is no annual fee or premises licence fee payable for an application or variation for 
regulated entertainment in educational institutions where the entertainment is for and on 
behalf of the educational institute, or to authorise regulated entertainment in church halls, 
village halls, parish halls, community halls or similar buildings. Administrative burdens still 
apply in these cases.

Alcohol and Entertainment Licence Statutory Fees

Rateable value band Band Application 
fee

Full Variation 
fee

Annual fee

None to £4,300 A £100 £100 £70

£4,301- £33,000 B £190 £190 £180

£33,001 - £87,000 C £315 £315 £295

£87,001 - £125,000 D £450 £450 £320

Premises primarily used for 
alcohol

D £900 £900 £640

£125,001 + E £635 £635 £350

Premises primarily used for 
alcohol

E £1905 £1905 £1050

Other Fees

Description Fee

Temporary Event Notice £21

Minor Variation £89

Personal Licence £37

Transfer of premises licence £23

Copy of notice / licence / certificate of summary £10.50

Notification of change of details £10.50

Application for Provisional Statement £315

Interim Authority Notice £23

Notification of interest in a premises £23

Problem under consideration

9. The burdens imposed by the 2003 Act were justified by the need to prevent potential adverse 
impacts on the four licensing objectives: the prevention of crime and disorder; public safety; the 
prevention of public nuisance; and the protection of children from harm. However, stakeholders 
in particular from the music industry, but also from wider arts and sports bodies as well as 

Page 59



8

various charitable / third sector organisations, believe the requirements of the 2003 Act are 
unduly restrictive and burdensome in respect of performance of live music and there is some 
evidence of negative impact in deterring the staging of entertainment.

10.The Government considers that deregulating entertainment regulated under the 2003 Act would 
increase opportunities for such entertainment to take place, and is unlikely to have an adverse 
impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, as there are already other robust laws in 
place to safeguard the public and to provide remedy in the event of disturbance. The new 
arrangements would retain the key protections of the 2003 Act in relation to alcohol licenced
premises (such as the retention of licence reviews, which allow local residents and businesses a 
say in local licensing matters) and would dovetail neatly with other protections, rather than 
“double-regulation” of these low risk events that are at the heart of many local communities.

Rationale for intervention

11.The Licensing Act 2003 aimed to simplify processes and reduce red tape and bureaucracy. But 
the regime has led to a variety of entertainment events facing disproportionate and unnecessary 
regulation, even though they are unlikely to be detrimental to the licensing objectives.

12.Live music has often been the standout example of how the 2003 Act has inadvertently led to 
red tape for entertainment organisers, in particular in small venues which wish to put on 
occasional live music. However, we know from stakeholders that there are many other instances
where other forms of entertainment defined in Schedule 1 of the 2003 Act have been adversely 
affected. Some of these include:

Private events where a charge is made to raise money for charity

School plays and productions

Punch and Judy performances

Travelling circuses

Children's film shown to toddler groups

A school disco where children are charged a ticket price to support the PTA

An exhibition of dancing by pupils at a school fete

A costumed storyteller

13. There are also numerous areas of inconsistency when consideration is given to the types of 
events which can take place without a licence. For example:

Stock car racing does not need a licence, but indoor athletics does;

An evangelist can speak in a large arena without a licence, a licence would be required 
for a play in the same venue.

A performance of Morris Dance with live or recorded music accompanying it is exempt 
from licensing requirements, but not the performance of mime.

Other such activities which do not require a licence include country fairs and outdoor 
sport to crowds of fewer than 10,000 (5,000 for football)

14. We consider, using the football example as a bench mark, if events where 5,000 people or 
fewer are present are removed from the requirements of the Licensing Act, the necessary 
protection to address noise, crime, disorder, and public safety will continue because there is a 
range of robust legislation already in place, including Health and Safety at Work, Fire Order, 
Noise Nuisance, and Environmental Protection. Additionally, a licence will still be required for 
events at which alcohol is sold, where the risks to the public are higher, ensuring that controls 
still remain.

15. The relaxation of the licensing requirements for entertainment regulated under Schedule 1 of the 
2003 Act is consistent with the aims of Lord Young’s health and safety review, as well as Lord 

Page 60



9

Hodgson’s review into red tape affecting the third sector. In addition it will complement the Big 
Society proposals as it will lift burdens on community and small charitable events, with a 
particularly helpful effect on fundraising events in community and village halls (in so far as these 
activities fall within the definitions of the exemptions).

Policy objective

16. The objective is to remove unnecessary regulation and reduce the requirements and costs that 
deter venues, and users of Temporary Event Notices from staging entertainment. Ultimately the 
aim is to ensure that performers (including sportsmen and women) and the audiences that wish 
to attend events do not have their opportunities limited unnecessarily by licensing restrictions.

Options considered

Option 1: Do nothing i.e. keep existing licensing restrictions in place

17.The first option would leave the existing arrangements in place. The intention behind the 
Licensing Act 2003 was to encourage a wider range of live music in pubs, bars and other 
venues by simplifying entertainment licensing requirements.

18.However, there is some evidence that there has been a decrease in the performance of 
regulated entertainment. For example, a survey for DCMS in 20072 found a 5% decrease in 
the provision of live music in secondary venues due, in large part, to a decrease in provision 
in church halls and community centres. The existing burden of disproportionate and 
unnecessary red tape on entertainment venues can do nothing to improve the situation 
across all forms of entertainment.

19.As explained in the background, there are a number of inconsistencies which have emerged 
as a result of the 2003 Act. These inconsistencies can lead to confusion on the part of 
premises owners, event organisers and licencing authorities, for example it is still unclear 
whether circus performances are covered by the regulated entertainment in the 2003 Act,
with some licensing authorities requiring a licence for circuses, and some not. This lack of 
clarity can also extend to other types of performance, such as street performance and carol 
singing.

20.The “do nothing” option would not remedy these unintended consequences of the 2003 Act,
and there would continue to be unnecessary red tape for organisers wishing to put on low 
risk events, confusion and inconsistency, as well as inequality regarding the types of events 
which do or do not require a licence. A disincentive for venues to try out entertainment 
provision or to put on events at late notice would also remain.

Option 2: Remove all regulated entertainment, as defined in Schedule 1 of the Licensing Act 
2003, from the 2003 Act.

21. In 2009/10 there were 124,400 applications made to local authorities for temporary event
notices (TENs). We have assessed a sample of these and estimate that approximately 74% 
(92,000) TENS include entertainment in some form and would therefore benefit  from the 
deregulation either by becoming entirely exempt from licensing (about 16,000 of the total) or, 
where the event also required an alcohol licence (about 76,000 of the total), the process 
would be simpler. We also estimate 1,613 applications are made to local authorities annually 

2
http://webarc

hive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/%2B/http://www.culture.gov.uk/reference_library/research_and_statistics/4854.aspx

Page 61



10

for new applications and variations of existing licences in relation to regulated entertainment 
and a further 21,075 licences for regulated entertainment which are reviewed annually. The 
burden and cost of applying for, and processing these applications would be lifted.

22.We believe that most of the entertainment is of low risk to the key objectives of the Licensing 
Act 2003, much of disorder and public nuisance is caused as a result of alcohol, the sale 
and supply of which will still be regulated and subject to review. However, we appreciate 
there are risks that a blanket exemption could produce potential unintended consequences 
and would favour an option with greater consideration of risks. 

Option 3: Retain regulated entertainment as defined in Schedule 1 of the Licensing Act 2003 where 
audiences are 5,000 or greater, and for a small number of higher-risk forms of entertainment of any 
size.  (Preferred Option)

23. We have had a number of representations from licensing and enforcement authorities, as well 
as resident associations, with regard to a number of issues concerning a blanket exemption of 
regulated entertainment. One issue concerns regulating the size of an audience. We will ask 
specific questions in the consultation regarding audience size.

24. Further discussions with stakeholders identified certain forms of entertainment which are 
considered to be of high-risk to the objectives of the 2003 Act. In these instances, the burden of 
enforcement imposed by a full deregulation may outweigh the benefit of deregulation itself, we
will explore these in paragraphs 29-35.

25. At present, outdoor sports with audiences under 10,000 do not require safety certificates, the 
only exception to this is football, where there have been historical instances of public disorder,
and as such requires a safety certificate if the capacity is 5,000 or greater. In addition, the 
existing fees regime under the 2003 Act, which has been approved by Parliament, recognises 
that large events require additional work for local authorities to assess, manage and enforce 
risks related to this size of event therefore an additional fee applies for large events of 5,000 
people and over.

Indoor Venues
26. In terms of regulated entertainment in indoor venues, we estimate close to 100% of venues that 

could potentially stage regulated entertainment would have capacities of fewer than 5,000 
people, and therefore fall into the scope of the deregulation. However, the vast majority of these 
venues (particularly indoors) would still sell alcohol alongside any entertainment and as such, 
require alcohol licences, which will ensure premises and events are meeting the objectives of 
the 2003 Act. We believe that the larger the venue, the greater the likelihood that they are 
purpose built facilities for entertainment and therefore have an alcohol licence. They would also 
still be subject to the protection afforded by fire regulations, health and safety etc.

Outdoor venues
27. Outdoor events offer their own particular set of problems, especially in terms of limit the crowd 

size. We believe that most events of the type we intend are unlikely to reach close to 5,000 
audience size, however, where these do (in particular sporting events and live music) they 
would usually supply alcohol.

28. There are also large scale events which are not regulated by schedule 1 of the Act which attract 
significant crowds, which safely take place with only alcohol licences, or no licence at all (for 
instance funfairs, stock car racing and rugby or cricket matches) this not only highlights 
unjustifiable inconsistencies in the current legislation, but also that entertainment licences are 
not necessarily the driving force behind good practice in ensuring health and safety. We will test 
our proposal further in the consultation; however, we currently consider limiting the exemption of 

Page 62



11

the proposed regulated entertainment to audiences of less than 5,000 would maximise the 
benefits to business without serious compromise of the licencing objectives.

Limits on Boxing and Wrestling
29. Following pre-consultation discussions with the police and licencing authorities, we are not 

intending to deregulate boxing and wrestling, which are considered to be a higher risk than 
other sports, and as such are listed separately from indoor sports in the schedule 1 of the 
Licensing Act 2003. The two main risks we have considered are:

(a) There are significant health and safety risks attributed to competing in these events, and 
there is a concern that deregulating these forms of entertainment could lead to an 
increase in events happening under unsuitable conditions.

(b) Further, the Police have raised concerns about the risk of public disorder at such events.

30. Nonetheless we wish to explore options in our consultation, including whether a distinction 
should be made between largely commercial events and those which are governed by a 
recognised sports’ governing body. For the purposes of this impact assessment, we will make 
two assumptions:

There will be no adverse impact on enforcement, as we do not intend to deregulate 
boxing and wrestling in such a way where this will be an issue.

We believe the overall cost and benefit to business of licencing boxing and wrestling 
alone is relatively small and therefore we have not costed out the impact of deregulating 
or continuing to regulate such events as such figure are likely to be lost in the rounding -
we know from Licensing Data that there are approximately 5,100 (2.3%) of premises 
licences and club certificates which contain allowances to put on boxing and wrestling 
events, if we apply the assumed 10.4% proportion of Licences which are for regulated 
entertainment only (the calculation behind this is explained in detail in paragraph 49) then 
we can assume that 530 (0.25%) of premises would be estimated to have a licence for 
boxing and wrestling, without alcohol. 

31. In both instances, we would require further information from the Police with regard to the
estimate cost of enforcing an exemption of these events. It is certainly difficult to estimate an 
increase in new events taking place or for there to be an increase in disorder as a result of more 
events taking place. We will continue to seek further evidence on the potential cost throughout 
the consultation process.

Exhibition of film
32. Our overall aim is to remove the “exhibition of film” from the requirements of the Licensing Act 

Act 2003.  However, we would only do this once we have made changes, using other primary 
legislation, to mirror the existing age classification protections for children that are set out in the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Video Recordings Act 1984.

33. Removing “exhibition of film” from Schedule One in this way, whilst maintaining protections, will
end the current inconsistencies and confusion around showing recordings in schools and video 
in art installations, and will also benefit small, community film clubs too. So our proposal is to 
remove the current licensing requirement for film, but recreate a classification and enforcement 
mechanism elsewhere to ensure appropriate levels of protection without the need for a specific 
licence to exhibit film to the public.

34. Again, it is difficult to estimate the number of licenses purely relating to film. We know, according 
to figures provided by the Cinema Exhibitors’ Association there are 763 cinema sites across the 

Page 63



12

UK, consisting of 3,741 screens3, of these, many will include alcohol licences. Beyond this, we 
know that there are approximately 40,200 licenses which include film, of which an estimated 
4,180 (10.4% - see paragraph 49) would not include alcohol in their licence, which represents 
just 2% of the 202,000 total licenced premises. However, for the purpose of this impact 
assessment we have continued to include the savings to business of removing the licensing 
requirement of exhibiting film and, as we intend to keep statutory powers restricting entry to 
children, we have not assumed a burden of enforcement as a result of an increase in children 
watching inappropriate material as this should not be a consequence. However, we hope to use 
the consultation to inform our eventual policy decision, and should further costing be required as 
a result of this, which would arise from leaving exhibition of film as a licensable activity in the
2003 Act, we will do so in subsequent impact assessments on this matter.

Other Limits on the Proposal
35. Finally, most forms of entertainment such as striptease and pole dancing are covered by 

separate legislation governing sex entertainment.  However, premises which only hold such 
events less than 12 times a year are exempt from that legislation and the activity is instead 
regarded as performance of dance under the 2003 Act.  We do not propose to remove any 
licensing requirements from this type of activity and will ensure an appropriate definition remains 
in schedule 1 of the 2003 Act.  We have no data on how frequently these events are held, but 
believe that they are in nearly all cases likely to be at venues requiring a permission to sell 
alcohol.  We therefore do not believe that there will be any impact on the benefits to business of 
retaining licensing requirements in relation to this activity and, as such, no figures on the benefit 
or costs are included in the impact assessment.

Costs and Benefits

36. Costs and benefits will occur in each of options 2 and 3, however, these will be scalable 
depending on the type of activities that remain regulated in each scenario.

37. Due to its deregulatory nature, our proposal does not directly impose any costs. However, 
should it lead to an increase in noise related complaints and disputes, or public disorder, there 
may be potential for some additional costs for:

Licensing authorities dealing with additional reviews of alcohol licences;

Local authorities or police dealing with incidents; and/or

The general public in terms of wellbeing lost (although we estimate this will be 
significantly offset by wellbeing gains from increased opportunities to spectate and 
perform at entertainment events) 

38. However, it should be noted that the continued use of the Licence Review procedure under the 
Licensing Act 2003 for premises with an alcohol licence would continue to act as a powerful 
disincentive for premises to fail to comply with good practice, as conditions may be placed on 
their licence which could limit activities or result in the removal of the licence.  Also, any 
additional costs will depend on factors such as the success of preventative action (such as best 
practice guidelines for premises and threat of action under noise legislation) and the extent to 
which there are already out of hours services for dealing with incidents.

39. The proposal delivers direct benefits by removing the administrative burden of applying for a 
entertainment licence for a significant number of venues. In particular it will benefit:

Venues applying for Temporary Event Notices to stage entertainment;

Venues applying for variations to their premise licence or club certificate to add; and 
permission for entertainment or increase the provision where it is already permitted

3
http://www.cinemauk.org.uk/ukcinemasector/ukcinema-sitesandscreens/ukcinemasitesscreensandseats2000-2007/

Page 64



13

Potential venues that have no alcohol licence but wish to provide entertainment.

40. In addition there will be further benefits to other groups:

Significant cost savings for charitable and other third sector volunteer groups wishing to 
host events;  

Wellbeing gains for the general public should the exemption lead to an increase in the 
availability of entertainment; 

Venues, such as pubs, clubs, restaurants and hotels may also be encouraged to provide 
new and varying forms of entertainment to attract new customers and to diversify their 
business;

Cost savings for licensing authorities that will have to process fewer licence applications 
and assess fewer activities on applications for multiple activities; and

Increased opportunities for performers and sportsmen and women to perform.

Costs and Benefits to Businesses

41.The administrative burden lifted will be that currently borne by those applying to put on 
regulated entertainment which will become exempt. The following cost burdens at these 
venues will be affected:

(a) Temporary Event Notices (TENs) made purely for regulated entertainment.

(b) Variations to premises licences and club certificates, either to add permission for 
regulated entertainment or increase the provision where it is already permitted. Some of 
these are likely to be minor variations, particularly for increasing the provision of 
regulated entertainment where it is already permitted.

(c) The savings related to the costs of additional conditions that can be imposed 
following representations received during a variation application, or volunteered 
alongside a minor variation. We will not attempt to quantify this cost, as there are too 
many unknown variables. For example, in a small number of cases, conditions have 
been imposed that limit the number of performances. This will be a substantial cost in 
some circumstances but in other cases will have no impact at all (because there is no 
intention to have more than this many events in any case).

(d) A more innocent seeming condition is that of having to close doors and windows. This 
will usually have very little cost. However, in a rare case it may effectively require a 
venue to fit air conditioning. This cost is also different from the total cost of conditions 
relating to live music which already apply to venues licenced for live music. For similar 
reasons, these too are difficult to estimate because the conditions and their costs will be 
specific to each venue and many venues, particularly those with alcohol licences, will 
continue to make every practicable effort to apply these conditions, as good practice.

Voluntary Sector and Schools

42.In their 2009 inquiry into the Licensing Act 2003, the Culture, Media and Sport Select 
Committee were particularly concerned about the impact of the Licensing Act on the 
voluntary sector4. The process of applying for regulated entertainment licences is 
burdensome to many third sector organisations that are staffed by volunteers – besides the 
upfront £21 cost of the TEN, and related administrative time cost, the process is generally 
off-putting with the result that many events across the country have not taken place.

4
Para 56 of the 2009 report on the Licensing Act 2003 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200809/cmselect/cmcumeds/cmcumeds.htm

Page 65



14

43.Although there is no licence fee charged, there will be an administrative saving for 
community buildings and schools that no longer have to go through the process of making 
new applications, variations, or TENs in respect of regulated entertainment. Where this 
saving is made against time spent by public servants such as teachers, there is an extra cost 
saving element.

44.Furthermore, there are 27,340 schools and colleges in England and Wales. A very small 
number of schools have a premises licence, but the majority use TENs to hold events 
involving regulated entertainment. Based on figures provided by educational organisations, it 
has been estimated in a previous IA that schools use around 35,000-50,000 TENs per year 
for this purpose. We assume that some schools do not use any TENs because, for example, 
they take events offsite, use an associated premises, or because they do not hold events.
Schools are seen as a relatively low risk to disorder and public nuisance and freeing them 
from the burdens of the licensing regime on regulated entertainment would give schools 
greater freedom to explore the arts and put on public performances for the benefit of the 
school, the parent teacher associations and pupils.

Number of TENs

45.According to the most recent Statistical Bulletin, there were 124,400 TENs in 2009-105.
TENs may authorise the full range of licensable activities, including regulated entertainment 
and the provision of alcohol. While local authorities keep historical records of all TENs 
issued, the statistics on the reasons for individual TEN applications are not routinely kept by 
Local Authorities, for example, we cannot extract accurate data which ascertains the number 
of applications made purely for live entertainment, or indeed specifically by the type of 
entertainment.

46. In the Department’s recent impact assessment which looked at an exemption of small live 
music venues from the 2003 Act (referred in this document as the “live music impact 
assessment”)6, we estimated a figure of 25,600-34,100 TEN applications were made purely 
for staging live music in venues – this was based on responses to the 2007 live music 
survey and such data is not available for the regulated entertainment.

47.To calculate the number of venues using TENs to stage regulated entertainment, we have 
assessed a sample of 4,132 publically available TEN applications made to Local Authorities. 
Of these applications 634 (12.8%) were listed as being made for regulated entertainment 
only. However, if this figure is applied to the 124,400 total TENs in 2009-10 this estimates a 
lower limit of TENs granted for regulated entertainment alone as 16,000 (see table 1,
rounded to nearest 100). This figure is significantly lower than the lower bound estimate for 
live music. One possible reason why we believe that this is the case is that the live music 
impact assessment calculated the number of TENs based on the number of potential
secondary venues which could host live music events, whereas the data from local 
authorities represents historical figures of actual events that have occurred. It is likely that 
the upper-bound figure is more indicative of the number of venues that could potentially 
benefit from deregulation, thus staging more events, while the lower bound estimate is more 
indicative of the savings applied to the numbers staging events under the current licencing 
regime. This may in itself simply be in part an indication of the extent to which licensing 
requirements put off venues from providing entertainment. There are also a number of
further reasons why the two figures are different:

Methodology: Different methodologies were used in each impact assessment, from 
different data sources. In each case these were considered to be the most reliable forms 

5
http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/research/Licensing_Statistics_Bulletin2010.pdf

6
RPC reference: RPC11-DCMS-790(2)

Page 66



15

of data, given the lack of information breaking down licences by type The number of 
TENs is a relatively small sample size and represents only 3.32% of total TEN 
applications. We hope that we will be able to obtain more data throughout the 
consultation process.

Inconsistencies in the application process: a considerable proportion of TEN 
applications are for licenced premises which request permission for both regulated 
entertainment and the sale or supply of alcohol. In many cases there will be a legitimate 
reason for this (unlicensed areas of the premises, or an extension of hours), however, we 
believe that there is evidence to suggest that the phrasing of the question on the TEN 
form7 could lead to licenced premises erroneously applying for the sale or supply of 
alcohol, to ensure their event is correctly licenced.

Addition of alcohol: There are a significant number of unlicensed premises (such as 
schools and churches) applying for TENs for low risk regulated entertainment events and 
including alcohol in their application, even when there is no intent to supply alcohol in the 
first instance In doing so, there would be no extra cost to the applicant, but a saving in 
cost and administrative burdens should they wish to add alcohol at a later date. Should 
the process be simplified and entertainment is deregulated, we should see decrease in 
the number of TENs made by schools, church halls and community centres which include 
both supply of alcohol and regulated entertainment.

Minor Variations: Since the live music survey was conducted in 2007, the minor 
variations process was introduced, and allowed variations to be made to existing licenses 
for reasons including putting on of entertainment, while we estimate the number of 
variations to be small (247 –see table 3) these could each represent 6-8 TENs each (the 
assumption used for annual TENs per venue in the live music impact assessment) –
approximately accounting for 1,500-2,000 TENs.

Table 1. Calculating the potential number of TENs purely for regulated entertainment

Total number of TENs 124,400

Estimated proportion of these that are
purely for Regulated Entertainment 12.8%

Estimated number of these that are purely 
for Regulated Entertainment 15,956

48.While we have no strong evidence to disprove the range estimated in the live music impact 
assessment, given the further evidence from the analysis of local authority data we will 
assume a broader range from that given in the live music impact assessment of 16,000-
34,100.

Burden of Applying for TENs

49.The fee for a TEN is £21. The administrative cost of applying for a TEN has been estimated 
previously as £168. Table 2 below shows how these figures derive an estimate of burden 
lifted of £927k for venues.

7
The TEN form asks event organisers to “Please state the licensable activities that you intend to carry on at the premises” with a check box 

system for regulated entertainment, sale of alcohol, supply of alcohol on behalf of a club and the provision of late night entertainment. 
8

This is the calculated monetised value compiled using the Better Regulation Executive Admin Burdens Calculator 

https://www.abcalculator.bis.gov.uk/

Page 67



16

Table 2. Calculating the burden lifted on TENs purely for regulated entertainment

Fee burden per application £21

Total lower bound fee burden £336,000

Total upper bound fee burden £716,100

Admin burden £16

Total lower bound admin burden £256,000

Total upper bound admin burden £545,000

Total lower bound fee and admin burden £592,000

Total upper bound fee and admin burden £1,261,100

Total fee and admin burden (average) £926,550

Number of New Licences, Variations, Minor Variations and Annual Licence Fees

50.According to Licensing Statistical Bulletins there are approximately 202,000 premises 
licences in force currently in force, of which 36,000 do not include alcohol. As many of these 
could be for premises which serve late night refreshment (e.g. takeaways) we do not know 
for certain how many of these are for regulated entertainment.

51.Of the 202,000 premises licences, we know that there are 117,000 which include regulated 
entertainment and 81,500 that include late night refreshment. For the purpose of estimating 
the number of premises licences for regulated entertainment which do not include provision 
for alcohol, we have taken the estimated proportion of premises licences that include 
regulated entertainment (58%) and applied this proportion to the 36,000 premises we know 
do not include alcohol in their licence, we therefore estimate that 21,075 of licences relate to 
regulated entertainment only (10.4% of all licences). This is an oversimplified figure, which 
does not take into account premises which include both regulated entertainment and late 
night refreshment. Given that this type of license is only likely to represent a limited number 
of takeaways and restaurants which stage regulated entertainment that is not incidental and 
after 11pm, and the fact there are no better statistics available, we will also assume that a 
proportion of 10.4% to be approximately true in respect of premises licences and variations
purely for regulated entertainment. This proportion has not been applied to TENs as we 
believe a greater proportion of TENs are used for venues, such as schools, village halls and 
public spaces that only wish to put on regulated entertainment.

52.Of these 21,075 we have estimated that there are a further 8,096 licence holders that are 
subject to annual licence fees. This figure is derived from information in the 2009/10 
licensing statistics which show 12,979 licences held by public institutions, such as schools 
and hospitals, which are exempt from paying an annual fee. Such licences can only be 
exempt from licence fees if they are for regulated entertainment only. We have, for simplicity, 
deducted these 12,979 licences from the 21,075 total licences we have estimated are for
regulated entertainment only, as they do not impose a fee burden on business, showing 
8,096 licences which are for regulated entertainment only and do attract a licence fee.

53.Licensing Statistical Bulletins tell us that there are around 9,105 new applications for 
premises licences, 6,400 variations and 2,377 minor variations per year. Using our 
assumption that a proportion of 10.4% are purely for regulated entertainment, we estimate 
that 947 new applications, 666 variations and 247 minor variations per year, are for 
regulated entertainment only. 

Page 68



17

Table 3. Calculating the potential number of applications for new licences, variations and minor 
variations for regulated entertainment

Estimated number of new licences per year 9,105

Estimated proportion of new licences that are just
for regulated entertainment 10.4%

Estimated number of new licences that are just for 
regulated entertainment 947

Estimated number of full variations per year 6,400

Estimated proportion of full variations that are just
for regulated entertainment 10.4%

Estimated number of full variations that are just for 
regulated entertainment 666

Estimated number of minor variations per year 2377

Estimated proportion of minor variations that are 
just for regulated entertainment 10.4%

Estimated number of minor variations that are just 
for regulated entertainment 247

Estimated number of existing licences that are just 
for regulated entertainment 21,075

Estimated number of existing licences for regulated 
entertainment where an exemption from annual 
fees applies. 12,979

Estimated number of existing licences for regulated 
entertainment, where an annual fee cost applies 8,096

Burden of Applying for New Licences, Variations and Annual Licence Fees

54.In 2009/10 figures show that there were 16,273 new, and variations to, premises licences 
and club premises certificates across bands A to E, at a cost of between £100 and £1905. 
The average cost of applying for these licences has been calculated as £238. The cost of 
minor variations is £89 per application.

55.We have also calculated the estimated burden of venues applying for new licences and 
variations. We have estimated the average cost of fees at £238; this is based on statistics of 
the number of venues across each licensing band and the cost of a licence. In doing so, we 
have assumed that the same proportion of venues in each band will benefit from savings.
The Minor Variations Impact Assessment9 contained estimates that the administrative cost 
of a full variation is £385-£950. Some of the current applications made for the purpose of 
authorising regulated entertainment will be minor variations applications, the fee for this is 
£89, and the estimated administrative cost is £35.

56.We also have figures of the number of annual licence fees in each band in 2009/10, 
assuming an equal proportion of venues across each band that benefit. We have estimated 
an annual fee burden of £194 per licence.

57.Table 4, below, shows a total burden lifted for applying for both new licences and variations 
produces an estimated burden lifted of £2.6 million- £3.5million for venues.

9
Consultation on proposals to introduce a new minor variations process, and remove certain requirements at community premises, February 2008 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/LicensingconsultationJuly2008minorvar.pdf

Page 69



18

Table 4. Calculating the potential number cost and burden of applications for variations for 
regulated entertainment

Estimated number of new licences that are just for 
regulated entertainment 947

Fee Burden for new Licences (at £238) £225,386

Lower bound admin burden for new licences(at 
£385 each) £364,595

Upper bound admin burden for new licences (at 
£950 each) £899,650

Estimated number of full variations that are just for 
regulated entertainment 666

Fee burden for full variations (at £238 each) £158,508

Lower bound admin burden for full variations (at 
£385 each) £256,410

Upper bound admin burden for full variations (at 
£950 each) £632,700

Estimated number of variations that are just for 
regulated entertainment 247

Fee burden for minor variations (at £89 each) £21,983

Admin burden for minor variations (at £35 each) £8,645

Estimated number of licences for regulated 
entertainment where annual fee applies 8,096

Fee burden for annual licence fees (at £194) each £1,570,624

Lower bound total fee and admin burden £2,606,151

Upper bound total fee and admin burden £3,517,496

58. Adding together the burden lifted for both TENs and variations produces an estimated total 
burden lifted of £3.2million - £4.8million for venues.

59. For the purposes of OIOO we have estimated the average saving to business and civil society 
as £3.06million. This is just the saving from removing the burden to apply for new licences as 
well as full and minor variations. We have not included the savings from applying for TENs as a 
significant number of these will be for schools and therefore out of scope. While we understand 
that many applications for  TENS will be made by businesses and voluntary organisations, and 
indeed many of the instances of schools using TENS may be through voluntary organisations 
(such as Parent Teacher Associations), we cannot determine how much of the TENs savings 
would fall to each group and have therefore left all the savings out of scope. As such, the OUT 
claimed is a very conservative estimate. We hope that further evidence from the consultation will 
help us to establish a better figure.

60. Beneficiaries will also include those who do not currently provide regulated entertainment and 
are therefore not subject to a formal “administrative burden” but are nevertheless restricted by 
current licensing requirements. We have no means of accurately estimating how many 
beneficiaries may take advantage of the proposed exemptions, but this is a key group that the
change in the legislation is designed to assist, and will include:

(a) Premises licenced for alcohol or late night refreshment such as pubs, bars and 
restaurants that wish to provide regulated entertainment but do not because of regulated 
entertainment licensing requirements.

Page 70



19

(b) Venues (or, rather, potential venues) that have no licence but wish to provide live music. 
This could include, for example, scout huts, cafes, restaurants and record shops.

Estimated Burden of proposed exemption on Local Authorities and Licensing Authorities

61.By increasing the number of potential entertainment venues and, arguably, removing a tool 
for preventative action via a licence the proposal may increase the prevalence of noise 
complaints which local authorities will have to deal with. Local authorities are obligated to 
deal with disturbance under other legislation i.e. under the Noise Act 1996 local authorities 
must take reasonable steps to investigate complaints of noise between 11pm and 7am at 
licenced premises, and the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 requires local authorities to deal 
with noise complaints at licenced premises at any time of day. In addition, under Section 80 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA), local authorities must take "all reasonable 
steps" to investigate and prevent public nuisance, including noise complaints, and the EPA 
applies to both licenced and unlicenced premises. Many local authorities have out of hours 
noise nuisance teams to deal with complaints, while others rely on the police.

62. It should be noted that noise problems from venues are fairly infrequent. According to the 
National Noise Survey 200810 only 3% of those interviewed specifically identified pubs, clubs 
- or other entertainment venues - as a source of noise that was bothering them. Despite the 
size of the events we are proposing to deregulate, we believe that it is unlikely that
deregulation will give rise to greatly increased complaints or disturbance. We expect a 
majority of events (in particular those involving live music) will still be of a small scale 
attracting audiences of no more than 100-200 people, with larger events of up to 5,000 
people taking place less frequently in specialised venues. There may as audience size 
increases, be incidental noise when the audience enters or leaves the venue.  We also 
expect there to be a low risk of noise direct from wider regulated entertainment beyond live 
music such as plays and indoor sport, where much of the benefit will be seen at schools, 
village halls and community and leisure centres. Where there are noise related complaints 
about a venue they will either be dealt with by investigation by environmental health officers 
or, where there is an associated alcohol licence, by investigation by licensing authorities.

63.The Chartered Institute of Environmental Health (CIEH) provide figures on noise complaints 
from “Commercial / Leisure” sources for 2008-09. These breakdown the number of incidents 
that are complained of, the number of those that are then confirmed as statutory 
nuisances11, the number that lead to abatement notices and the number that eventually lead 
to prosecutions. The raw figures they collect reflect around half of local authorities so these 
have been grossed up to reflect the total population12. The figures are not disaggregated
beyond “Commercial / Leisure” which will include shops, restaurants, supermarkets, etc. that 
are not relevant to this calculation. Based on the National Noise Survey 2008 (3% 
specifically identified pubs, clubs or other entertainment venues as a source of noise that 
was bothering them, compared to a further 3% of those interviewed who are bothered by 
noise from commercial premises), we have, for the purposes of this impact assessment, 
assumed that 50% of the incidents reported by CIEH under the heading “Commercial / 
Leisure” can be attributed to pubs / clubs / entertainment venues. 

64.Finally, to establish the number of these complaints that might be attributable to regulated 
entertainment we have used the proportion of all premises licences and club premises 
certificates that include regulated entertainment (61%). The table below shows how this 
produces estimates for the number of noise incidents complained about, statutory 

10
http://www.environmental-protection.org.uk/assets/library/documents/National_Noise_Survey_2008.pdf

11
A statutory nuisance means that the noise is causing an unreasonable interference with someone’s use of their land or material discomfort to 

the population at large.
12

The figures have been grossed up without weighting for the size of authorities included / excluded

Page 71



20

nuisances, abatement notices and prosecutions attributable to live music at pubs / clubs / 
entertainment venues in 2008-09. That is not to suggest that every noise complaint at a 
pub/club/entertainment venue which puts on entertainment is due to that event.  However, in 
order to assess the possible impacts of the proposed exemptions, and in the absence of any 
specific data, this is a reasonable proxy for a starting baseline.

Table 5. Estimating the number of noise incidents complained about, statutory nuisances, 
abatement notices and prosecutions attributable to entertainment at pubs / clubs / entertainment 
venues in 2008-09.

Raw figures 
based on 
46.3% of 
local 
authorities

Figures 
grossed up 
to population

Attributable to 
pubs / clubs / 
entertainment 
venues

Attributable to 
entertainment 
at pubs / clubs 
/
entertainment 
venues

Incidents 17,763 38,391 19,196 11,693

Statutory Nuisances 3,904 8,438 4,219 2,570

Abatement Notice 670 1,448 724 441

Prosecutions 51 110 55 34

65.It is very difficult to estimate how the number of noise incidents suggested above might be 
affected by the proposed exemption. We estimate that it will only be a small increase, if any, 
because:

Most venues affected will also have an alcohol licence so may already be subject to 
general conditions relating to noise disturbance;

Some venues affected will have experience of putting on entertainment  under the 
current licensing regime and will already have in place suitable controls for nuisance 
noise which they will wish to retain;

TENs are currently not subject to scrutiny in advance because of noise nuisance (they 
can only be dealt with retrospectively) so this exemption will not change how they are 
enforced.

66.Of any increase in nuisance noise incidents we would expect that many would be related to 
venues with an alcohol licence. In which case it is likely that licensing authorities would deal 
with the complaint through informal procedures and, if necessary, the addition of conditions 
relating to noise on the alcohol licence through review. As such, we expect relatively few 
additional cases of noise nuisance relating to regulated entertainment to be processed by 
environmental health officers. For the purposes of this impact assessment we will estimate 
that there will be an increase of between 5% and 10%. This figure is the same increase as 
estimated in the live music impact assessment but applied to a greater number of venues 
where entertainment can take place, giving us an increased total burden.

67.The Department for Environment and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) have provided us with 
estimates of the costs of dealing with noise incidents as agreed with LG Regulation/
LACORS. They estimate that investigation of a complaint would take 10 man hours at a total 
cost of £506.30, serving an abatement notice takes 20 man hours at a total cost of 
£1012.60, and that processing a prosecution would cost £10,000. In terms of dealing with 
the majority of live music related noise incidents we believe that 10 man hours is likely to be 
an overestimate as they can often be resolved informally and more quickly. However, for the 
purposes of this IA and in the absence of alternative information we have used that estimate. 
Using the indicative estimates of a 5% to 10% increase in noise complaints dealt with by 

Page 72



21

environmental health officers we estimate this would produce a burden of £338k to £667k
per year, as outlined in Table 6 below.

Table 6. Estimating the burden on environmental health officers of increases in noise 
complaints

Increase of 
5%

Cost of 
Increase of 
5%

Increase of 
10%

Cost of 
Increase of 
10%

Incidents 585 £296,000 1169 £592,000

Statutory Nuisances 128 257

Abatement Notice 22 £22,000 44 £45,000

Prosecutions 2 £20,000 3 £30,000

Total £338,000 £667,000

68.As mentioned above, of any increase in nuisance noise incidents we would expect that 
many would be related to venues with an alcohol licence and would therefore be dealt with 
by licensing authorities. It is likely that this would be done through informal procedures and, 
if necessary, the addition of conditions relating to noise on the alcohol licence through 
review. It is likely that the threat of review will minimise the number of times that this is 
necessary and we would expect such a burden to be marginal. There were 2121 reviews of 
licences in 2009/10, split into four categories as shown in Table 7 below.

Table 7. Review of Licence by Reason, 2009/1013

Reason for review Number of reviews

Crime and Disorder 970

Protection of Children 485

Public Nuisance 444

Public Safety 222

69.Of these reasons for review it is likely that there will be no impact on protection of children or
crime and disorder as a result of the proposed exemption (the implications for crime and 
disorder are discussed in more detail below under the estimated burden on the police). 

70.However, there may be some impact on public nuisance or public safety due to noise or 
crowd issues. Again, we expect any impact to be small and most additional complaints to be 
dealt with informally. For the purposes of the live music impact assessment we estimated 
and increase in reviews of between 5% and 10%. However, given that we are estimate a 
greater number of complaints (approx. 42%) due to size of venues and deregulating wider 
entertainment, we believe that the increase in the number of complaints may filter down to 
an increase of 10-15% for regulated entertainment with audiences of fewer than 5,000 
people. Often reviews are conducted are for more than one reason so there will be some 
overlap between categories. However, it is not possible to separate them in the statistics so 
we have added together the categories of public nuisance and public safety for the purposes 
of this calculation. This means the figures quoted are an overestimate of the cost of a 10%
to 15% increase, meaning the burden is more likely to lie towards the lower end of this 
range. The cost to a licensing authority of carrying out a review has been estimated for 

13
Scaled up from those reported in the 2010 Licensing Statistics Bulletin based on 99% response rate 

(http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/research/Licensing_Statistics_Bulletin2010.pdf). Note that reviews can be for more than one reason so there 
is some overlap between the categories listed in the table.

Page 73



22

previous impact assessments as £1,20014. Using the indicative estimates of a 10% to 15%
increase in reviews we estimate this would produce a burden of £79k to £120k per year, as 
outlined in Table 8 below.

Table 8. Estimating the burden on licensing authorities of an increase in reviews

Increase 
of 10%

Cost of 
Increase of 
10%

Increase 
of 15%

Cost of 
Increase of 
15%

Public 
Nuisance 44 £52,800 67 £80,400

Public Safety 22 £26,400 33 £39,600

Total £79,200 £120,000

71.In total, the estimated burden on local authorities and licensing authorities, should there be a 
5-10% increase in noise complaints and a 10-15% increase in reviews is £417k to £787k.
This is the total potential change in enforcement costs. To offset this potential burden local 
authorities will no longer need to process applications, variations, or appeals for licences 
covering live music only, and will no longer have to process the live music element of an 
application that covers multiple activities.

Estimated Savings for Local Authorities

72.We know from 2009/10 licensing statistics that there are also 12,979 licences for other 
public institutions, such as schools and hospitals, which do not attract an annual licence fee, 
but attract a burden to licensing authorities to process. Most of these institutions will be Band 
A premises, and therefore attract an annual fee of £70. Based on the assumption that fee 
reflects the burden to local authorities, we assume the average of £70 admin burden lifted 
per application processed, which represents a saving to local authorities of £908,530.

73.Using available figures obtained from approximately half of local authorities, we have 
identified approximately 900 public spaces which are licenced for Regulated Entertainment 
(up-scaled to approximately 1,800 across all LAs). Each of these would place an admin 
burden on local authorities who are both applying for annual licence fee and processing the 
annual licence fee payments. While the admin cost of the annual fee payment to businesses 
has not been costed as it is considered to be relatively small, the cost lifted to Local 
Authorities of processing these (at £70 each) represents a further saving of £126,000.

74.Therefore, we estimate the total saving to local authorities is £1.03million. If this is netted 
off against the £417k to £787k cost for processing noise related complaints, we estimate a
total net saving to local authorities of £248k to £617k.

75.We believe here may also be further savings to local authorities which have not been 
costed. For example, we know from sourcing data on TENs that a significant number of TEN 
applications are for regulated entertainment events in public spaces (such as parks) and 
local authority buildings, these also place numerous burdens on Local Authorities, in 
particular as all TENs attract application fees. However, given the availability of data, it is 
difficult to estimate the number of these made purely for regulated entertainment with any 
degree of certainty.

14

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407120701/http:/www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/IA_exemptsmall_livemusicevents.pd
f

Page 74



23

Estimated Burden of proposed deregulation on the Police

76.Following discussions with the police and licensing authorities we are aware of concerns 
about proposals to deregulate entertainment and its effect on public safety, crime and 
disorder, in particular in relation to events at the upper end of the proposed audience limit. 
However, police representatives have previously indicated that the vast majority of live music 
events have no implications for policing or public safety and that problems of criminality are 
the exception15 and they have also indicated in discussions that other forms of entertainment 
in the act (excluding boxing and wrestling) are even less of an issue. We will continue to 
discuss concerns with police and will assess the impact of deregulation throughout the 
consultation process.

77.We consider that concerns about crime and disorder relating to entertainment events are 
mostly connected to events where alcohol is present. These proposals will not impede 
events where alcohol is sold continuing to require a licence. So that in most cases, the 
licensing regime for alcohol will provide sufficient incentive for event organisers to apply best 
practice and to work with the police to mitigate potential problems. In the event of 
disturbance the premises licence or club premises certificate can be reviewed and a 
condition altered or added to the effect that section 177 does not apply to it so that any 
condition relating to the provision of music entertainment will have effect. 

78.Premises which do not sell alcohol, such as community halls, schools, hospitals, cafes, and 
some restaurants do not represent a significant risk, and in any case will still be covered by 
noise nuisance legislation, fire regulations, and Health and Safety at Work legislation (which 
includes a duty to take reasonable steps to protect the public from risks to their health and 
safety). The combined legislation will ensure public protection and prevent potential 
problems through the risk assessments and duties imposed, rather than the layer of 
bureaucracy imposed by licensing. We will continue to seek evidence and to test how 
existing legislation, beyond the Licensing Act 2003, will continue to offer adequate 
assurances to the police and licensing authorities throughout the consultation process.

79. It is also worth noting that there are already many types of entertainment activity where large 
numbers of people gather in one place without an entertainment licence, including fun fairs, 
country shows, religious events, stock car racing, outdoor sport, and political rallies.

80.As we have previously explained in paragraphs 28-30, we are further considering the 
position on Boxing and Wrestling in the consultation.  Discussions with licensing authorities 
and representations with the police in relation to these events indicate a negative impact on 
the licencing objectives, in deregulating such events, particularly in regard to crime and 
disorder and the safety of competitors and spectators. We have not been able to ascertain 
the potential burden in enforcing an increased number of unlicenced boxing and wrestling 
events, as such, for the purpose of this IA, we are proposing that we do not deregulate 
boxing and wrestling, and as such, no further costs to the police will be imposed for these 
events as a result a change of policy.

Costs and Benefits to the Public

81.By removing the deterrent licensing requirements and costs, it will be easier for venues to 
put on events. Unlike live music there isn’t any evidence to predict the change in attendance 

15
In correspondence to Phil Little of the Live Music Forum Commander Paul Minton, Chief of Staff, Association of Chief Police Officers stated 

“The vast majority of live music events serve to provide considerable pleasure and social benefit without implication for policing or public safety. 
In a very small number of cases there is clear evidence of association of criminality with events or acts and that obviously needs to be dealt with 
as the intelligence and circumstances indicate, however, this is clearly the exception and not the norm”.

Page 75



24

from changes on licensing. The Live Music Survey 200716 found that 3% of venues that had 
not put on live music in the last 12 months stated that a change in licensing arrangements 
would encourage them to put on live music while 4% of venues that had put on live music in 
the last 12 months stated that a change in licensing arrangements would encourage them to 
put on more live music. Without better evidence we shall use these ranges (3% as the upper 
range) to predict the change in the following regulated events, unfortunately we are unable 
to predict the change in all event types.

82.Using the CASE model of engagement17 we can estimate how many additional people would 
attend an event as a result of the exemption. The most relevant variable in the model is the 
percentage of people for whom supply issues are not a problem, which is based on Taking 
Part Survey data. Based on the evidence above from the Live Music Survey around the 
amount of additional events that might be staged we have modelled a 1 percentage point to 
3 percentage point increase in this variable The change in attendance can be found below. It 
must be noted that these are only approximations due to difference in the definition of events 
and variables in the CASE model, therefore these scenarios should be seen as illustrative. 
Furthermore we can only predict the change in participation in 2 events due coverage. Plays 
have been increased by 1% and 3% (not modelled). 

83.The change results in  an increase in people attending live music at least once a year of 
122,000 to 354,000, performance of dance 109,399 to 328,199, plays 89,530 and 268,590. 
This does not take into account the number of people who already do attend once a year but 
will attend more frequently. 

84.This increase in attendance will provide significant enjoyment and social benefit for the 
general population. Evidence from the DCMS Culture and Sport Evidence (CASE)18

programme has shown that attending a concert provides a positive boost to subjective 
wellbeing (i.e. an individual’s perception of their own wellbeing) and that this generally 
increases the more often an individual engages. As an indicative figure, using data from the 
British Household Panel Survey it is estimated that the gain in subjective wellbeing from 
attending a concert at least once a week is about a third of that associated with being 
employed (compared to being unemployed). Even attending a concert just once a year can 
lead to an increase in subjective wellbeing equivalent to around a sixth of that associated 
with being employed. If we assume that same level of wellbeing can be attained through 
other activities similar to concerts then we should expect a wellbeing gain from increased 
attendance in other events. Furthermore any activities that increase sports participation are 
also likely to achieve a wellbeing increase and improvements in health.

85.There is also a potential cost to the general population if the proposal leads to an increase in 
noise nuisance from extra events. However, even if it is small there is the potential for 
impacts through adverse health effects, loss of productivity and annoyance to the public.

86.Paragraphs 60 and 61 establish that these events are not a significant source of noise 
problems. Only 3% of individuals identify pubs, clubs and entertainment venues as a source 
of noise that bothers them. Table 5 establishes an estimate of noise incidents attributable to 
live music at pubs / clubs / entertainment venues in 2008-09 and Table 6 provides indicative 
estimates of any potential increase as 5% to 10%. This is a very small number of additional 
noise incidents and given the protections put in place such as the ability to add conditions to 
an alcohol licence, or for environmental health teams to issue noise abatement orders they 
are likely to be isolated incidents that are not repeated.

16
http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/research/surveyoflivemusicdec2007.pdf

17
http://www.culture.gov.uk/what_we_do/research_and_statistics/7275.aspx#drivers

18
“Understanding the value of engagement in culture and sport” CASE (2010) http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/research/CASE-value-

summary-report-July10.pdf

Page 76



25

87.There is a substantial body of research into the health costs of noise. However, this work 
has focused on constant background noise, in particular from transport, as this is most likely 
to produce impacts on health and productivity. For example, the Interdepartmental Group on 
Costs and Benefits Noise subject group have produced guidance for estimating the health 
impacts and associated costs for increases in background noise for a full range of decibel 
levels19. The type of noise nuisance associated with live music, which is occasional and 
intermittent, has not been investigated and researched in the same level of detail and it is 
not possible to estimate costs in the same way. To some extent this reflects the fact that this 
kind of noise nuisance is seen as having far less risk to health and a less annoyance value. 
Having discussed this issue with the relevant team in DEFRA they have confirmed that there 
is no suitable evidence for valuing this type of noise impact.

Summary and preferred option

88.The preferred option is 3, to introduce a licence exemption for regulated entertainment, 
excluding boxing and wrestling, for audiences of fewer than 5000 persons. The proposed 
exemption would free numerous venues from the unintended effects of the Licensing Act 
2003 and free up venues such as public houses, schools, hospitals, restaurants and cafes, 
from the burden of applying for Licences to put on entertainment. As discussed in the 
section “Options Considered” we will continue to assess the situation regarding the 
exhibition of a film, or preferred option is to deregulate film.

89.Our preferred option is subject to testing at consultation stage, we are aware that in some 
cases the data used is incomplete and we will continue to seek further, balanced assurances 
in the consultation. However, making best use of the data available to us, we believe our 
current preference is the only option which best meets the policy objectives: 

- Of all the options, it achieves the largest cost saving (see below)
- The proposal does not impose any unreasonable burden on licensing authorities
- It achieves the greatest benefit by exempting performances for relatively small audiences 

and enables the majority of venues to benefit from the deregulation. 
- It balances the needs of entertainment venues and audiences with the interests of residents 

and licensing authorities, with assurance that deregulation does not affect the range of 
other safeguard legislation.

90.Our proposed option gives a net benefit (present value (PV)) estimate (as displayed in the 
summary sheet) of £32.8m-£43.2m. This is the net result, over a 10 year period, of costs to 
licencing authorities in enforcing public nuisance (£338k-667k) and conducting reviews 
(£79k-£120k), offset against savings to licensing authorities of not having to process 
licences exempt from annual fees (£1.0m) and saving to businesses and venues that no 
longer apply for TENs (£592k-£1.3m) and other licensing charges, such as new licences, 
variations and annual fees (£2.6m-£3.5m).

19
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/noise/igcb/publications/noisehealthreport.htm

Page 77



26

Annexes
Annex 1 should be used to set out the Post Implementation Review Plan as detailed below. Further 
annexes may be added where the Specific Impact Tests yield information relevant to an overall 
understanding of policy options.

Annex 1: Post Implementation Review (PIR) Plan
A PIR should be undertaken, usually three to five years after implementation of the policy, but 
exceptionally a longer period may be more appropriate. If the policy is subject to a sunset clause, the 
review should be carried out sufficiently early that any renewal or amendment to legislation can be 
enacted before the expiry date. A PIR should examine the extent to which the implemented regulations 
have achieved their objectives, assess their costs and benefits and identify whether they are having any
unintended consequences. Please set out the PIR Plan as detailed below. If there is no plan to do a PIR 
please provide reasons below.

Basis of the review: [The basis of the review could be statutory (forming part of the legislation),  i.e. a sunset clause or a duty to 

review , or there could be a political commitment to review (PIR)];

There is a political commitment to review the impact of deregulating regulated entertainment.

Review objective: [Is it intended as a proportionate check that regulation is operating as expected to tackle the problem of 

concern?; or as a wider exploration of the policy approach taken?; or as a link from policy objective to outcome?]

The purpose of the PIR will be to assess the impact of the deregulation, particularly to assess if there has 
been any unexpected cost, or negative impact on the licensing objectives (public nuisance, crime and 
disorder, public safety, and protection of children from harm), and to assess whether it has increased the 
provision of regulated entertainment.

Review approach and rationale: [e.g. describe here the review approach (in-depth evaluation, scope review of monitoring 

data, scan of stakeholder views, etc.) and the rationale that made choosing such an approach]

The review will monitor local authority data on licensing, police statistics, regulated entertainment event 
statistics, and consult with stakeholders in order to adequately assess the validity of concerns about costs, 
resources and crime and disorder.

Baseline: [The current (baseline) position against which the change introduced by the legislation can be measured]

The baseline for licensing statistics will be the DCMS Licensing Statistical Bulletin 2009-2010. Although this 
is being transferred to the Home Office and it is expected to cover less entertainment related statistics in the 
future it will continue to provide headline data on licence numbers, number of TENs, etc. The baseline for 
looking at attendance at live music events will be taken from the annual DCMS Taking Part Survey.

Success criteria: [Criteria showing achievement of the policy objectives as set out in the final impact assessment; criteria for 

modifying or replacing the policy if it does not achieve its objectives]

The overall objective is to increase the number of regulated entertainment events, without impacting 
negatively on the licensing objectives.

Monitoring information arrangements: [Provide further details of the planned/existing arrangements in place that will 

allow a systematic collection systematic collection of monitoring information for future policy review]

The DCMS annual Taking Part Survey will be used to monitor the prevalence of attendance at live 
music events. Local authority date on reviews and licensing statistics collated in the future by the Home 
Office will be used to monitor data on licence numbers, number of TENs, etc.

Reasons for not planning a review: [If there is no plan to do a PIR please provide reasons here]

Page 78



27

Annex 2: Specific Impact Test

Competition
The Office of Fair Trading published revised guidelines for Departments on the 
consideration of competition assessments in 2007. The guidelines state that, in 
relation to competition assessments, the following four key questions should be 
considered:

(i) Does it limit the number or range of suppliers
(ii) Does it indirectly limit the number of range suppliers 
(iii) Does it limit the ability of suppliers to compete
(iv) Does it reduce suppliers incentives to compete vigorously

The proposal promotes competition as it applies equally to all venues putting on 
regulated entertainment to audiences of few than 5,000 people. It will apply equally 
to every place that qualifies as a work place (including pubs, clubs, schools, 
hospitals, restaurants and cafes) as well as other potential venues, such as parks
and other public spaces. Therefore, the proposal will not limit or indirectly limit the 
number or range of suppliers, nor will it limit the ability of suppliers to compete, or 
reduce suppliers' incentives to compete vigorously. 

The current requirements are disproportionate and unnecessary for regulated 
entertainment events, which are, on the whole, considered low risk form to the 
licensing objectives. The requirements discourage the entertainment events being 
staged. The exemption will reduce cost and red tape and lead to more businesses 
diversifying their offer to include regulated entertainment, more opportunities for 
performers and sportsmen and women, as well as more choice for consumers who 
wish greater opportunities to enjoy the arts, film and indoor sport.

Small firms 
The main impact on small firms will be to reduce burden and allow greater flexibility 
in business operation. The stakeholder group set up to advise us on previous 
consultation proposals included a wide range of bodies which, to varying degrees, 
represent small businesses, including the Federation of Small Businesses, 
Association of Convenience Stores, Business in Sport and Leisure, Musicians Union 
and Bar Entertainment and Dance Association. None of these groups have advised 
us of any adverse impact of the deregulation proposals on small businesses. 

The 2006 Ipsos-Mori survey results showed that 38% of venues had a capacity of 
<100, while 30% of venues had a capacity of 100 – 200. Therefore the <200 limit 
covers more than two- thirds of venues. While we intend to go beyond this with a 
proposal of audiences of fewer than 5,000 people, small venues will still make up the 
majority of the beneficiaries.

There are real savings to be made by small firms from these proposals. The 
estimated administrative cost (in addition to the fee) of a new application or a full 
variation application is £385-£950, for a minor variation the estimated administrative 
cost is £35 (in addition to a £89 fee), while the estimated average administrative cost 
of a TEN (in addition to the £21 fee) is £16.Figures from the 2010 statistical bulletin 
indicated that 463 businesses would benefit from an exemption from the full 

Page 79



28

variation, 180 would benefit from an exemption from a minor variation and 16,000 –
34,100 TENs would now be covered by the exemption.

Health and well-being
The proposal should encourage entertainment for the benefit of society with no 
detriment to the objectives of the Licensing Act (the prevention of crime and disorder; 
public safety; the prevention of public nuisance; and the protection of children from 
harm). An increase in the provision of regulated entertainment will provide significant 
enjoyment and social benefit for the general population. While we do not have 
evidence for all entertainment types, evidence from the DCMS Culture and Sport 
Evidence (CASE)1 programme has shown that attending a live music provides a 
positive boost to subjective wellbeing and that this generally increases the more 
often an individual engages. Using income compensation figures the impact on 
wellbeing of attending a concert at least once a week has been estimated at £9,000 
a year. We would expect this figure to be broadly the same across all entertainment 
types. While we cannot estimate the increase in frequency of people attending 
entertainment events it is clear that even a small increase would deliver significant 
benefits for the general population.

Locally organised events also provide a boost to the Big Society agenda, creating 
local focus for community engagement and the opportunity for “bridge and bond” 
activity.   

Public health and well-being will continue to be safeguarded through the licensing of 
alcohol, and by applying existing legislation such as health and safety at work, noise 
nuisance and fire regulations. There is a potential increase in noise nuisance but we 
would expect this to be relatively small due to the other controls that are still in place. 
However, even if it is small there is the potential for impacts through adverse health 
effects, loss of productivity and annoyance to the public.

Justice system
The removal of the licensing requirement will result in the licensing authorities not 
being given prior notification about events, and there have been concerns raised 
about this leading to increased disorder, crime, crowd control and disturbance. 
However, the police will still be aware of many events through local intelligence and 
as most are advertised. Moreover, the greatest risks are at premises selling alcohol 
and such premises will still require a licence, which can address concerns including 
noise and disorder and lead to the application of conditions, or the removal of the 
entire licence,

Rural proofing
Village halls account for a significant proportion of premises that require an 
entertainment licence. The halls are often the hub of cultural life in rural 
communities, so that the proposal will make it easier and encourage activity in village 
halls for the benefit of the area. Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE) is 
a member of the DCMS stakeholder group and considers that the impact of these 
proposals on rural communities will be beneficial.

1
“Understanding the value of engagement in culture and sport” CASE (2010)

http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/research/CASE-value-summary-report-July10.pdf

Page 80



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD 

 

RESPONSE TO DCMS REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT CONSULTATION 

 

Proposal Impacts: Questions 

 

Q1: Do you agree that the proposals outlined in this consultation will lead to more 
performances, and would benefit community and voluntary organisations? If yes, please 
can you estimate the amount of extra events that you or your organisation or that you think 
others would put on? 

 

No. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people), the net ‘benefit’ for community organisations 
will be negative. Unregulated and uncontrolled entertainment events throughout the 
borough will lead to an increase in crime & disorder, public nuisance, child harm and public 
safety risks. The resources of community and voluntary organisations will be diverted from 
arranging their own events to ameliorating the effects of de-regulated events on their 
members/service users. 

 

Q2: If you are replying as an individual, do you think this proposal would help you 
participate in, or attend, extra community or voluntary performance? 

 

Not applicable. 

 

Q3: Do you agree with our estimates of savings to businesses, charitable and voluntary 
organisations as outlined in the impact assessment?  If you do not, please outline the 
areas of difference and any figures that you think need to be taken into account (see 
paragraph 57 of the Impact Assessment).  

 

No. The savings businesses, charitable and voluntary organisations will make from the 
removal of the existing low-level licence fees (which have remained unchanged since 
2005) will be out-stripped by the additional costs these organisations will incur by action 
the Council will need to take under other legislation to address crime & disorder, public 
nuisance, child harm and public safety risks at their own events. 

 

Q4: Do you agree with our estimates of potential savings and costs to local authorities, 
police and others as outlined in the impact assessment?  If you do not, please outline the 
areas of difference and any figures you think need to be taken into account.   

 

No. The costs to the Council will rise exponentially under your proposals. Rather than 
addressing crime & disorder, public nuisance, child harm and public safety risks at 
entertainment events through the (cost-effective) existing licensing regime, these issues 
will instead have to be addressed under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Noise Act 
1996, Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Children Act 1989. The use of these acts 
involve considerably more public expenditure. 
 

Q5: Would you expect any change in the number of noise complaints as a result of these 
proposals?  If you do, please provide a rationale and evidence, taking into account the 
continuation of licensing authority controls on alcohol licensed premises and for late night 
refreshment. 

Page 81



 

Yes. The majority of noise complaints, about commercial premises, relate to the provision 
of regulated entertainment. Under your proposals, the vast majority of existing 
entertainment would not be regulated and any amount of additional entertainment could be 
provided without restriction. The number of noise complaints will rise exponentially. 

 

Further, the Council’s controls in respect of alcohol and late night refreshment will not 
control entertainment. Any/all existing licence conditions which relate to the provision of 
regulated entertainment will be null and void. The Council could not impose any such 
conditions on new licences. 

   

Q6: The Impact Assessment for these proposals makes a number of assumptions around 
the number of extra events, and likely attendance that would arise, if the deregulation 
proposals are implemented.  If you disagree with the assumptions, as per paragraphs 79 
and 80 of the Impact Assessment, please provide estimates of what you think the correct 
ranges should be and explain how those figures have been estimated. 

 

We agree that the provision of regulated entertainment will rise exponentially under your 
proposals. 

 
Q7: Can you provide any additional evidence to inform the Impact Assessment, in 
particular in respect of the impacts that have not been monetised?  

 

You have not monetised the additional costs that the Council will incur, under your 
proposals, by addressing crime & disorder, public nuisance, child harm and public safety 
risks at de-regulated entertainment events under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
Noise Act 1996, Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Children Act 1989. The use of 
these acts involve considerably more public expenditure. 
 

Q8: Are there any impacts that have not been identified in the Impact Assessment? 

 

You have not monetised the additional costs that the Council will incur by servicing the 
exponential rise in the number of noise complaints we will received, under your proposals. 

 

Q9: Would any of the different options explored in this consultation have noticeable 
implications for costs, burdens and savings set out in the impact assessment?  If so, 
please give figures and details of evidence behind your assumptions. 

 

Yes. By retaining the status-quo (i.e. by not adopting your proposals), local residents and 
communities will be better protected from the risks of crime & disorder, public nuisance, 
child harm and public safety entertainment events. Further, the Council will be able to deal 
with noise complaints in the existing cost-effective manner (through attaching conditions to 
licences, reviews etc). This is the best result in respect of burdens and savings for the 
community and Council. 

 

Q10: Do you agree that premises that continue to hold a licence after the reforms would be 
able to host entertainment activities that were formerly regulated without the need to go 
through a Minor or Full Variation process? 

 

No. Under your proposals, any the Council’s controls in respect of alcohol and late night 
refreshment will not control entertainment. Any/all existing licence conditions which relate 

Page 82



to the provision of regulated entertainment will be null and void and will need to be 
removed from licences. 

 

The Role of Licensing Controls: Questions 

 

Q11: Do you agree that events for under 5,000 people should be deregulated across all of 
the activities listed in Schedule One of the Licensing Act 2003? 

 

No. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people), 

 

Q12: If you believe there should be a different limit – either under or over 5,000, what do 
you think the limit should be?  Please explain why you feel a different limit should apply 
and what evidence supports your view. 

 

The existing status-quo should be retained. 

 

Q13: Do you think there should there be different audience limits for different activities 
listed in Schedule One?  If so, please could you outline why you think this is the case.  
Please could you also suggest the limits you feel should apply to the specific activity in 
question.    

 

No. The existing status-quo should be retained. 

 

Q14: Do you believe that premises that would no longer have a licence, due to the 
entertainment deregulation, would pose a significant risk to any of the four original 
licensing objectives?  If so please provide details of the scenario in question. 

 

Yes. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people), the net ‘benefit’ for community organisations 
will be negative. Unregulated and uncontrolled entertainment events throughout the 
borough will lead to an increase in crime & disorder, public nuisance, child harm and public 
safety risks. The resources of community and voluntary organisations will be diverted from 
arranging their own events to ameliorating the effects of de-regulated events on their 
members/service users. The Council will incur, under your proposals, additional costs by 
addressing crime & disorder, public nuisance, child harm and public safety risks at de-
regulated entertainment events under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Noise Act 
1996, Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Children Act 1989. The use of these acts 
involve considerably higher public expenditure than under the Licensing Act 2003. 
 

Q15: Do you think that outdoor events should be treated differently to those held indoors 
with regard to audience sizes?  If so, please could you explain why, and what would this 
mean in practice. 

 

No. 

 

Q16: Do you think that events held after a certain time should not be deregulated?  If so, 
please could you explain what time you think would be an appropriate cut-off point, and 
why this should apply. 

Page 83



 

Yes. The existing status-quo should be retained. 

 

Q17: Should there be a different cut off time for different types of entertainment and/or for 
outdoor and indoor events?  If so please explain why. 

 

No. 

 

Q18: Are there alternative approaches to a licensing regime that could help tackle any 
potential risks around the timing of events? 

 

No. 

 

Q19: Do you think that a code of practice would be a good way to mitigate potential risks 
from noise?  If so, what do think such a code should contain and how should it operate?  

 

No. 

 

Q20: Do you agree that laws covering issues such as noise, public safety, fire safety and 
disorder, can deal with potential risks at deregulated entertainment events?  If not, how 
can those risks be managed in the absence of a licensing regime? 

 

No. They can’t. 

 

Q21: How do you think the timing / duration of events might change as a result of these 
proposals? Please provide reasoning and evidence for any your view. 

 

Yes. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people. 
 

Q22: Are there any other aspects that need to be taken into account when considering the 
deregulation of Schedule One in respect of the four licensing objectives of the Licensing 
Act 2003? 

 

The Government has legislated (under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011) to rebalance alcohol licensing to give more power to local communities, local 
authorities and the Police. 

 

Your proposals will rebalance entertainment licensing in favour of promoters and to the 
detriment of local communities, local authorities and the Police. 

 

Whilst your proposals will support your ‘Culture and Sport Evidence Programme’, your 
proposals are a clear example of two Departments (the Home Office and the Department 
of Culture, Media and Sports) not working together. Your proposals will cause a 
measurable reduction in the quality of life of local communities. 

 

Performance of Live Music: Questions 

 

Page 84



Q23:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of live music that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, how 
could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way? 

 

Yes. Your consultation assumes that no crime and no disorder occurs at entertainment 
events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of crime and disorder at 
unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that ‘noise’ is the only type of public nuisance that occurs at 
entertainment events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
nuisances other than noise at unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that a rave would cause no greater risk to public safety than a 
religious meeting. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
safety at unregulated events. 

 

Q24: Do you think that unamplified music should be fully deregulated with no limits on 
numbers and time of day/night?  If not, please explain why and any evidence of harm.  

 

No. See response to Q.23 above. 

 

Q25:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the proposal to 
deregulate live music? 

 

No. 
 

Performance of Plays: Questions 

 

Q26:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of plays that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, how 
could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way? 

 

Yes. Your consultation assumes that no crime and no disorder occurs at entertainment 
events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of crime and disorder at 
unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that ‘noise’ is the only type of public nuisance that occurs at 
entertainment events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
nuisances other than noise at unregulated events. 

 

Page 85



Your consultation assumes that a rave would cause no greater risk to public safety than a 
religious meeting. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
safety at unregulated events. 

 

Q27:  Are there any health and safety considerations that are unique to outdoor or site 
specific theatre that are different to indoor theatre that need to be taken into account? 

 

No. 

 

Q28: Licensing authorities often include conditions regarding pyrotechnics and similar 
HAZMAT handling conditions in their licences.  Can this type of restriction only be handled 
through the licensing regime?  

 

Yes. 

 

Q29:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the proposal to 
deregulate theatre? 

 

No. 

 

Performance of Dance: Questions 

 

Q30:  Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the 
performance of dance that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If so, how 
could they be addressed in a proportionate and targeted way? 

 

Yes. Your consultation assumes that no crime and no disorder occurs at entertainment 
events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of crime and disorder at 
unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that ‘noise’ is the only type of public nuisance that occurs at 
entertainment events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
nuisances other than noise at unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that a rave would cause no greater risk to public safety than a 
religious meeting. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
safety at unregulated events. 

 

Q31:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated the proposal to deregulate the 
performance of dance? 

 

No. 

Page 86



 

Exhibition of Film: Questions 

 

Q32: Do you agree with the Government’s position that it should only remove film 
exhibition from the list of regulated activities if an appropriate age classification system 
remains in place? 

 

Yes. 

 

Q33: Do you have any views on how a classification system might work in the absence of 
a mandatory licence condition? 

 

No. The status-quo should be retained. 

 

Q34:  If the Government were unable to create the situation outlined in the proposal and 
above (for example, due to the availability of Parliamentary time) are there any changes to 
the definition of film that could be helpful to remove unintended consequences, as outlined 
earlier in this document - such as showing children’s DVDs to pre-school nurseries, or to 
ensure more parity with live broadcasts? 

 

No. 

 

Q35:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to deregulating the 
exhibition of film from licensing requirements? 

 

No. 

 

Indoor Sport: Questions 

 

Q36: Are there any public protection issues specific to the deregulation of the indoor sport 
that are not covered in chapter 3 of this consultation?  If yes, please outline the specific 
nature of the sport and the risk involved and the extent to which other interventions can 
address those risks. 

 

Yes. Your consultation assumes that no crime and no disorder occurs at entertainment 
events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of crime and disorder at 
unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that ‘noise’ is the only type of public nuisance that occurs at 
entertainment events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
nuisances other than noise at unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that a rave would cause no greater risk to public safety than a 
religious meeting. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 

Page 87



boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
safety at unregulated events. 

 

Q37:  Are there any other issues that should be considered in relation to deregulating the 
indoor sport from licensing requirements? 

 

No. 

 

Boxing and Wrestling, and Events of a Similar Nature: Questions 

 

Q38: Do you agree with our proposal that boxing and wrestling should continue to be 
regarded as “regulated entertainment”, requiring a licence from a local licensing authority, 
as now? 

Yes. 

Q39: Do you think there is a case for deregulating boxing matches or wrestling 
entertainments that are governed by a recognised sport governing body?  If so please list 
the instances that you suggest should be considered. 

 

No. 

 

Q40.  Do you think that licensing requirements should be specifically extended to ensure 
that it covers public performance or exhibition of any other events of a similar nature, such 
as martial arts and cage fighting?  If so, please outline the risks that are associated with 
these events, and explain why these cannot be dealt with via other interventions. 
 
Yes. 
 

Recorded Music and Entertainment Facilities: Questions 

 

Q41: Do you think that, using the protections outlined in Chapter 3, recorded music should 
be deregulated for audiences of fewer than 5,000 people?  If not, please state reasons and 
evidence of harm. 
 

No. Your consultation assumes that no crime and no disorder occurs at entertainment 
events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of crime and disorder at 
unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that ‘noise’ is the only type of public nuisance that occurs at 
entertainment events. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 
boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
nuisances other than noise at unregulated events. 

 

Your consultation assumes that a rave would cause no greater risk to public safety than a 
religious meeting. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of 
regulated entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than 

Page 88



boxing/sexual entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). There are real risks of public 
safety at unregulated events. 

 

 

Q42: If you feel that a different audience limit should apply, please state the limit that you 
think suitable and the reasons why this limit is the right one. 

 

The status-quo should be retained. 

 

Q43: Are there circumstances where you think recorded music should continue to require 
a licence?  If so, please could you give specific details and the harm that could be caused 
by removing the requirement? 

 

Yes. The status-quo should be retained. Please see response to Q.41 above. 

 

Q44:  Any there any other benefits or problems associated specifically with the proposal to 
deregulate recorded music? 

 

No. 

 

Q45: Are there any specific instances where Entertainment Facilities need to be regulated 
by the Licensing Act, as in the current licensing regime? If so, please provide details. 

 

Yes. The status-quo should be retained. Please see response to Q.41 above. 

 

Unintended consequences: Questions 

Q46: Are there any definitions within Schedule One to the Act that are particularly difficult 
to interpret, or that are otherwise unclear, that you would like to see changed or clarified?   

 

No. 

 

Q47:  Paragraph 1.5 outlines some of the representations that DCMS has received over 
problems with the regulated entertainment aspects of the Licensing Act 2003.  Are you 
aware of any other issues that we need to take into account? 

 

Yes. Your proposals would allow any promoter to provide any type of regulated 
entertainment at any time in any place to any audience (other than boxing/sexual 
entertainment or events for 5,000+ people). 

 

The Government has legislated (under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011) to rebalance alcohol licensing to give more power to local communities, local 
authorities and the Police. 

 

Your proposals will rebalance entertainment licensing in favour of promoters and to the 
detriment of local communities, local authorities and the Police. 

 

Whilst your proposals will support your ‘Culture and Sport Evidence Programme’, your 
proposals are a clear example of two Departments (the Home Office and the Department 

Page 89



of Culture, Media and Sports) not working together. Your proposals will cause a 
measurable reduction in the quality of life of local communities. 

 

 

Adult Entertainment: Question 

 

Q48: Do you agree with our proposal that deregulation of dance should not extend to sex 
entertainment?  Please provide details. 

 

Yes. 

Page 90



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Licence applicants to give greater consideration to the 
local area when making their application 

What is the policy aim? 

As part of its commitment to rebalance the Licensing Act 2003 in favour of 
local communities, the Government is keen that licence applicants give 
greater consideration to the local area when making their application. 

Currently, as part of the licence application process, applicants are required to 
set out in the operating schedule accompanying their application the steps 
they intend to take to promote the licensing objectives.  Some licensing 
authorities have reported that this section of the application is often poorly 
completed, providing licensing authorities with very little information on which 
to make their determination.  Applicants also do not have to consider issues 
specific to the local area which they may need to address, and the onus is on 
the licensing authority to assess the potential impact of granting the licence on 
the local area. 

The aim of this proposal is to shift the onus onto the applicant to give greater 
consideration to the local area when setting out the steps they will take to 
promote the licensing objectives and to provide responsible authorities and 
the licensing authority with better information on which to make informed 
representations or determinations. 

How will this change be made? 

The guidance for applicants and statutory guidance for licensing authorities 
will be amended to require licence applicants, when outlining the steps they 
will take to promote the licensing objectives, to provide further contextual 
information to support the steps they intend to take and demonstrate an 
awareness of the local community in which the premises would be based.  
This may include contextual information on issues such as the local area’s 
social-demographic characteristics, specific local crime and disorder issues 
and an awareness of the local environment, although we do not intend to be 
prescriptive about the specific information applicants should provide.  We will 
work with the licensed trade to work out the best way to introduce this new 
requirement. 

What are the benefits to the local area of introducing this proposal? 

This proposal will ensure that greater consideration is given to local issues 
when determining licence applications.  The additional contextual information 
will be of significant value to licensing authorities, responsible authorities and 
other parties who are able to make representations with regard to licence  

Page 91



applications when making representations determining steps that may be 
required to ensure the promotion of the licensing objectives in the local area. 

How will licence applicants be required to demonstrate that they are 
considering the interests of the local community when setting out the 
steps they will take to promote the licensing objectives? 

Applicants will be required to provide contextual information as part of the 
licence application form on issues such as the local area’s social-
demographic characteristics, specific local crime and disorder issues and an 
awareness of the local environment which will be of benefit to the licensing 
authority when determining the application.  Specific local issues, such as 
crime and disorder issues, are likely to influence the steps that applicants will 
need to take to promote the licensing objectives in their own premises and 
applicants will therefore be required to demonstrate an awareness of such 
issues when setting out why particular steps will be taken to promote the 
licensing objectives. 

What information are licence applicants currently required to provide on 
the steps they will take to promote the licensing objectives? 

When preparing an operating schedule applicants are required to set out the 
steps necessary, if any, for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  In doing 
so, applicants are expected to have regard to the statement of licensing policy 
for their area and to be aware of the expectations of the licensing authority 
and responsible authorities in terms of the steps that are necessary to 
promote the licensing objectives. 

Will this create an additional burden on the licensing authorities? 

We do not expect this proposal to create an additional burden on licensing 
authorities.  Some licensing authorities have reported that applications often 
contain insufficient information on steps that will be taken to promote the 
licensing objectives, which can make it difficult to determine what action it is 
necessary to take.  This additional contextual information will be therefore be 
of significant value to licensing authorities when considering applications and 
should make it easier for them to make an informed determination. 

What were the main views of consultation respondents? 

When asked for suggestions about how the licence application process could 
be amended to require licence applicants to give greater consideration to the 
local area when making their application, respondents expressed strong 
support for licence applicants being required to give greater consideration to 
the local area and how any potential harm would be minimised. 

Page 92



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Making relevant licensing authorities responsible authorities 

What is the policy aim? 

The Coalition Agreement included a commitment to overhaul the Licensing 
Act to give local authorities and the police much stronger powers to remove 
licences from, or refuse to grant licences to, any premises that are causing 
problems in the local area.

What is a responsible authority? 

Responsible authorities are public bodies that must be notified of new licence 
applications, reviews and other licensing functions. They are entitled to make 
relevant representations to the licensing authority in relation to the application 
for the grant, variation or review of such a licence.

Current responsible authorities in the Licensing Act 2003 are: 

• The chief officer of police
• The fire authority 
• The health and safety authority 
• The local planning authority 
• The environmental health authority
• Bodies recognised as being responsible for protection of children from 

harm
• Trading standards officers 

What is a relevant representation? 

These are written representations, about the likely effect of the grant of an 
application for, or variation to a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
on the promotion of the licensing objectives. Responsible authorities and 
interested parties, such as local residents, make representations regarding 
licensing functions. To be considered relevant, representations must have 
regard to the potential impact of the licensing determination on the promotion 
of the licensing objectives. 

What is the proposed change to be made through the Bill? 

We will make licensing authorities responsible authorities under the Licensing 
Act. This will empower them to refuse, remove or review licences themselves 
without first having had to have received a representation from one of the 
other responsible authorities listed above.

Page 93



What are the advantages of giving licensing authorities this additional 
power? 

This proposal will ensure that licensing authorities are better able to respond 
to the concerns of local residents and businesses by taking the necessary 
actions to tackle irresponsible premises without having to wait for 
representations from other responsible authorities. 

What is the rationale behind this proposal and what evidence base was 
used? 

This proposal will enable licensing authorities to take the necessary actions to 
tackle irresponsible premises without having to wait for representations from 
other responsible authorities. The Home Office conducted a 6 week public 
consultation exercise with a wide range of sectors including representatives 
from the on trade, off trade, police, health bodies and interested 
organisations.

Won’t it mean that licensing authorities will be able to make a relevant 
representation regarding an application and determine the same 
application?

Yes. However, there is a precedent for this in the Gambling Act 2005 whereby 
different members of the licensing committee are required to fulfil different 
functions when determining an application. The Government has decided to 
follow this approach, and will specify in guidance that licensing committee 
members shall be allocated responsibility for different roles when determining 
a licence application. This will ensure that the same licensing officer is not 
responsible for acting as a responsible authority and making a determination 
on an application. Any actions taken will need to be justified on the basis of 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Main views of consultation respondents 

A large number of consultation respondents supported this proposal, with 
some raising concerns this could lead to procedural unfairness. However, we 
are confident that this will not be the case since there will be a separation of 
responsibilities within the licensing authority to ensure the functions of acting 
as a responsible authority and determining the application cannot be 
exercised by the same individual. This regime is similar to that which operates 
effectively under the Gambling Act 2005. 

Page 94



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Making local health bodies responsible authorities

What is a responsible authority? 

Responsible authorities within the Licensing Act 2003 include police, fire 
authorities, health and safety authorities, local planning authorities, 
environmental health, bodies responsible for protecting children from harm 
and any licensing authorities (other than the relevant licensing authority) in 
whose area a premises is situated.

Responsible authorities are able to make relevant representations regarding 
new licence applications and request reviews of existing licences. To be 
considered relevant, representations must have regard to the potential impact 
of the licensing determination on the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Responsible authorities have significant power within the Licensing Act 2003 
as the licensing authority must hold a hearing to consider any relevant 
representations made and must consider these representations when making 
its determination. A relevant representation could lead to conditions being 
imposed upon the licence, or the licence being refused or revoked.  

What are the key changes that will be made through the Bill? 

We will make local health bodies responsible authorities. This will include a 
Primary Care Trust or, in Wales, a Local Health Board for an area any part of 
which is in the licensing authority’s area 

What does health have to do with licensed premises? 

Drunkenness can lead to accidents and injuries, which cause A&E 
attendances. These incidents are often traceable to individual premises and 
fall under the ‘Public Safety’ objective in the Licensing Act. 

There is some evidence that the density of premises and the hours of sale in 
an area can also influence the local population’s alcohol consumption and the 
level of alcohol-related ill health, over time.  

What are the intentions of these policies? 

At present, the determination of licensing decisions gives little consideration to 
the views of local health bodies as they are not included as responsible 
authorities in the Licensing Act. This means that they are unable to make 
representations to the local licensing authorities regarding concerns about the 
impact of new licensed premises on the local NHS (primarily A&E  

Page 95



departments and ambulance services) or more generally the safety of the 
public within the night-time economy. 

Making health bodies responsible authorities will ensure that the safety of the 
public within the night time economy is taken into consideration for new and 
existing licence applications. 

What were the main views of the consultation respondents? 

Consultation respondents were broadly supportive of this proposal and 
recognised the value of considering information such as local A&E statistics 
when making licensing determinations although some respondents 
questioned the ability of health bodies to provide representations specific to 
individual premises. Whilst we acknowledge this, we believe it is vital for 
Primary Care Trust’s and Local Health Bodies to be able to influence licensing 
decisions by making relevant representations. Such impacts may include 
public safety issues, reflected in stretching A&E resources and over-
burdening of staff. These representations will still need to be made in relation 
to the existing licensing objectives and we are confident that local health 
bodies will be able to do this.

We also see merit in the proposal to make the prevention of health harm a 
material consideration in the Licensing Act 2003. We want to ensure that this 
is considered alongside wider work to address the harm of alcohol to health. 
Accordingly, we do not intend to legislate at this stage but will consider the 
best way to do so in the future. 

Page 96



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Reducing the burden of proof on licensing authorities 

What is the policy aim? 

The Coalition Agreement included a commitment to overhaul the Licensing 
Act 2003 to give local authorities and the police much stronger powers to 
remove licences from, or refuse to grant licences to, any premises that are 
causing problems in the local area.  

What is burden of proof? 

When making decisions on new and existing licences, and fulfilling their 
licensing responsibilities, licensing authorities are currently required under the 
Licensing Act 2003 to demonstrate that these decisions are ‘necessary’ for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives in their local area. 

The four licensing objectives are: 

• The prevention of crime and disorder; 

• Public safety; 

• The prevention of public nuisance; 

• The protection of children from harm. 

The requirement to demonstrate that their actions are ‘necessary’ places a 
significant evidential burden on the licensing authority to prove that no lesser 
steps would suffice for the promotion of the licensing objectives in the local 
area. This is a consequence of statutory references to actions having to be 
“necessary”, and which is therefore reflected in statutory guidance, and has 
become custom and practice. The guidance states that licensing authorities 
should ensure that any conditions that they impose are only those which are 
necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives, which means that they 
must not go further than what is needed for that purpose.  

What are the proposed changes to be made through the Bill? 

The wording will be amended throughout the Licensing Act 2003 to lower the 
evidential threshold which licensing authorities must meet when making 
licensing decisions by requiring that they make decisions which are 
‘appropriate’ rather than necessary for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. This will, for example, give licensing authorities greater power to 
tackle irresponsible premises. 

Page 97



How is appropriate defined? What is the difference between a change 
being necessary and appropriate? 

The statutory guidance will be amended to provide licensing authorities with 
advice on how to determine if an action is ‘appropriate’. Licensing authorities 
will be required to demonstrate that their actions are ‘appropriate’ to promote 
the licensing objectives in that the actions are suitable for the particular 
condition, occasion or place.  This provides some flexibility to consider the 
effects of the decision on the promotion of the objectives. The current 
requirement to demonstrate that actions are ‘necessary’ requires that 
licensing authorities demonstrate that no lesser steps would suffice for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in their area which is a greater evidential 
hurdle. 

A decision that is ‘appropriate’ for the promotion of the licensing objectives 
provides some flexibility to consider the effects of the decision on the 
promotion of the objectives. It may therefore be decided to take steps that are 
suitable for, rather than necessary to, the promotion of the objectives. It 
provides an element to deal with reluctance or resistance, to enable local 
communities to assert themselves properly in relation to this particular 
approach.  

Won’t reducing the burden of proof for licensing authorities mean they 
can make whatever decision they want without having to justify it? 

No. Under the new proposals licensing authorities will still have to justify that 
any action they take is ‘appropriate’ for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, and consider relevant representations from other responsible 
authorities and interested parties. Determinations will still have to be evidence 
based, limited to the parameters set by the licensing objectives and have 
regard to the impact of other legal responsibilities on the employer or 
operator; whether any conditions being imposed can feasibly be met and the 
impact of the conditions on promoting other licensing objectives. 

Main views of consultation respondents 

This proposal was supported by large numbers of respondents. Respondents 
were keen to ensure that appropriate safeguards were in place to ensure that 
all decisions were fair. Whilst the evidential hurdle is being lowered, 
determinations will still have to be evidence based and give regard to the 
impact of other legal responsibilities on the employer or operator; whether any 
conditions being imposed can feasibly be met and the impact of the conditions 
on promoting other licensing objectives. 

Page 98



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Increase the weight licensing authorities will have to give to 
relevant representations and objection notices from the police 

What is a relevant representation? 

These are written representations, about the likely effect of the grant of an 
application for, or variation to a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
on the promotion of the licensing objectives. Responsible authorities and 
interested parties, such as local residents, make representations regarding 
licensing functions. To be considered relevant, representations must have 
regard to the potential impact of the licensing determination on the promotion 
of the licensing objectives. 

The four licensing objectives are: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 

 Public safety; 

 The prevention of public nuisance; 

 The protection of children from harm. 

For a representation to be relevant it must be centred around the likely effect 
of the application on the promotion of one or more of the four licensing 
objectives.

What is the policy aim? 

When determining an application for a premises licence, an application for a 
licence review or the granting of a personal licence, the licensing authority 
must have regard to relevant representations or objection notices (in the case 
of personal licence applications) from the chief officer of police. 

We propose to strengthen the weight that licensing authorities must give to 
police representations (including those voiced by the police at a hearing) and 
objection notices by amending the statutory guidance to require licensing 
authorities to accept all representations and notices and adopt all 
recommendations from the police, unless there is clear evidence that these 
are not relevant. 

Why should police representations be given more weight than those 
from other responsible authorities? 

We want to reduce alcohol related crime and disorder and the police have a 
wealth of experience in relation to this. Too often police evidence is dismissed

Page 99



by counter objections from other interested parties. 

However, it is vital that licensing authorities consider relevant representations
on the impact of crime and disorder from all responsible authorities.

Does this mean that the licensing authority will have to accept all 
representations and objection notices from the police? 

No. Licensing Authorities will make licensing decisions based on all the 
evidence that they have available.  

Why is this only being taken forward in statutory guidance? 

The policy objective can be achieved through statutory guidance; otherwise 
this would make primary legislation unnecessarily burdensome. 

Page 100



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Increase the opportunities for local residents or their 
representative groups to be involved in licensing decisions by 
removing the vicinity test for interested parties 

Who is an ‘interested party’? 

The Licensing Act 2003 allows local residents to raise concerns regarding 
new licence applications or existing licensed premises. Local residents are 
classed as interested parties under the Licensing Act 2003, and as such are 
able to make relevant representations to licensing authorities about the impact 
of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives in their area.   

Interested parties are defined within the Licensing Act 2003 as: 

• A person living in the vicinity of the premises  
• A body (e.g. a residents association) representing people that live in 

that vicinity  
• A person involved in a business in the vicinity of the premises  
• A body (e.g. a trade association) representing people involved in 

businesses in the ‘vicinity’ of the premises  

What is vicinity? 

The Licensing Act 2003 does not define ‘vicinity’. Under current legislation 
licensing authorities use their discretion to set the ‘vicinity’ in their licensing 
area. This means that local residents living in the ‘vicinity’ can make a 
representation to the licensing authorities as an interested party. Local 
residents who live outside the ‘vicinity’ of licensed premises will be unable to 
make a representation as an interested party even if they may be able to 
justify that they are affected by those licensed premises. 

What is the policy aim? 

We will reduce any uncertainty amongst residents or other persons as to 
whether or not they are in the ‘vicinity’ of a premises, and therefore whether 
they are able to make relevant representations. This will be achieved by 
removing the requirement to show ‘vicinity’. This means that any person, body 
or business will be able to make a relevant representation in relation to a 
premises, regardless of their geographic proximity. 

What is the proposed change to be made through the Bill? 

We will remove the ‘vicinity’ test.  Given that interested parties are defined 
with reference to ‘vicinity’, this term will become redundant and the definition 
of interested parties will be removed from the Licensing Act 2003. 

Page 101



In addition, we will introduce a requirement to publish key information on 
licence applications on the relevant licensing authority’s website. This will 
ensure that interested parties are aware of new (and other) licence 
applications and have access to the relevant information.  

Doesn’t removing the ‘vicinity’ test mean that anyone will have the right 
to make a relevant representation on a licensing application? Won’t this 
just place an increased burden on licensing authorities to have to deal 
with unnecessary representations? 

No, representations will still need to be relevant and relate to one or more of 
the licensing objectives. Existing safeguards to protect against vexatious, 
frivolous or repetitious representations will also still be in place.  

Doesn’t this proposal mean that competitors will be able to make 
representations against new premises that might introduce more 
competition into the local area? 

Businesses, residents and bodies will be entitled to make representations 
against (or for) a new or existing premises licence. However, they will need to 
demonstrate that their representations relate to the promotion of one or more 
of the licensing objectives.  A representation submitted on the basis of local 
competition would not be relevant and may be considered ‘vexatious’ by the 
licensing authority. 

Main views of consultation respondents 

Although criticisms were raised during the consultation that this proposal 
could lead to an increase in frivolous and vexatious representations, many 
respondents welcomed greater community involvement in the licensing 
process and acknowledged that licensed premises can have an effect beyond 
their immediate ‘vicinity’. Whilst we understand the concern raised by 
respondents, we will mitigate any adverse impacts by amending the guidance 
to set out more clearly what is classed as relevant, frivolous and vexatious 
representation. We believe that this proposal will encourage greater 
community involvement in local licensing decisions.

Page 102



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Lower the evidential hurdle for Cumulative Impact Policies to 
allow licensing authorities to have more control over outlet 
density 

What is a Cumulative Impact Policy? 

Cumulative Impact Policies were introduced as a tool for licensing authorities 
to limit the growth of licensed premises in a problem area.  This is set out in 
the statutory guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 

When is a Cumulative Impact Policy used? 

At present, Cumulative Impact Policies can only be applied by a licensing 
authority to an application for a licence when it has received relevant 
representations from a responsible authority, or interested party, on the 
potential cumulative impact of the grant of the application in question.  
Responsible authorities under the Licensing Act 2003 include (but are not 
limited to) police, fire authorities, health and safety authorities, local planning 
authorities, environmental health, bodies responsible for protecting children 
from harm and any licensing authorities (other than the relevant licensing 
authority) in whose area a premises is situated.  

How does a licensing authority implement a Cumulative Impact Policy? 

The licensing authority will set out the detail of its Cumulative Impact Policy in 
its Licensing Policy Statement.  Before implementing a Cumulative Impact 
Policy, a licensing authority will usually conduct a consultation exercise and 
consider the effect that additional premises will have on the cumulative 
impact. 

What changes are proposed through the Bill? 

The statutory guidance governing Cumulative Impact Policies will be more 
focused on local needs and easier for licensing authorities to implement.  This 
will reduce the evidential requirement on licensing authorities.  This will give 
greater weight to the view of local people as the licensing authority will not be 
constrained by the requirement to provide detailed additional evidence where 
such evidence is unavailable. 

Why isn’t this being taken forward in primary legislation? 

Cumulative Impact Policies are currently set out in guidance and at present 
we do not see a need to put this forward through legislation. 

Page 103



What were the main views of consultation respondents? 

Having listened to the views of consultation respondents, we will ensure that 
the statutory guidance sets out clearly how Cumulative Impact Policies should 
be used to ensure that these are implemented fairly. 

Page 104



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Give more autonomy to licensing authorities regarding 
closing times 

What are flexible opening hours? 

The previous Government introduced 24 hour alcohol licences, with the 
intention of allowing premises to adopt flexible opening hours. The objective 
was that consideration would be given to the impact of opening hours on local 
residents and businesses. 

However, the introduction of 24 hour alcohol licences discouraged the use of 
provisions contained in the Licensing Act 2003 such as staggered closing 
times, zoning and fixed closing times: 

Staggered closing times 

With staggered closing times licensing authorities are given the power to 
impose different closing times for different premises to spread the closing 
times in an area over the course of an evening. In situations where a licensing 
authority decides to impose this it will help ensure that people leave pubs and 
clubs over a longer period of time, rather than all premises closing at the 
same time with a large number of people ending up on the street at the same 
point.

Zoning

Under this measure licensing authorities are able to prevent premises from 
opening beyond a time that they choose within certain zones in their area 
while all other parts of their area remain unaffected. For example, a licensing 
authority will be able to decide that an area which is largely residential should 
not have any premises opening beyond the hours of midnight, while still 
allowing later opening premises to exist in other zones in their area, such as 
town centres.

Fixed closing times 

Fixed closing times can be enforced by the licensing authorities in designated 
areas where there are issues with crime and disorder and noise disruption. By 
setting fixed closing times a premises will need to close by a time as specified 
by the licensing authority. This prevents noise and disruption late in the 
evening.

What are the proposed changes through the Bill? 

We will amend Section 182 of the statutory guidance to make it clear to local 
authorities that they can make decisions about the most appropriate licensing

Page 105



strategy for their area. Licensing authorities will be encouraged to consider 
using measures including fixed closing times, staggered closing times and 
zoning. 

This change acknowledges the fact that different licensing approaches may 
be best for different areas and will empower licensing authorities to implement 
a licensing strategy that is best placed to meet the needs of their local area, 
based on their local knowledge. 

What are the benefits of this proposal? 

The rationale behind 24 hour licensing was that, with an extension of opening 
hours, concentrations of people leaving licensed premises at a set time 
should be reduced, with people dispersing more gradually from licensed 
premises at their different closing times. To this effect, in Section 182 of the 
guidance issued alongside the Licensing Act 2003, local areas were actively 
discouraged from implementing measures that could reduce this flexibility 
such as fixed closing times, staggered closing times, and zoning (where fixed 
closing hours are set within a designated area). This proposal will provide the 
licensing authorities with different options to use to manage the dispersal of 
people from premises and will minimise disruption as well as crime and 
disorder.

What is the rationale behind this change? 

The present Government is committed to empowering licensing authorities 
and local communities to tackle alcohol related crime in their area. The 
change in the Government’s policy on fixed and staggered closing times and 
zoning reflects this change in emphasis, as it gives licensing authorities 
greater autonomy over closing times in their area.

What evidence is there that fixed closing times/ staggered closing times/ 
zoning help to reduce alcohol-related crime and disorder and public 
nuisance? 

This power is about giving licensing authorities the right to decide to take 
control of closing times in their area based on local evidence. Many local 
communities and licensing authorities do not want premises opening late in 
their area, or would like certain parts of their local area to not have any late 
opening premises in them. This is linked to the impact that people leaving a 
premises late at night has on problems such as creating noise which disturbs 
local people.

We appreciate that this is not the case in every local authority area, but in 
cases where licensing authorities have evidence that existing closing times 
are causing problems in their areas we feel it is right that they should be able 
to take action to tackle these problems.  

Page 106



Won’t allowing licensing authorities to use methods such as fixed and 
staggered closing times and zoning result in unfair restrictions on 
responsible retailers? 

We believe that local licensing authorities are the best placed and most 
informed people to make decisions on what times premises close in their 
area. For this reason, we believe they should be given discretion to impose 
fixed closing times if they feel it is appropriate.

When considering the option of imposing fixed closing times the licensing 
authority will need to consider the possible effects this would have on factors 
such as many people leaving premises simultaneously and to consider taking 
action to mitigate any problems this may cause.

What were the main views of consultation respondents on this 
proposal?

This proposal received widespread support in consultation responses.  

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Extend Early Morning Restriction Orders so they can be 
applied flexibly between midnight and 6am 

What is the policy aim? 

The Coalition Agreement included a commitment to overhaul the Licensing 
Act 2003 to give local authorities and the police much stronger powers to 
remove licences from, or refuse to grant licences to, any premises that are 
causing problems in the local area.  

The intention of these policy proposals is to extend the flexibility of Early 
Morning Restriction Orders to provide licensing authorities with an additional 
tool to shape and determine local licensing. 

What is an Early Morning Restriction Order? 

An Early Morning Restriction Order is an uncommenced power within the 
Licensing Act 2003 that will allow licensing authorities to restrict sales of 
alcohol in the whole or a part of their areas for any specified period between 
3am and 6am if they consider this appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. This applies to premises licences, club premises 
certificates and temporary event notices. 

What are the key changes that will be made through the Bill? 

1. We will amend the provisions with regard to Early Morning Restriction 
Orders in the Licensing Act 2003 to allow licensing authorities to decide 
which hours they would like to prevent premises from selling alcohol, 
between 12am and 6am, in accordance with what they consider to be 
most appropriate for their local area. 

2. Licensing authorities will be able to make Early Morning Restriction 
Orders if they consider this to be appropriate (and not necessary, as 
they must do now) for the promotion of the objectives. 

What are the intentions of these policies? 

Many residents and resident groups have told us that the night-time economy 
makes certain parts of the town no-go areas at night and anti-social behaviour 
associated with late night drinking extends into residential communities not 
just around licensed premises. We are committed to ensuring that licensing 
authorities and enforcement agencies are given the right  tools to address the 
problems in their area whilst promoting a healthy night-time economy to 
benefit business and the community that they serve. 

Page 109



What evidence will licensing authorities need to make an Early Morning 
Restriction Order? 

The licensing authority will need to be satisfied that an EMRO is appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives in a particular area. 

Won’t allowing licensing authorities to impose Early Morning Restriction 
Orders result in unfair restrictions on responsible retailers? 

Licensing authorities will have to advertise the proposed order and hold a 
hearing to consider any representations before making an Order.  This gives 
responsible retailers an opportunity to submit evidence against an Early 
Morning Restriction Order being imposed.  It will also be possible to exempt 
certain types of premises from Early Morning Restriction Orders in secondary 
legislation. These would typically include premises such as hotels and casinos 
that generally operate responsibly and do not contribute to alcohol related 
crime and disorder and public nuisance late at night.

How wide an area will the Early Morning Restriction Order be able to 
apply to? 

An Early Morning Restriction Order may only be applied to the whole or part 
local authority area – if the licensing authority considers this is appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Main views of consultation respondents 

This proposal received widespread support with many residents and resident 
groups informing us that the night-time economy makes certain parts of the 
town no-go-areas at night and anti-social behaviour associated with late night 
drinking extends into residential communities not just around licensed 
premises. We are committed to ensuring that licensing authorities and 
enforcement agencies are given the right tools to address the problems in 
their area whilst promoting a healthy night-time economy to benefit business 
and the community that they serve. 

Page 110



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill 

Locally set fees under the Licensing Act 2003 

April 2011 

What does the change mean? 

The Government has introduced an amendment to the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Bill that will allow the Secretary of State to introduce 
locally-set licensing fees. The level of each fee category would be set by the 
licensing authority to whom it is payable, based on cost recovery. The 

amendment preserves the power of the Secretary of State to set fees.

What is the policy aim? 

The policy aim is to ensure that fees recover the full costs of local licensing 
authorities in exercising their functions under the Licensing Act. The current 
fees were intended to achieve the same aim, but they have not been 
increased since the Act was introduced in 2005. 

Who will be affected? 

Locally-set fees will affect all those paying fees under the Licensing Act, 
including applicants for premises licences and club premises certificates; 
holders of licences and certificates; and those using Temporary Events 
Notices (TENs). Licensing authorities will also have a new duty to set fees. 

What will the new fees be, and what costs will be included? 

Fees will be set locally by licensing authorities, on a cost recovery basis. The 
licensing authority will set only the level of each fee category as set out in 
regulations, rather than designing their own fee structure. The costs 
recovered will be those of the licensing authority in exercising its functions 
under the Act, not the wider costs of, for example, managing the late night 
economy or policing. We will provide Statutory Guidance to licensing 
authorities on what can and cannot be included in their costs for the purposes 
of calculating fees.

Will there be a maximum fee level? 

To reassure fee-payers that the fees will not be a ‘blank cheque’ for licensing 
authorities, a nationally-set cap for each fee category will be imposed in 
regulations. We will consult on the appropriate level of the cap before we 
introduce the regulations. The Secretary of State will issue guidance to  

Page 111



licensing authorities on setting the fees, and on the principles of good 
regulation (including risk-based and targeted inspection). 

Will small businesses and not-for-profit members’ clubs be hit by 
massive increases? What will happen to the current “fee band” 
structure for applications, annual fees, and full variations, which is 
based on rateable value? 

Our current intention is that locally-set fees will retain the ‘fee bands’ based on 
rateable value, as this is fairer to smaller businesses and small members’ 
clubs than a flat rate for all fee-payers. We will consult before bringing in 
regulations governing the fee band structure. 

Will small businesses / not-for-profit members’ clubs / sports clubs be 
exempt from locally-set fees?  

The principle under which fees are changed will remain one of full cost 
recovery. If some premises types were exempt in a full cost recovery regime, 
this implies that other fee-payers would be charged more for the 
administration of their licence.  This would be an unfair form of taxation.

When will locally-set fees be introduced? 

We intend to consult further on the details of the proposal, including the 
maximum level for each fee. We expect to be in a position to lay the 
regulations bringing in locally-set fees in October 2012.

What were the views of consultation respondents on the proposal? 

The “Rebalancing the Licensing Act” consultation, held between 8 July and 28 
September 2010, requested views on our proposal to “enable local authorities 
to increase licensing fees so that they are based on full cost recovery.”  The 
proposal received broad support, as described in the consultation analysis, 
published on 30 November 2010.

Page 112



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Late night levy 

What is the late night levy? 

The late night levy is a power for licensing authorities to introduce a charge for 
premises that have a late alcohol licence. Whether or not to implement the 
levy will be left entirely at the discretion of the licensing authority that will 
make the decision based on the situation in their local area. In the areas that it 
is introduced the levy will be collected annually and the revenue will be split 
between licensing authorities and the police.

What is the policy’s aim? 

To permit licensing authorities to charge those businesses that benefit from 
trading alcohol in a safe late-night economy for the extra enforcement costs 
that the night-time economy generates for police and local authorities.  

Why is the late night levy needed?  

We cannot avoid the status of alcohol as a controlled substance and the 
impact of alcohol related crime and disorder.  Businesses profit from selling 
alcohol in a late night economy that is safe by virtue of the considerable police 
and licensing authority resources dedicated to mitigating crime and disorder.

The problems caused by the late night economy are particularly costly for the 
taxpayer as the increased need for a police presence on the streets late at 
night requires expensive overtime arrangements to be made. We believe it is 
right that those businesses which profit by selling alcohol in the night time 
economy contribute towards these costs, rather than relying on other 
taxpayers in the community to bear the full costs.  

Who will the late night levy affect?

In areas where the licensing authority decides to apply the levy it will affect all 
premises (both in the on-trade and the off-trade) that are licensed to sell 
alcohol during the hours to which the levy applies. It will be up to the licensing 
authorities to decide the time at which the levy applies in their area, although 
it will be restricted to applying between the hours of midnight and 6am.  

We will consult with interested parties over the summer to define categories of 
premises that may be subject to reductions in their levy charge or indeed be 
exempt from the levy in its entirety.  

For example, it may be appropriate for the licensing authority to be able to 
offer exemptions or discounts to members of best practice schemes such as 
Business Improvement Districts in order to help encourage responsible

Page 113



trading.   Further, there may be types of premises - such as certain hotels with 
a late night licence for mini-bars in rooms - who do not benefit from the 
policing of the late night economy.   

There will be hotels whose guests drink in the hotel bar or at functions, such 
as weddings and parties, who go out later in the evening and benefit from the 
policing of the late night economy.  And there may be bars who are members 
of best practice schemes but who are not fulfilling their duties under these 
schemes.  For these reasons, the categories of exemptions and reductions 
will be optional so that licensing authorities have the discretion to decide what 
is appropriate for their own circumstances.

We will specify in secondary legislation the categories of business to whom 
licensing authorities may be able to grant an exemption and or reduction. 

What will be charged under the late night levy? 

Premises are split into bands based upon their rateable value to determine 
how much they pay under the levy. This system applies to the existing licence 
fee and means that larger businesses will make greater contributions to the 
levy than smaller ones.

The late night levy will be set at a national level. While the final detail will be 
confirmed in secondary legislation we currently anticipate the following charge 
to be issued under the late night levy:

Rateable
value
bands

A

No
rateable
value to 
£4,300

B

£4,301
to

£33,000

C

£33,001
to

£87,000

D

£87,001
to

£125,00
0

E

£125,001
and

above

Dx2
Multiplier
applies to 

premises in 
category D that 

primarily or 
exclusively sell 

alcohol

Ex3
Multiplier
applies to 

premises in 
category E that 

primarily or 
exclusively sell 

alcohol

Annual
levy

charge
£299 £768 £1,259 £1,365 £1,493 £2,730 £4,440 

A multiplier is added to premises in the Bands D and E that primarily or 
exclusively sell alcohol. This will ensure that larger pubs and clubs contribute 
more to the levy than restaurants and theatres which may serve alcohol, but 
are likely to have a smaller impact on late-night crime. Further, businesses 
selling alcohol benefit from doing so in a safe late night economy. 

Why is the late night levy not targeted at individual premises? 

The costs caused by the night time economy are often not directly linked to 
particular businesses but instead occur as a result of the night-time economy

Page 114



as a whole – for example a fight may take place between groups of individuals 
who have each visited a variety of different premises over an evening.

The levy will allow licensing authorities to charge all premises that benefit 
from the existence of the night-time economy through selling alcohol beyond 
midnight to contribute towards covering the costs that it causes the 
community.

Will this not put more community pubs out of business? 

Many community pubs will not have licences to open beyond midnight - as the 
earliest the levy will only apply is from midnight, such premises will not face 
any costs related to the levy.

Furthermore, premises that do not want to pay the levy will be able to change 
their opening hours free of charge to avoid being required to do so. This will 
enable all premises to make an informed decision on whether to remain open 
and pay the levy, balancing the extra charge against the revenue they would 
be likely to raise from remaining open past midnight.

Main views of consultation respondents 

Many residents and resident groups informed us that the night-time economy 
makes certain parts of the town no-go-areas at night and anti-social behaviour 
associated with late night drinking extends into residential communities not 
just around licensed premises. We are committed to ensuring that licensing 
authorities and enforcement agencies are given the right tools to address the 
problems in their area whilst promoting a healthy night-time economy to 
benefit business and the community that they serve. 

Page 115



Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Persistently selling alcohol to children

What is our aim?

The Coalition Agreement included two commitments to reduce persistent 
under-age alcohol sales. These were: 

 We will double the maximum fine for under-age alcohol sales to 
£20,000

 We will allow councils and the police to shut down permanently any 
shop or bar found to be persistently selling alcohol to children 

The intention of the following policy proposals is to deliver the above Coalition 
Commitments and take tough action against those persistently selling alcohol 
to children. 

What classifies as persistently selling alcohol to children? 

Persistently selling alcohol to children is defined as when a licence holder is 
found to be selling alcohol to children two or more times within a three month 
period.

What are the current penalties for those persistently selling alcohol to 
children?

Currently there are three routes of action that can be taken against those 
found to be persistently selling alcohol to children.  

1.   The licence holder can plead not guilty and go to court where if 
prosecuted they can be given a fine of up to £10,000 (for the premises 
licence holder) with up to 3 months suspension of their alcohol licence. 

2.   As an alternative to prosecution the police or trading standards officers 
can give the licence holder the option to voluntarily accept a 48 hour 
closure notice rather than face criminal liability. 

3.   The police can make a representation to the relevant licensing authority to 
ask them to review the licence. This can also happen in addition to options 
1 and 2. 

How often are these penalties used? 

In 2009/10 two licences were suspended by a court for persistently selling 
alcohol to children. A 48 hour closure notice for persistently selling alcohol to

Page 117



children was issued by police or trading standards officers 100 times in 
2009/10. It is not clear how many reviews have been conducted following a 
licence holder being found to have been persistently selling alcohol to 
children. 

To date, the full £10,000 fine has not been issued and licence holders are 
more likely to accept voluntary closure rather than going to court where if 
convicted they would face the fine of up to £10,000 and potentially a closure 
order for up to 3 months. 

What are the key changes that will be made through the Bill? 

 We will double the maximum fine for persistently selling alcohol to 
children from £10,000 to £20,000. 

 We will extend the period of voluntary closure that can be issued by 
the police or trading standards officers as an alternative to 
prosecution to impose a minimum closure period of 48 hours and 
maximum closure period of two weeks. Police will be able to apply 
this flexibly to take into account the nature of the premises.

What are the intentions of these policies? 

The aim of these policies is to deliver the above Coalition Commitments and 
take tough action against those persistently selling alcohol to children. 
Alongside doubling the maximum fine, extending the period of voluntary 
closure will ensure that this is not seen as a softer option. Amending the 
Statutory Guidance to state that all licences will be reviewed where the 
licence holder is found to be persistently selling alcohol to children and 
making the presumption will be that the licence will be revoked at review will 
encourage licensing authorities to make greater use of these powers. 

Are any other policy changes being made in this area? 

 The Statutory Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 will be amended to state that the premises licence should 
be reviewed in all cases where the premises is found to be 
persistently selling alcohol to children and the presumption at 
review is that the licence will be revoked. 

 Alongside these changes we will work with the Sentencing Council 
and the Crown Prosecution Service to encourage greater use of 
powers to prosecute those found guilty of persistent underage 
selling. 

Page 118



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Enable licensing authorities to suspend licences due to  
non-payment of fees 

What is the policy aim? 

We are committed to reducing the burden and bureaucracy of licensing and 
will strike the right balance between the requirements on businesses, the cost 
to the taxpayer and helping the police and other enforcement agencies 
address alcohol related crime and disorder. This policy will ensure that 
licensing authorities do not face additional costs as a result of licence holders 
not paying their annual fees. 

What changes are being proposed through the Bill? 

We will make provision for licensing authorities to suspend licences due to 
non-payment of fees. This will provide a much stronger incentive for 
businesses to pay their fee in a timely manner and save licensing authorities 
the time and cost of pursuing non-payment. This measure will not impact on 
responsible businesses that pay their licence fees on time.  

There will be a grace period of 21 days for licence holders to pay their fee. 
The licence will be reinstated as soon as the fee is paid and the licensing 
authority must notify the licence holder when their licence has been 
reinstated. 

If an administrative error has occurred or there is a dispute about liability to 
pay a fee, a cannot be suspended under this provision. 

What are the benefits to this proposal? 

This is a simple change that could save local authorities many thousands of 
pounds currently spent in recovering unpaid annual fees through councils’ 
own recovery sections and bailiffs. An effective precedent can be found for 
this approach in the Gambling Act 2005.  

Main views of consultation respondents 

This proposal received strong support from the vast majority of consultation 
respondents. This change is hugely welcomed by local authorities who have 
faced significant costs in the past trying to recover unpaid licence fees. 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill - March 2011 

Temporary Event Notices  

What is a Temporary Event Notice? 

A Temporary Event Notice is a notification to the licensing authority that an 
individual intends to carry on licensable activities for a period not exceeding 
96 hours. 

What is the process for obtaining a Temporary Event Notice? 

A Temporary Event Notice must be sent to the licensing authority and the 
police at least ten working days in advance of a planned event. Only the 
police can object to a Temporary Event Notice on crime and disorder grounds. 
The police have two working days after the receipt of the Temporary Event 
Notice to object, and (unless the premises user agrees to modify the 
Temporary Event Notice) the licensing authority must hold a hearing to 
consider any objection that has been received. If the licensing authority 
decides that the objection is valid, it must issue a counter notice to the 
applicant at least 24 hours before the beginning of the event to prevent it 
going ahead. 

Recent changes to Temporary Event Notices 

On 19 July 2010 the Government amended the Licensing Act 2003 by a 
Legislative Reform Order (LRO) to extend the police objection period from 48 
hours to two working days. The new arrangements, which came into force in 
October 2010, ensure that the police always have two full days to object to a 
Temporary Event Notice, even when it is submitted at the weekend or over a 
Bank Holiday. Restrictions on the use of LROs meant that it was not possible 
to use this mechanism to make more wide-ranging changes. 

What are the key changes that will be made through the Bill? 

• We will extend the right to object to a Temporary Event Notice to the 
environmental health authority. 

• We will allow the police and environmental health officers to object to a 
Temporary Event Notice on the basis of all of the licensing objectives. 

• We will give the police and environmental health officers three working 
days to object to a Temporary Event Notice. 

• We will give licensing authorities discretion to apply existing licence 
conditions to a Temporary Event Notice if there are objections from the 
police or environmental health authority. 

Page 121



• We will allow late Temporary Event Notices (i.e. those submitted less 
than ten working days but at least 5 days before the beginning of the 
event), unless the police or environmental health officers object. 

• We will relax the statutory limits on the duration of a single temporary 
event from 96 hours to 168 hours, and on the total annual availability 
covered by a Temporary Event Notice in relation to a single premises 
from 15 days to 21 days. 

What is the justification for making these changes? 

We are making these changes in response to concerns expressed by our key 
partners including residents’ associations, the police, licensing authorities, 
arts and voluntary organisations and circuses.

Why has the maximum length of a temporary event been increased? 
Why was 96 hours insufficient? 

Touring theatres, circuses and voluntary groups told us that they were losing 
business and income by having to break for 24 hours half way through a week 
long event.  The new limit of 168 hours will allow these organisations to run 
events for a week without a break. 

Who will benefit from these proposals? 

• Residents - who will be given more protection from noise, crime and 
disorder and unsafe conditions at temporary events. 

• The environmental health authority which will be able to object to 
temporary events. 

• The police and environmental health authority - which will have longer 
to consider a Temporary Event Notice and place any objections. 

• Touring theatres, circuses and voluntary organisations which will gain 
extra business and income by being able to run events for a week 
without a break, 

• Anyone (but particularly voluntary organisations and circuses) - who 
will still be able to put on temporary events (subject to annual limits) if 
they miss the 10 day deadline.   

What are the main views of consultation respondents? 

There was a mixed response to these proposals with residents, the police and 
licensing authorities asking for greater restrictions on temporary events and 
the arts and third sector organisations requesting a relaxation of some of the 
current limits and controls.  Our proposals aim to strike a balance between 
these views by imposing stricter controls when a temporary event is notified  

Page 122



(e.g. to allow environmental health authorities to object and give them and the 
police more time to do so), but relaxing some of the limits and allowing a 
limited number of late Temporary Event Notices. 

Page 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD

LICENSING ACT 2003 

LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT 

Proposal for public consultation

Section 14 - Cumulative Impact Policy 

Introduction 

14.1 The Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides that the 
cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives 
is a proper matter for a licensing authority to consider in developing its licensing 
policy statement. Cumulative impact means the potential impact on the promotion of 
the licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in 
one area. 

14.2 The steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt a special policy relating to 
cumulative impact within the council’s statement of licensing policy are as follows: 

14.2.1 Identify concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance. 
14.2.2 Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance is 

happening and is caused by the customers of licensed premises or, that the risk of 
cumulative impact is imminent. 

14.2.3 Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring. 
14.2.4 Consult those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act, and subject to the outcome 

of the consultation. 
14.2.5 Include and publish details of the cumulative impact within the licensing policy 

statement. 

14.3 The effect of adopting a cumulative impact is to create a rebuttable presumption 
that applications for new premises licences or club premises certificates or 
variations that are likely to add to the existing cumulative impact will normally be 
refused, following relevant representations, unless the applicant can demonstrate in 
their operating schedule that there will be no negative cumulative impact on one or 
more of the licensing objectives. 

Identifying Concern about Crime and Disorder or Public Nuisance 

14.4 In 2009 the Council’s Community Safety Service, in partnership with the 
Metropolitan Police, identified two areas where there was a positive correlation 
between the concentrations of licensed premises and the levels of anti social 
behaviour and crimes of violence against the person. After due consideration, it was 
not considered appropriate at that time to adopt those areas as being subject to 
cumulative impact within the council’s licensing policy. 

14.5 Further work by the Community Safety partnership and the police has now led to 
the conclusion that the cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises in 
four areas of Enfield is undermining the promotion of the licensing objectives in 
those areas. 

Page 125



14.6 Police statistics are known to underestimate the numbers of alcohol related crime 
because of the high level of under reporting. Government estimates suggest that 
almost a half of all violent crime is alcohol related. But nationally the burden of 
alcohol related crime goes much wider than that, because alcohol related crime and 
drunken offenders place a huge burden on the police and other public services : 

14.6.1 from approximately 10.30pm to 3.00am the majority of arrests are for alcohol- 
related offences 

14.6.2 there is the potential for routine incidents of public nuisance to escalate to more 
serious, especially violent, offences 

14.6.3 dealing with intoxicated offenders can be difficult and time consuming. For example, 
they may have to be kept in cells long enough to sober up; while they are there the 
police have a duty of care and have to ensure the offender does not come to harm 
by choking on their own vomit. The offender may have to be checked every 15 
minutes.  Medical attention may be necessary. Female offenders need female 
police officers to attend certain procedures who may have to be taken off other 
duties. 

14.6.4 intoxicated prisoners can be disruptive, uncooperative and may present severe 
hygiene problems, urinating or defecating in their clothing during or after arrest. 
Police Research Series. Paper 150, Home Office 2002. 

14.7 The Council has also taken note of the results of the 2010/11 Enfield resident’s 
Ipsos MORI survey and in particular that, whilst 70% of residents were either very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied with their local area as a place to live, they also had 
significant concerns about crime and disorder. Of those surveyed, 64% said they 
thought the level of crime was one of the most important things in making 
somewhere a good place to live and almost 40% said the level of crime was one of 
the things that needed improving. Almost a third of those surveyed considered that 
people being drunk or rowdy in a public place was a problem. 

14.8 All local authorities must fulfil their responsibilities under section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 when carrying out their functions as licensing authorities 
under the Licensing Act 2003. Section 17 places a duty on local authorities and the 
police to do all they reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in their area. 

14.9 The introduction to the Guidance, issued by the Secretary of State under section 
182 of the Licensing Act 2003, states that the four licensing objectives are 
paramount considerations at all times. They are:  

14.9.1 The prevention of crime and disorder 
14.9.2 Public safety 
14.9.3 The prevention of public nuisance 
14.9.4 The protection of children from harm.  

14.10 But the Guidance also identifies a number of other key aims and purposes which it 
says should be the principal aims for everyone involved in licensing work. They 
include: ‘The necessary protection of local residents whose lives can be blighted by 
disturbance and anti social behaviour associated with the behaviour of some people 
visiting licensed premises of entertainment.’ Paragraph 1.4 

14.11 When deciding to consult on the adoption of a cumulative impact policy the Council 
has carefully considered the evidence presented to it by the police as regards crime 
and disorder, but also by the council’s Environmental Health noise team officers as 
regards public nuisance. 

Page 126



Evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are happening and are caused by the 
customers of licensed premises, or that the risk of cumulative impact is imminent

14.12 Recent analysis of police statistics by the Enfield Community Safety Unit has shown 
an increase of 23% in what they describe as ‘alcohol and night time economy 
offences in the last 12 months. Most such offences are occurring on Friday nights 
into Saturday mornings and Saturday nights into Sunday mornings. Those are the 
times when pubs, clubs and bars are most highly populated. 

  
14.13 Typically, most such offences are recorded between 12 midnight and 3am. That 

information has been confirmed by comparing London Ambulance data which 
identifies people taken to hospital who have been the victims of assault, or who are 
treated for problems that are alcohol related. 

14.14 The areas that show the highest levels of such incidents, or the most significant 
increases are: Fore Street Upper Edmonton; Hertford Road, where although there 
has been a decrease in the overall levels of night time alcohol related incidents 
comparative levels remain high; and Enfield Town. That analysis is available as a 
background document because it includes some confidential information. It can be 
made available on request in edited form. 

14.15 Attached to this chapter of the policy, as Appendix 1, is a table showing police data 
records for crime and anti social behaviour calls in Edmonton-Ponders End, 
Hertford Road, Enfield Town and Southgate. It displays the numbers of crimes in 
three categories: All Crime; Violent Crime only; and Anti Social Behaviour Calls. 
The first column of numbers displays the total crimes in those categories between 
11am and 3pm, the second column those between 11pm and 3am and then in 
subsequent columns the total numbers on each day of the week. 

14.16 The comparison between four of the busiest hours of the day, when footfall may be 
expected to be at its highest in a town centre, and four night time hours, which may 
be expected to see far fewer people on the streets because shops and offices are 
closed is informative because places of entertainment are the main attraction at 
those times. 

14.17 As may be expected, the ‘all crimes’ category during the day for Edmonton – 
Ponders End, Enfield Town and Hertford Road show higher levels of crime than the 
night time period, particularly because the ‘all crimes’ totals include acquisitive 
crime. However, the ‘violent crimes’ only category which is so often associated with 
alcohol shows high levels during both periods in Edmonton – Ponders End, but a 
higher number of recorded incidents of violence during the night time period in each 
of Enfield Town, Hertford Road and Southgate, as compared to the day time. 

14.18 For ‘anti social behaviour’ calls, there are a higher number of calls to the police 
during the night time period up to 3am in Edmonton – Ponders End, in Enfield Town 
and in Southgate, with a similar number during each period in Hertford Road. Police 
experience shows that after 10pm anti social behaviour calls are most often alcohol 
related. 

14.19 The analysis of noise data in these four areas (see appendix 2 attached to this 
chapter of the policy) shows a clear peak for noise complaints in Hertford Road at 

Page 127



around midnight. In Southgate the second highest peak time for noise complaints is 
at midnight. 

14.20 Public nuisance caused by noise is a cause of great concern to local residents who 
may be trying to sleep themselves or who have young children who are woken at 
night by intoxicated revellers. 

Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring

14.21 Following analysis of the police data and of council records relating to public 
nuisance, four areas have been identified which the evidence indicates are subject 
to high levels of public nuisance and certain categories of crime and disorder which 
are connected to the concentrations of licensed premises in those areas. Those 
four areas are designated as: Enfield Highway, comprising Hertford Road between 
Ordnance Road and Tyberry Road see appendix 3;  Edmonton, comprising Hertford 
Road and Fore Street, between Nags Head Road and the Borough boundary in the 
South, see appendix 4;  Southgate, comprising Chase Side, Crown Lane, and parts 
of Burleigh Gardens, High Street, The Bourne, Winchmore Hill and Chase Road, 
see appendix 5; and Enfield Town comprising the area enclosed by Church Street 
and Cecil Road, and parts of Chase Side, Windmill Hill, Silver Street, Coleman 
Parade, Genotin Road and London Road, see appendix 6. 

Consultation on Cumulative Impact Policies 

14.22 In light of the concerns and evidence about alcohol related crime and disorder and  
public nuisance, set out above in this policy statement, the council has decided to 
consult those specified in section 5(3) Licensing Act 2003 about the adoption of a 
cumulative impact policy. They are: 

14.22.1 the chief officer of police for the area; 
14.22.2 the fire authority for the area;  
14.22.3 persons/bodies representative of local holders of premises licences;  
14.22.4 persons/bodies representative of local holders of club premises certificates;  
14.22.5 persons/bodies representative of local holders of personal licences; and  
14.22.6 persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area. 

14.23 The policies which those bodies are invited to comment on are as follows: 

Special Policy on Cumulative Impact  

14.24 Applications for hours within the limits set out below (referred to as Core Hours) for 
premises inside the cumulative impact areas will generally be granted, subject to 
consideration of any representations about the way in which the application will 
promote the licensing objectives. 

14.25 Any applications for later hours within the cumulative impact areas will be subject to 
the presumption against grant, implicit in a cumulative impact area policy.  

14.26 Core Hours :

Sale/supply of alcohol (on supplies only) : 
Monday to Sunday   Indoors and/or outdoors 10:00 to 23:00 

Page 128



Sale/supply of alcohol (on supplies only) : 
Subject to a condition that “alcohol shall not be supplied other than as ancillary to a 
substantial table meal” : 
Monday to Sunday   Indoors and/or outdoors 10:00 to 23:00 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors only   10:00 to 00:00 (midnight)  

Sale/supply of alcohol (on and off supplies) : 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors and/or outdoors 10:00 to 23:00 

Sale/supply of alcohol (off supplies only) : 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors and/or outdoors  08:00 to 23:00 

Live music, Recorded music, Performance of dance, Facilities for making music 
and/or Facilities for dancing : 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors and/or outdoors  09:00 to 23:00 

  
Plays, Films, Indoor sporting events and/or Boxing or wrestling entertainments : 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors and/or outdoors 09:00 to 23:00 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors only    09:00 to 00:00 (midnight) 

Late night refreshment : 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors and/or outdoors none 
Monday to Sunday  Indoors only    23:00 to 00:00 (midnight) 

New Years Eve : any premises or club premises that is licensed for both the on 
sale/supply of alcohol and for music or music and dancing may remain open and 
provide their licensed activities from the end of licensed hours on New Years Eve to 
the start of licensed hours on New Years Day. 

Conclusion 

14.27 In developing these policies the council has given careful consideration to the whole 
of the Secretary of State’s Guidance. In particular, it has considered that, in some 
circumstances, flexible licensing hours can ensure that concentrations of customers 
leaving premises simultaneously are avoided, which can help to reduce the friction 
at late night fast food outlets, taxi ranks and bus stops which sometimes lead to 
friction and to crime and disorder. 

14.28 It also takes note of the need to ensure a thriving and safe evening and night time 
economy which are important to investment and employment locally, but have to be 
balanced against the requirement to promote the licensing objectives. Some 
premises, for example restaurants where there is no ‘take away’ facility and alcohol 
is only provided as ancillary to substantial food provided to people seated at table, 
generally have a lower incidence of crime than premises selling alcohol where 
substantial food is not available and there is little seating. 

14.29 The policy of the council takes account of the particular circumstances that apply in 
each of the designated cumulative impact areas in Enfield and the evidence that 
problems of crime and disorder and public nuisance are generally associated with 
longer and later hours. It is  the view of the police nationally that longer and later 
hours for premises licensed to sell alcohol lead to problems later in the night and 

Page 129



that those problems are most apparent outside the licensed premises and around 
fast food outlets and taxi ranks. 

14.30 It is not the intention of the Council to impose a particular terminal hour in any area 
of Enfield, as urged against in the Government’s Guidance. Where an application is 
made for later hours than the core hours, and representations are made, then such 
applications will always be carefully considered against the above policies and any 
relevant representations. The consideration of hours of operation will include the 
context of each application within each of the licensing objectives. For example, the 
hours at which noise may occur and the extent to which that may affect local 
resident’s sleep and relaxation, will be a consideration because late night premises 
may have an impact on the local environment and can cause public nuisance. 

14.31 Neither is it the intention of the Council to impose quotas, based on either the 
number of premises or the capacity of those premises. Quotas could indirectly have 
the affect of predetermining the outcome of an application. The licensing authority 
will consider each application with regard to the Council’s policies and each 
application will be determined with a view to promoting the licensing objectives. 

14.32 Shops, stores and supermarkets may apply for a premises licence to sell alcohol for 
consumption off the premises at times when it is open as a retail outlet for 
shopping, and such applications will be considered on their individual merits. 
Careful consideration will always be given to any representations by the police 
where such premises are known to be a focus of disorder and disturbance. 

6 October 2011 

Page 130



APPENDIX 1 - TIME COMPARISON FOR CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREAS 

Total Notifiable Crime between January and December 2010 

Area 11am – 3pm 11pm – 3am Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun 
Edmonton 599 367 361 356 382 390 397 384 270
Enfield Highway 146 130 90 85 95 115 111 129 80
Enfield Town 485 165 170 207 190 205 228 249 130
Southgate 86 131 74 80 74 78 86 96 67

Violent Crime between January and December 2010 
Area 11am – 3pm 11pm – 3am Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun 

Edmonton 130 98 80 94 88 77 109 112 93
Enfield Highway 17 35 15 17 14 20 22 37 20
Enfield Town 39 64 27 24 25 17 33 61 33
Southgate 14 21 12 10 6 11 13 16 16

Anti-Social Behaviour Calls between January and December 2010 
Area 11am – 3pm 11pm – 3am Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun 

Edmonton 446 463 472 447 416 421 478 592 481
Enfield Highway 144 130 146 134 146 159 204 182 136
Enfield Town 157 271 128 130 156 114 192 225 153
Southgate 57 67 57 61 74 70 51 94 62

P
a
g
e
 1

3
1



APPENDIX 2 – NOISE DATA 

The following information is based on noise complaints received by Enfield Council within 
the 12 month period of 6th March 2010 to 6th March 2011. The information will be divided 
into 4 different ‘Stress Areas’ of the borough.  

EDMONTON CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

There were a total of 65 noise complaints in the Edmonton Stress Area in this period of 
time. 28 were complaints against commercial premises, 34 were against domestic 
premises and 3 were against public areas.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 16:00 17:00 18:00 19:00 20:00 21:00 22:00 23:00 00:00 01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00 06:00 07:00 08:00 09:00 10:00 11:00

The above line graph shows the time of ALL noise reports received against every type of 
premises. The graph shows a surge in noise reports within the hour of 20:00 gradually 
decreasing until the hour of 01:00, where there is a slight increase. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Domestic Premises Commercial Premises Public Area

Page 132



ENFIELD HIGHWAY CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Domestic Commercial Public Area

There were a total of 32 noise complaints in the Enfield Highway Stress Area in this period 
of time. 8 were complaints against commercial premises, 24 were against domestic 
premises and none were against public areas.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 16:00 17:00 18:00 19:00 20:00 21:00 22:00 23:00 00:00 01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00 06:00 07:00 08:00 09:00 10:00 11:00

The above line graph shows the time of ALL noise reports received against every type of 
premises. As you can see there is a clear peak within the hour of 23:00. 

Page 133



ENFIELD TOWN CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Domestic Commercial Public Area

There were a total of 28 noise complaints in the Enfield Town Stress Area in this period of 
time. 10 were complaints against commercial premises, 16 were against domestic 
premises and 2 were against public areas 

0

1

2

3

4

12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 16:00 17:00 18:00 19:00 20:00 21:00 22:00 23:00 00:00 01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00 06:00 07:00 08:00 09:00 10:00 11:00

The above line graph shows the time of ALL noise reports received against every type of 
premises in the Enfield Town Stress Area. There is not a particular time where noise is at 
a peak. It peaks and troughs throughout the 24 hours. The hours of 13:00 and 17:00 have 
the highest amount of noise complaints. 

Page 134



SOUTHGATE CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

0

5

10

15

20

25

Domestic Commercial Public Area

There were a total of 33 noise complaints in the Southgate Stress Area in this period of 
time. 20 were complaints against commercial premises, 13 were against domestic 
premises and none were against public areas 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 16:00 17:00 18:00 19:00 20:00 21:00 22:00 23:00 00:00 01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00 06:00 07:00 08:00 09:00 10:00 11:00

The above line graph shows the time of ALL noise reports received against every type of 
premises in the Southgate Stress Area. The hours when the most noise complaints were 
within the hour of 14:00 and within the hour of 00:00. 

Page 135



APPENDIX 3 – EDMONTON CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA 

Page 136



APPENDIX 4 – ENFIELD HIGHWAY CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

Page 137



APPENDIX 5 – ENFIELD TOWN CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA 

APPENDIX 6 – SOUTHGATE CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA 

Page 138



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD 
 
POLICING AND CRIME ACT 2009 
 
SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES 
 
Proposal for public consultation 
 
Key :  
LGMPA1982 = Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
LA2003 = Licensing Act 2003 
PCA2009 = Policing and Crime Act 2009 
 
1. Current Position 
 
1.1 The LGMPA1982 defines a sex establishment as either a sex shop, a sex cinema 

or a sex encounter establishment. 
 
1.2 On 4 October 1982 the Council’s Public Services and Protection Committee 

resolved to adopt LGMPA1982. 
 
1.3 On 11 June 1991 the Council’s Environment Committee considered that the 

appropriate number of sex establishments in all relevant localities within the 
borough is nil. 

 
1.4 On 1 November 1995 this ‘nil’ policy was reconfirmed by the Council’s Community 

Services Sub-Committee. 
 
1.5 Within Enfield there are no premises licensed as sex establishments under the 

LGMPA1982. 
 
1.6 However, any premises that has a premises licence under the LA2003 and wishes 

to provide ‘live displays or performances involving nudity’ does not additionally 
require a sex establishment licence under the LGMPA1982.  

 
1.7 But, within Enfield there are no premises licensed under the LA2003 that are known 

to provide ‘live displays or performances involving nudity’ and : 
 
1.7.1 all new and varied licences granted under LA2003 are subject to a condition that 

provides that “there shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters 
ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of 
children”; 

 
1.7.2 any ‘converted’ licences under the LA2003 could be made subject to that condition 

on a review application; &  
 
1.7.3 any breach of that condition is a criminal offence attracting, on conviction, a 

maximum fine of £20,000 and up to 6 months imprisonment. 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



2. New Powers 
 
2.1 In September 2008 the Government gave local people greater say over the number 

and location of lap dancing clubs in their area. 
 
2.2 Section 27 of the PCA2009 reclassifies premises that provide ‘live displays or 

performances involving nudity’ as sexual entertainment venues and gives local 
authorities the power to regulate such venues as sex establishments. 

 
2.3 These new measures took effect on 6 April 2010 in England. 
 
2.4 Where adopted, any premises that wanted to provide ‘live displays or performances 

involving nudity’ would be required to apply to the Council for a sexual 
entertainment venue licence under the LGMPA1982 in addition to any premises 
licence under the LA2003. 

 
2.5 Where adopted, local residents will be able to object to a sexual entertainment 

licence application on wider grounds than those under the LA2003. The Council will 
be able to refuse a licence under the LGMPA1982 on those wider grounds. 

 
2.6 These powers are not mandatory and will only apply if Section 27 of the PCA2009 

is adopted by the Council. 
 
3. Option 1 – Adopt? 
 
3.1 The Home Office advises that, while there is no statutory duty to do so, prior to 

deciding whether to pass a resolution, the Council may, as a matter of good 
practice, wish to seek the views of local people and businesses.  

 
3.2 Enfield has already adopted Schedule 3 to the LGMPA1982 for the licensing of sex 

shops and sex cinemas. However, a further resolution is necessary by full Council 
before the provisions introduced by Section 27 of the PCA2009, will have effect 
here. 

 
3.3 However, simply by adopting Section 27 of the PCA2009, every premises within the 

borough will be granted the automatic right to provide ‘live displays or performances 
involving nudity’ on up to 11 separate occasions a year without a licence under the 
LGMPA1982. Premises would only require an authorisation under the LA2003. 

 
4. Option 2 – Don’t Adopt? 
 
4.1 Should the Council choose not to adopt Section 27 of the PCA2009 all ‘live displays 

or performances involving nudity’ would continue to only require a licence under the 
LA2003. 

 
4.2 If the Council does not made a resolution to adopt Section 27 of the PCA2009 we 

are required, as soon as is reasonably practicable, to consult local people about 
whether we should make such a resolution.  

 
 
 
 

Page 140



5. Discussion 
 
5.1 The adoption of Section 27 of the PCA2009 grants additional powers to the Council 

in respect of the control of premises providing ‘live displays or performances 
involving nudity’. 

 
5.2 Such premises could not provide sexual entertainment without a licence under the 

LGMPA1982 in addition to any licence held under the LA2003. 
 
5.3 Local residents could object to any application for a licence under the LGMPA1982 

and any such application could be refused by the Licensing Sub-Committee on any 
of the following grounds : 

 
5.3.1 the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having been convicted of 

an offence or for any other reason; 
 
5.3.2 if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the business to which it 

relates would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than 
the applicant, who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence 
if he made the application himself; 

 
5.3.3 the number of sex establishments, or of sex establishments of a particular kind, in 

the relevant locality at the time the application is determined is equal to or exceeds 
the number which the authority consider is appropriate for that locality; or 

 
5.3.4 that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard : 
 
5.3.4.1 to the character of the relevant locality; or  
 
5.3.4.2 to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or  
 
5.3.4.3 to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in 

respect of which the application is made. 
 
5.4 However, by the adopting Section 27 of the PCA2009 every premises within the 

borough would automatically be granted a statutory right to provide ‘live displays or 
performances involving nudity’ on 11 occasions each year without requiring a 
licence under the LGMPA1982. 

 
5.5 There is no statutory requirement for premises to notify the Council of these 11 

permitted events. Without this statutory requirement we would be reliant on 
operators volunteering to inform us of any such events they held. This would make 
fair enforcement of these events impracticable. 

 
5.6 Should the Council choose not to adopt Section 27 of the PCA2009 the control of 

premises providing ‘live displays or performances involving nudity’ would continue 
to be solely under the provisions of the LA2003. 

 
 
 
 

Page 141



5.7 Local residents may only object to any application for a licence under the 2003 and 
any such application may only be refused by the Licensing Sub-Committee on the 
grounds that refusal is necessary for the promotion of : 

 
5.7.1 the prevention of crime & disorder; 
 
5.7.2 public safety; 
 
5.7.3 the prevention of public nuisance; or 
 
5.7.4 the protection of children from harm. 
 
5.8 Within Enfield there are no premises that are known to provide ‘live displays or 

performances involving nudity’.  
 
6. Recommendation  
 
6.1 The Council is recommended to maintain the status quo by not adopting Section 27 

of the PCA2009. 
 
6.2 By not adopting this legislation at this time the Council : 
 
6.2.1 will continue to control provide ‘live displays or performances involving nudity’ under 

the LA2003; 
 
6.2.2 will prevent every premises within the borough being granted a statutory right on 11 

sexual entertainment events each year; & 
 
6.2.3 is not fettering its ability to adopt Section 27 of the PCA2009 in the future, should 

this prove desirable. 
 
6 October 2011  
 

Page 142



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD 
 
LICENSING ACT 2003 
 
LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT 
 
Proposal for public consultation 
 
Section 18 – Olympics & Paralymics 
 
18.1 The council is fully committed to a safe and successful Olympic and 

Paralympic Games in London during 2012. The council recognises that the 
resources of the police, transport and emergency services will be planned 
out and prioritised for the security of major events before, during and after 
the Games, as a minimum from 15th July 2012 until 16th September 2012. 
Due consideration will be given by the council to representations from the 
Police in relation to licence applications for activity during  Games time on 
the grounds of public safety and security when police and other emergency 
services resources are insufficient to deal with the risks presented. Where, 
as a result of representations from a responsible authority, it is identified 
that a licence or proposed event presents a risk that the licensing 
objectives will be compromised, it is likely that such applications will not be 
granted. 

 
6 October 2011 
 

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
	3 Developments within the Licensing Regime
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4.1
	Annex 4.2
	Annex 4.3
	Annex 4.4
	Annex 4.5
	Annex 4.6
	Annex 4.7
	Annex 4.8
	Annex 4.9
	Annex 4.10
	Annex 4.11
	Annex 4.12
	Annex 4.13
	Annex 4.14
	Annex 5
	Annex 6
	Annex 7


